UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

	FORM 10-Q		
\boxtimes	QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF 1934	THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF	
	For the quarterly period ended March 3	31, 2015	
	OR		
	TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF 1934	THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF	
	For the transition period from to) <u></u>	
	Commission file number 1-14260		
	The GEO Group,	Inc	
	(Exact name of registrant as specified in it		
	Florida (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization)	65-0043078 (IRS Employer Identification No.)	
	One Park Place, 621 NW 53rd Street, Suite 700, Boca Raton, Florida (Address of principal executive offices)	33487 (Zip Code)	
	(561) 893-0101 (Registrant's telephone number, including area	code)	
	(Former name, former address and former fiscal year if chan	ged since last report)	
durii	cate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Sec ng the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file irements for the past 90 days. Yes \boxtimes No \square		
be su	cate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corpubnitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during strant was required to submit and post such files). Yes 🗵 No 🗆		
	cate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a n nitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer" and "smaller reporting company" in R		ž
Larg	e accelerated filer 🛛	Accelerated filer	
Non-	-accelerated filer \Box (Do not check if a smaller reporting company)	Smaller reporting company	
Indio	cate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of th	e Exchange Act). Yes □ No ⊠	
As o	f May 4, 2015, the registrant had 74,655,873 shares of common stock outstanding.		
_			=

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION	3
ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	3
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED) FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2015 AND 2014	3
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) (UNAUDITED) FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2015 AND 2014	4
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS AS OF MARCH 31, 2015 (UNAUDITED) AND DECEMBER 31, 2014	5
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED) FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2015 AND 2014	6
NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS	7
ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS	31
ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK	47
ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES	47
PART II - OTHER INFORMATION	48
ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS	48
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS	48
ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS	48
ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES	48
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES	48
ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION	48
ITEM 6. EXHIBITS	48
SIGNATURES	50

PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

THE GEO GROUP, INC. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (Unaudited) FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2015 AND 2014 (In thousands, except per share data)

		onths Ende	
	rch 31, 2015		rch 31, 2014
Revenues	\$ 427,369	\$	393,137
Operating expenses	317,909		291,923
Depreciation and amortization	24,940		24,142
General and administrative expenses	 31,848		28,502
Operating income	52,672		48,570
Interest income	2,073		732
Interest expense	(24,646)		(20,652)
Income before income taxes and equity in earnings of affiliates	30,099		28,650
Provision for income taxes	2,828		2,138
Equity in earnings of affiliates, net of income tax provision of			
\$613 and \$549, respectively	1,485		1,484
Net income	28,756		27,996
Net loss (income) attributable to noncontrolling interests	21		(6)
Net income attributable to The GEO Group, Inc.	\$ 28,777	\$	27,990
Weighted-average common shares outstanding:			
Basic	 73,549		71,449
Diluted	73,884		71,895
Income per common share attributable to The GEO Group, Inc.:			
Basic:			
Income per common share attributable to The GEO Group, Inc basic	\$ 0.39	\$	0.39
Diluted:			
Income per common share attributable to The GEO Group, Inc diluted	\$ 0.39	\$	0.39
Dividends declared per share	\$ 0.62	\$	0.57

THE GEO GROUP, INC. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) (Unaudited) FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2015 AND 2014 (In thousands)

		Three M	onths E	nded	
	Mar	ch 31, 2015		March	ı 31, 2014
Net income	\$	28,756		\$	27,996
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:					
Foreign currency translation adjustments		(1,681)			1,000
Pension liability adjustment, net of tax (provision) benefit of \$21 and (\$12), respectively		40			19
Unrealized gain (loss) on derivative instrument classified as cash flow hedge, net of tax (provision) benefit					
of \$718 and (\$12), respectively		(4,080)			27
Total other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax		(5,721)			1,046
Total comprehensive income		23,035			29,042
Comprehensive loss (income) attributable to noncontrolling interests		37			(2)
Comprehensive income attributable to The GEO Group, Inc.	\$	23,072		\$	29,040

THE GEO GROUP, INC. CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS MARCH 31, 2015 AND DECEMBER 31, 2014 (In thousands, except share data)

	March 31, 2015 (Unaudited)	December 31, 2014
ASSETS	,,	
Current Assets		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 68,981	\$ 41,337
Restricted cash and investments	8,489	4,341
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts of \$3,676 and \$3,315, respectively	261,280	269,038
Current deferred income tax assets	25,884	25,884
Prepaid expenses and other current assets	44,420	36,806
Total current assets	409,054	377,406
Restricted Cash and Investments	23,217	19,578
Property and Equipment, Net	1,907,063	1,772,166
Contract Receivable	87,042	66,229
Direct Finance Lease Receivable	7,077	9,256
Non-Current Deferred Income Tax Assets	5,873	5,873
Goodwill	601,205	493,890
Intangible Assets, Net	224,171	155,275
Other Non-Current Assets	103,219	102,535
Total Assets	\$3,367,921	\$3,002,208
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY		
Current Liabilities		
Accounts payable	\$ 60,535	\$ 58,155
Accrued payroll and related taxes	55,851	38,556
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities	135,821	140,612
Current portion of capital lease obligations, long-term debt and non-recourse debt	16,648	16,752
Total current liabilities	268,855	254,075
Non-Current Deferred Income Tax Liabilities	10,068	10,068
Other Non-Current Liabilities	99,666	87,429
Capital Lease Obligations	9,574	9,856
Long-Term Debt	1,795,267	1,462,819
Non-Recourse Debt	158,060	131,968
Commitments, Contingencies and Other (Note 11)		
Shareholders' Equity		
Preferred stock, \$0.01 par value, 30,000,000 shares authorized, none issued or outstanding	_	_
Common stock, \$0.01 par value, 125,000,000 shares authorized, 74,614,681 and 74,190,688 issued and outstanding,		
respectively	746	742
Additional paid-in capital	869,432	866,056
Earnings in excess of distributions	189,142	206,342
Accumulated other comprehensive loss	(33,166)	(27,461)
Total shareholders' equity attributable to The GEO Group, Inc.	1,026,154	1,045,679
Noncontrolling interests	277	314
Total shareholders' equity	1,026,431	1,045,993
Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity	\$3,367,921	\$3,002,208

THE GEO GROUP, INC. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Unaudited) FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2015 AND 2014 (In thousands)

	Three Mon	
Cash Flow from Operating Activities:	March 31, 2015	March 31, 2014
Net income	\$ 28,756	\$ 27,996
Net loss (income) attributable to noncontrolling interests	21	(6)
Net income attributable to The GEO Group, Inc.	28,777	27,990
Adjustments to reconcile net income attributable to The GEO Group, Inc. to net cash provided by	==,,	27,330
operating activities:		
Depreciation and amortization expense	24,940	24,142
Stock-based compensation	2,621	2,466
Amortization of debt issuance costs, discount and/or premium and other non-cash interest	1,695	1,224
Provision for doubtful accounts	323	535
Equity in earnings of affiliates, net of tax	(1,485)	(1,484)
Income tax benefit related to equity compensation	(569)	(558)
(Gain) loss on sale/disposal of property and equipment	(545)	235
Changes in assets and liabilities:		
Changes in accounts receivable, prepaid expenses and other assets	12,972	(7,227)
Changes in contract receivable	(24,768)	_
Changes in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities	16,784	15,829
Net cash provided by operating activities	60,745	63,152
Cash Flow from Investing Activities:		
Acquisition of LCS, net of cash acquired	(307,403)	_
Acquisition of Protocol, cash consideration	_	(13,000)
Insurance proceeds - damaged property	700	`
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment	20	165
Change in restricted cash and investments	(8,108)	(3,273)
Capital expenditures	(34,198)	(17,531)
Net cash used in investing activities	(348,989)	(33,639)
Cash Flow from Financing Activities:		
Proceeds from long-term debt	371,000	103,000
Payments on long-term debt	(38,750)	(108,990)
Payments on non-recourse debt	(1,645)	(1,403)
Proceeds from non-recourse debt	33,019	_
Taxes paid related to net share settlements of equity awards	(1,123)	_
Proceeds from issuance of common stock in connection with ESPP	98	84
Debt issuance costs	(1,245)	_
Income tax benefit related to equity compensation	569	558
Proceeds from the exercise of stock options	1,215	3,275
Cash dividends paid	(45,977)	(41,139)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities	317,161	(44,615)
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash and Cash Equivalents	(1,273)	1,040
Net increase (decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents	27,644	(14,062)
Cash and Cash Equivalents, beginning of period	41,337	52,125
Cash and Cash Equivalents, end of period	\$ 68,981	\$ 38,063
Supplemental Disclosures:	- 00,001	50,005
Non-cash Investing and Financing activities:		
Capital expenditures in accounts payable and accrued expenses	¢ 1246	¢ 1772
Capital experiunures in accounts payable and accided expenses	<u>\$ 1,346</u>	\$ 1,772

THE GEO GROUP, INC.

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION

The GEO Group, Inc., a Florida corporation, and subsidiaries (the "Company" or "GEO") is a fully-integrated real estate investment trust ("REIT") specializing in the ownership, leasing and management of correctional, detention and reentry facilities and the provision of community-based services and youth services in the United States, Australia, South Africa and the United Kingdom. The Company owns, leases and operates a broad range of correctional and detention facilities including maximum, medium and minimum security prisons, immigration detention centers, minimum security detention centers, as well as community based reentry facilities. The Company develops new facilities based on contract awards, using its project development expertise and experience to design, construct and finance what it believes are state-of-the-art facilities that maximize security and efficiency. The Company provides innovative compliance technologies, industry-leading monitoring services, and evidence-based supervision and treatment programs for community-based parolees, probationers and pretrial defendants. The Company also provides secure transportation services for offender and detainee populations as contracted domestically and in the United Kingdom through its joint venture GEO Amey PECS Ltd. ("GEOAmey"). The Company's worldwide operations include the management and/or ownership of approximately 86,000 beds at 106 correctional and detention facilities, including idle facilities, projects under development and recently awarded contracts, and also include the provision of monitoring of more than 70,000 offenders in a community-based environment on behalf of approximately 900 federal, state and local correctional agencies located in all 50 states.

The Company's unaudited consolidated financial statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States and the instructions to Form 10-Q and consequently do not include all disclosures required by Form 10-K. The accounting policies followed for quarterly financial reporting are the same as those disclosed in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on February 26, 2015 for the year ended December 31, 2014. The accompanying December 31, 2014 consolidated balance sheet has been derived from those audited financial statements. Additional information may be obtained by referring to the Company's Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014. In the opinion of management, all adjustments (consisting only of normal recurring items) necessary for a fair presentation of the financial information for the interim periods reported in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q have been made. Results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2015 are not necessarily indicative of the results for the entire year ending December 31, 2015, or for any other future interim or annual periods.

2. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

On February 17, 2015, the Company acquired eight correctional and detention facilities (the "LCS Facilities") totaling more than 6,500 beds from LCS Corrections Services, Inc., a privately-held owner and operator of correctional and detention facilities in the United States, and its affiliates (collectively, "LCS"). Pursuant to the terms of the definitive asset purchase agreement signed on January 26, 2015, the Company acquired the LCS Facilities for approximately \$307.4 million at closing in an all cash transaction, excluding transaction related expenses of approximately \$2.1 million that were recorded as general and administrative expense during the three months ended March 31, 2015. The Company also acquired certain tangible and intangible assets and assumed certain accounts payable and accrued expenses pursuant to the asset purchase agreement. Additionally, LCS has the opportunity to receive an additional payment if the LCS Facilities exceed certain performance targets over an 18-month period ending August 31, 2016 (the "Earnout Payment"). The aggregate amount of the purchase price paid at closing and the Earnout Payment, if achieved, will not exceed \$350 million. This contingent payment had zero fair value ascribed at the date of acquisition since management believes that it is remote that such payment will be made. Approximately \$298 million of outstanding debt related to the facilities was repaid at closing using the cash consideration paid by the Company. The Company did not assume any debt as the result of the transaction. The Company financed the acquisition of the LCS Facilities with borrowings under its revolving credit facility.

The Company entered into three year consulting agreements, beginning as of the acquisition date, with three of the principal parties of LCS each for \$0.3 million annually, payable ratably on a monthly basis. Payment under each such agreement is guaranteed for the full term unless the agreement is terminated by the Company for cause, as defined, or unless the LCS principal party terminates the agreement sooner.

The allocation of the purchase price for this transaction at February 17, 2015 has not been finalized. The primary areas of the preliminary purchase price allocations that are not yet finalized primarily relate to certain tangible assets and liabilities included

in working capital. The Company expects to continue to obtain information to assist it in determining the fair value of the net assets acquired at the acquisition date during the measurement period. Measurement period adjustments that the Company determines to be material will be applied retrospectively to the period of acquisition.

The purchase price of \$307.4 million has been preliminarily allocated to the estimated fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of February 17, 2015 as follows (in '000's):

A	¢ 0.205
Accounts receivable	\$ 9,395
Prepaid expenses and other current assets	183
Property and equipment	119,726
Intangible assets	73,200
Total assets acquired	202,504
Accounts payable and accrued expenses	2,442
Total identifiable net assets	200,062
Goodwill	107,341
Total consideration paid	\$307,403

As shown above, the Company recorded \$107.3 million of goodwill which is fully deductible for tax purposes. The Company believes its acquisition of the LCS Facilities provides synergies and strategic benefits which further position the Company to meet the demand for correctional and detention bed space in the United States. These factors contributed to the goodwill that was recorded upon consummation of the transaction. The goodwill and net assets acquired are included in the U.S. Corrections & Detention business segment. Revenues and earnings of LCS from the date of acquisition through March 31, 2015 were not significant.

Identifiable intangible assets purchased consist of facility management contracts and have an estimated useful life of 20 years.

3. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The Company has recorded goodwill as a result of its business combinations. Goodwill is recorded as the difference, if any, between the aggregate consideration paid for an acquisition and the fair value of the tangible assets and intangible assets acquired net of liabilities assumed, including noncontrolling interests. Changes in goodwill from December 31, 2014 to March 31, 2015 are related to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates and additions due to an acquisition completed in the first quarter of 2015 as discussed above in Note 2 - Business Combinations.

The Company has also recorded other finite and indefinite-lived intangible assets as a result of its various business combinations. An acquisition completed in the first quarter of 2015 as discussed above in Note 2 - Business Combinations also led to additions to intangible assets. The Company's intangible assets include facility management contracts, trade names and technology, as follows (in thousands):

		March	31, 2015		December 31, 2014				
		Gross			Gross				
	Weighted Average	Carrying	Accumulated	Net Carrying	Carrying	Accumulated	Net Carrying		
	Useful Life (years)	Amount	Amortization	Amount	Amount	Amortization	Amount		
Facility management contracts	15.5	\$227,750	\$ (59,802)	\$ 167,948	\$154,591	\$ (56,396)	\$ 98,195		
Technology	7.0	24,000	(12,977)	11,023	24,000	(12,120)	11,880		
Trade name (Indefinite lived)	Indefinite	45,200	_	45,200	45,200	_	45,200		
Total acquired intangible assets		\$296,950	\$ (72,779)	\$ 224,171	\$223,791	\$ (68,516)	\$ 155,275		

Amortization expense was \$4.3 million and \$3.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2015 and March 31, 2014, respectively. Amortization expense was primarily related to the U.S. Corrections & Detention and GEO Care segments' amortization of acquired facility management contracts. As of March 31, 2015, the weighted average period before the next contract renewal or extension for the acquired facility management contracts was approximately 1.8 years. Although the facility management contracts acquired have renewal and extension terms in the near term, the Company has historically maintained these relationships beyond the current contractual periods. The acquired contracts in the acquisition of the LCS Facilities do not have contract expiration dates and are perpetual in nature.

Estimated amortization expense related to the Company's finite-lived intangible assets for the remainder of 2015 through 2019 and thereafter is as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Year		Amortization Expense
Remainder of 2015	\$	14,183
2016		18,882
2017		18,850
2018		15,991
2019		15,663
Thereafter		95,402
	\$	178,971

4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The following tables provide a summary of the Company's significant financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value and measured on a recurring basis as of March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014 (in thousands):

		Fair Value Measurements at March 31, 2015							
	ing Value at ch 31, 2015	Activo	d Prices in Markets evel 1)	Ol	ficant Other oservable Inputs Level 2)	Unob	nificant servable (Level 3)		
Assets:							<u> </u>		
Restricted investment:									
Rabbi Trust	\$ 12,617	\$	_	\$	12,617	\$	_		
Fixed income securities	1,870		_		1,870		_		
Interest rate cap derivatives	349		_	\$	349		_		
Liabilities:									
Interest rate swap derivatives	\$ 24,050	\$	_	\$	24,050	\$	_		

		Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2014					
	Carrying Value at December 31, 2014	Quoted Prices in Active Markets (Level 1)	Significant Other Observable Inputs (Level 2)	Significant Unobservable Inputs (Level 3)			
Assets:							
Restricted investments:							
Rabbi Trust	\$ 11,281	\$ —	\$ 11,281	\$ —			
Fixed income securities	1,966	_	1,966	_			
Interest rate cap derivatives	570		570				
Liabilities:							
Interest rate swap derivative liabilities	\$ 19,248	\$ —	\$ 19,248	\$ —			

The Company's Level 2 financial instruments included in the tables above as of March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014 consist of interest rate swap derivative liabilities and interest rate cap derivative assets held by the Company's Australian subsidiary, the Company's rabbi trust established for GEO employee and employer contributions to The GEO Group, Inc. Non-qualified Deferred Compensation Plan and an investment in Canadian dollar denominated fixed income securities.

The Australian subsidiary's interest rate swap derivative liabilities and interest rate cap derivative assets are valued using a discounted cash flow model based on projected Australian borrowing rates. The Company's restricted investment in the rabbi trust is invested in Company owned life insurance policies which are recorded at their cash surrender values. These investments are valued based on the underlying investments held in the policies' separate account. The underlying assets are equity and fixed income pooled funds that are comprised of Level 1 and Level 2 securities. The Canadian dollar denominated securities, not actively traded, are valued using quoted rates for these and similar securities.

5. FAIR VALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The Company's consolidated balance sheets reflect certain financial assets and liabilities at carrying value. The carrying value of certain debt instruments, if applicable, is net of unamortized discount. The following tables present the carrying values of those financial instruments and the estimated corresponding fair values at March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014 (in thousands):

	Carrying Value			Estimated Fair	· Value	Measure	ments at March 31	, 2015
		of March 31, 2015	Tota	al Fair Value	Lo	evel 1	Level 2	Level 3
Assets:								
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	68,981	\$	68,981	\$6	8,981	\$ —	\$ —
Restricted cash		19,089		19,089		4,247	14,842	_
Liabilities:								
Borrowings under senior credit facility	\$	697,750	\$	698,855	\$	_	\$ 698,855	\$ —
5.875% Senior Notes		250,000		260,000		_	260,000	_
5.125% Senior Notes		300,000		315,375			315,375	
5 7/8% Senior Notes.		250,000		255,000		_	255,000	_
6.625% Senior Notes		300,000		318,000		_	318,000	_
Non-recourse debt, Australian subsidiary		156,442		159,484		_	159,484	_
Other non-recourse debt, including current portion		14,025		14,111		_	14,111	_

	Car	rying Value		Estimated Fair	Value Measurem	ents at December 31	, 2014
		December 31, 2014	Tota	al Fair Value	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3
Assets:							
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	41,337	\$	41,337	\$ 41,337	\$ —	\$ —
Restricted cash		12,638		12,638	3,889	8,749	_
Liabilities:							
Borrowings under senior credit facility	\$	365,500	\$	364,411	\$ —	\$ 364,411	\$ —
5.875% Senior Notes		250,000		256,720	_	256,720	_
5.125% Senior Notes		300,000		296,814	_	296,814	_
5 7/8% Senior Notes		250,000		256,720	_	256,720	_
6.625% Senior Notes		300,000		315,750	_	315,750	_
Non-recourse debt, Australian subsidiary		95,714		95,871	_	95,871	_
Other non-recourse debt, including current portion		48.836		52.016	_	52.016	_

The fair values of the Company's cash and cash equivalents, and restricted cash approximates the carrying values of these assets at March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014. Restricted cash consists of money market funds, commercial paper and time deposits used for payments on the Company's non-recourse debt and asset replacement funds contractually required to be maintained at the Company's Australian subsidiary. The fair value of the money market funds is based on quoted market prices (Level 1) and the fair value of commercial paper and time deposits is based on market prices for similar instruments (Level 2).

The fair values of the Company's 5 7/8% senior unsecured notes due 2022 (" 5 7/8% Senior Notes"), 5.875% senior unsecured notes due 2024 ("5.875% Senior Notes"), 6.625% senior unsecured notes due 2021 ("6.625% Senior Notes"), and the 5.125% senior unsecured notes due 2023 ("5.125% Senior Notes"), although not actively traded, are based on published financial data for these instruments. The fair values of the Company's non-recourse debt related to the Washington Economic Development Finance Authority ("WEDFA") is based on market prices for similar instruments. The fair value of the non-recourse debt related to the Company's Australian subsidiary is estimated using a discounted cash flow model based on current Australian borrowing rates for similar instruments. The fair value of borrowings under the senior credit facility is based on an estimate of trading value considering the Company's borrowing rate, the undrawn spread and similar instruments.

6. SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

The following table presents the changes in shareholders' equity that are attributable to the Company's shareholders and to noncontrolling interests (in thousands):

	Common Shares	n shares Amount	Additional Paid-In Capital	Earnings in Excess of Distributions	Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss	Noncontrolling Interests	Total Shareholders' Equity
Balance, December 31, 2014	74,191	\$ 742	\$866,056	\$ 206,342	\$ (27,461)	\$ 314	\$ 1,045,993
Proceeds from exercise of stock options	54	_	1,215	_	_	_	1,215
Tax benefit related to equity compensation	_	_	569	_	_	_	569
Stock-based compensation expense	_	_	432	_	_	_	432
Amortization of restricted stock	_	_	2,189	_	_	_	2,189
Restricted stock granted	396	4	(4)	_	_	_	_
Restricted stock canceled	(3)	_	_	_	_	_	_
Dividends paid		_	_	(45,977)	_	_	(45,977)
Shares withheld for net settlements of share-based							
awards	(25)	_	(1,123)	_	_	_	(1,123)
Issuance of common stock - ESPP	2	_	98	_	_	_	98
Net income (loss)	_	_	_	28,777	_	(21)	28,756
Other comprehensive loss	_	_	_	_	(5,705)	(16)	(5,721)
Balance, March 31, 2015	74,615	\$ 746	\$869,432	\$ 189,142	\$ (33,166)	\$ 277	\$ 1,026,431

During the three months ended March 31, 2015, the Company withheld shares through net share settlements to satisfy minimum statutory tax withholding requirements upon vesting of shares of restricted stock held by employees.

REIT Distributions

As a REIT, GEO is required to distribute annually at least 90% of its REIT taxable income (determined without regard to the dividends paid deduction and by excluding net capital gain) and began paying regular quarterly REIT dividends in 2013. The amount, timing and frequency of future dividends, however, will be at the sole discretion of GEO's Board of Directors (the "Board") and will be declared based upon various factors, many of which are beyond GEO's control, including, GEO's financial condition and operating cash flows, the amount required to maintain REIT status and reduce any income taxes that GEO otherwise would be required to pay, limitations on distributions in GEO's existing and future debt instruments, limitations on GEO's ability to fund distributions using cash generated through GEO's taxable REIT subsidiaries ("TRSs") and other factors that GEO's Board may deem relevant.

During the three months ended March 31, 2015 and the year ended December 31, 2014, respectively, GEO declared and paid the following regular cash distributions to its shareholders as follows:

Declaration Date	Record Date	Pavment Due	Distribution Per Share	Aggregate Payment Amount (in millions)
	Record Date	Payment Due	Distribution Per Share	(III IIIIIIIIIIII)
February 18, 2014	March 3, 2014	March 14, 2014	\$0.57	\$41.1
April 28, 2014	May 15, 2014	May 27, 2014	\$0.57	\$41.5
August 5, 2014	August 18, 2014	August 29, 2014	\$0.57	\$41.4
November 5, 2014	November 17, 2014	November 26, 2014	\$0.62	\$46.0
February 6, 2015	February 17, 2015	February 27, 2015	\$0.62	\$46.0

Prospectus Supplement

On May 8, 2013, the Company filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission a prospectus supplement related to the offer and sale from time to time of the Company's common stock at an aggregate offering price of up to \$100.0 million through sales agents. Sales of shares of the Company's common stock under the prospectus supplement and equity distribution agreements entered into with the sales agents, if any, may be made in negotiated transactions or transactions that are deemed to be "at the market" offerings as defined in Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933. On July 18, 2014, the Company filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission a post-effective amendment to its shelf registration statement on Form S-3 (pursuant to which the prospectus supplement had been filed) as a result of the merger of the Company into GEO REIT effective June 27, 2014. During the year ended December 31, 2014, there were approximately 1.5 million shares of common stock sold under the prospectus supplement for net proceeds of \$54.7 million. There were no shares of the Company's common stock sold under the prospectus supplement during the three months ended March 31, 2015.

In September 2014, the Company filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission a new shelf registration statement on Form S-3. On November 10, 2014, in connection with the new shelf registration, the Company filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission a new prospectus supplement related to the offer and sale from time to time of the Company's common stock at an aggregate offering price of up to \$150.0 million through sales agents. Sales of shares of the Company's common stock under the prospectus supplement and the equity distribution agreements entered into with the sales agents, if any, may be made in negotiated transactions or transactions that are deemed to be "at the market" offerings as defined in Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933. There were no shares of the Company's stock issued under this prospectus supplement during the three months ended March 31, 2015.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) represents the change in shareholders' equity from transactions and other events and circumstances arising from non-shareholder sources. The Company's total comprehensive income is comprised of net income attributable to GEO, net income attributable to noncontrolling interests, foreign currency translation adjustments that arise from consolidating foreign operations that do not impact cash flows, net unrealized gains and/or losses on derivative instruments, and pension liability adjustments within shareholders' equity and comprehensive income (loss).

The components of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) attributable to GEO within shareholders' equity are as follows:

	Three Months Ended March 31, 2015 (In thousands)						
	Foreign currency translation adjustments, net of tax attributable to The GEO Group, Inc. (1)		gain o	ealized (loss)/ on derivatives, net of tax	adj	Pension justments, et of tax	Total
Balance, December 31, 2014	\$	(6,903)	\$	(16,322)	\$	(4,236)	\$(27,461)
Current-period other comprehensive (loss) income		(1,665)		(4,080)		40	(5,705)
Balance, March 31, 2015	\$	(8,568)	\$	(20,402)	\$	(4,196)	\$(33,166)

(1) The foreign currency translation related to noncontrolling interests was not significant at March 31, 2015 or December 31, 2014.

7. EQUITY INCENTIVE PLANS

The Board has adopted The GEO Group, Inc. 2014 Stock Incentive Plan (the "2014 Plan"), which was approved by the Company's shareholders on May 2, 2014. The 2014 Plan replaced the 2006 Stock Incentive Plan (the "2006 Plan"). As of the date the 2014 Plan was adopted, it provides for a reserve of 3,083,353 shares, which consisted of 2,000,000 new shares of common stock available for issuance and 1,083,353 shares of common stock that were available for issuance under the 2006 Plan prior to the 2014 Plan replacing it. The Company filed a Form S-8 registration statement related to the 2014 Plan on June 4, 2014, which was amended on July 18, 2014.

Stock Options

The Company uses a Black-Scholes option valuation model to estimate the fair value of each option awarded. For options granted during the three months ended March 31, 2015, the fair value was estimated using the following assumptions: (i)

volatility of 24%; (ii) expected term of 5.00 years; (iii) risk free interest rate of 1%; and (iv) expected dividend yield of 5.75%. A summary of the activity of stock option awards issued and outstanding under Company plans is as follows for the three months ended March 31, 2015:

	Shares (in thousands)	Wtd. Avg. Exercise Price	Wtd. Avg. Remaining Contractual Term (years)	I	ggregate ntrinsic Value thousands)
Options outstanding at December 31, 2014	664	\$ 23.89	6.77	\$	10,935
Options granted	256	43.15			
Options exercised	(53)	23.98			
Options forfeited/canceled/expired	(5)	40.32			
Options outstanding at March 31, 2015	862	\$ 29.53	7.51	\$	8,732
Options vested and expected to vest at March 31, 2015	806	\$ 28.92	7.37	\$	8,576
Options exercisable at March 31, 2015	490	\$ 23.84	6.20	\$	7,297

During the three months ended March 31, 2015, the Company granted approximately 256,000 options to certain employees which had a weighted-average grant-date fair value of \$4.26 per share. For the three months ended March 31, 2015 and March 31, 2014, the amount of stock-based compensation expense related to stock options was \$0.4 million and \$0.5 million, respectively. As of March 31, 2015, the Company had \$1.3 million of unrecognized compensation costs related to non-vested stock option awards that are expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.7 years.

Restricted Stock

Compensation expense for nonvested stock awards is recorded over the vesting period based on the fair value at the date of grant. Generally, the restricted stock awards vest in equal increments over either a three or four-year period. The fair value of restricted stock awards, which do not contain a market-based vesting condition, is determined using the closing price of the Company's common stock on the date of grant. The Company has issued share-based awards with service-based, performance- based and market-based vesting criteria.

A summary of the activity of restricted stock outstanding is as follows for the three months ended March 31, 2015:

	Shares (in thousands)	Gr	td. Avg. ant Date ir Value
Restricted stock outstanding at December 31, 2014	724	\$	30.97
Granted	396		45.88
Vested	(97)		26.41
Forfeited/canceled	(3)		42.64
Restricted stock outstanding at March 31, 2015	1,020	\$	37.05

During the three months ended March 31, 2015, the Company granted approximately 396,000 shares of restricted stock to certain employees and executive officers. Of these awards, 123,500 are market and performance-based awards which will be forfeited if the Company does not achieve certain annual metrics during 2015, 2016 and 2017.

The vesting of these performance-based restricted stock grants are subject to the achievement by GEO of two annual performance metrics as follows: (i) up to 75% of the shares of restricted stock ("TSR Target Award") can vest at the end of a three-year performance period if GEO meets certain total shareholder return ("TSR") performance targets, as compared to the total shareholder return of a peer group of companies, during 2015, 2016 and 2017 and (ii) up to 25% of the shares of restricted stock ("ROCE Target Award") can vest at the end of a three-year period if GEO meets certain return on capital employed ("ROCE") performance targets in 2015, 2016 and 2017. These market and performance awards can vest at between 0% and 200% of the target awards for both metrics. The number of shares shown for the performance-based awards is based on the target awards for both metrics.

The metric related to ROCE is considered to be a performance condition. For share-based awards that contain a performance condition, the achievement of the targets must be probable before any share-based compensation expense is recorded. The Company reviews the likelihood of which target in the range will be achieved and if deemed probable, compensation expense is recorded at that time. If subsequent to initial measurement there is a change in the estimate of the probability of meeting the performance condition, the effect of the change in the estimated quantity of awards expected to vest is recognized by cumulatively adjusting compensation expense. If ultimately the performance targets are not met, for any awards where vesting was previously deemed probable, previously recognized compensation expense will be reversed in the period in which vesting is no longer deemed probable. The fair value of these awards was determined based on the closing price of the Company's common stock on the date of grant.

The metric related to TSR is considered to be a market condition. For share-based awards that contain a market condition, the probability of satisfying the market condition must be considered in the estimate of grant-date fair value and previously recorded compensation expense is not reversed if the market condition is never met. The fair value of these awards was determined based on a Monte Carlo simulation, which calculates a range of possible outcomes and the probabilities that they will occur, using the following key assumptions: (i) volatility of 21.4%; (ii) beta of 0.74; and (iii) risk free rate of 1.00%.

For the three months ended March 31, 2015 and March 31, 2014, the Company recognized \$2.2 million and \$2.0 million, respectively, of compensation expense related to its restricted stock awards. As of March 31, 2015, the Company had \$30.7 million of unrecognized compensation costs related to non-vested restricted stock awards, including non-vested restricted stock awards with performance-based and market-based vesting, that are expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.6 years.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company previously adopted The GEO Group Inc. 2011 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the "Plan") which was approved by the Company's shareholders. The purpose of the Plan, which is qualified under Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Service Code of 1986, as amended, is to encourage stock ownership through payroll deductions by the employees of GEO and designated subsidiaries of GEO in order to increase their identification with the Company's goals and secure a proprietary interest in the Company's success. These deductions are used to purchase shares of the Company's common stock at a 5% discount from the then current market price. The Company has made available up to 500,000 shares of its common stock, which were registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission on May 4, 2012, as amended on July 18, 2014, for sale to eligible employees under the Plan.

The Plan is considered to be non-compensatory. As such, there is no compensation expense required to be recognized. Share purchases under the Plan are made on the last day of each month. During the three months ended March 31, 2015, 2,338 shares of the Company's common stock were issued in connection with the Plan.

8. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic income per common share is computed by dividing the income from continuing operations attributable to The GEO Group, Inc. shareholders by the weighted average number of outstanding shares of common stock. The calculation of diluted income per common share is similar to that of basic income per common share except that the denominator includes dilutive common stock equivalents such as stock options and shares of restricted stock. Basic and diluted income from continuing operations per common share was calculated for the three months ended March 31, 2015 and March 31, 2014 as follows (in thousands, except per share data):

Three Months Ended		
March 31, 2015	March 31, 2014	
\$ 28,756	\$ 27,996	
21	(6)	
28,777	27,990	
73,549	71,449	
\$ 0.39	\$ 0.39	
73,549	71,449	
335	446	
73,884	71,895	
\$ 0.39	\$ 0.39	
	March 31, 2015 \$ 28,756 21 28,777 73,549 \$ 0.39 73,549 335 73,884	

Three Months

For the three months ended March 31, 2015, 83,790 weighted average shares of common stock underlying options were excluded from the computation of diluted EPS because the effect would be anti-dilutive. There were no common stock equivalents from restricted shares that were anti-dilutive.

For the three months ended March 31, 2014, 17,070 weighted average shares of common stock underlying options were excluded from the computation of diluted EPS because the effect would be anti-dilutive. There were no common stock equivalents from restricted shares that were anti-dilutive.

9. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Company's primary objective in holding derivatives is to reduce the volatility of earnings and cash flows associated with changes in interest rates. The Company measures its derivative financial instruments at fair value.

Australia - Fullham

The Company's Australian subsidiary is a party to an interest rate swap agreement to fix the interest rate on its variable rate non-recourse debt (related to its Fullham facility) to 9.7%. The Company has determined the swap, which has a notional amount of AUD 50.9 million, payment and expiration dates, and call provisions that coincide with the terms of the non-recourse debt, to be an effective cash flow hedge. Accordingly, the Company records the change in the fair value of the interest rate swap in accumulated other comprehensive income, net of applicable income taxes. Total unrealized gains recorded in other comprehensive income, net of tax, related to this cash flow hedge were not significant for the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014. The total fair value of the swap liability as of March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014 was \$0.3 million and \$0.2 million, respectively, and is recorded as a component of other non-current liabities within the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. There was no material ineffectiveness of this interest rate swap for the periods presented. The Company does not expect to enter into any transactions during the next twelve months which would result in the reclassification into earnings or losses associated with this swap currently reported in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).

Australia - Ravenhall

In September 2014, the Company's Australian subsidiary entered into interest rate swap agreements to fix the interest rate on its variable rate non-recourse debt related to a prison project in Ravenhall, a locality near Melbourne, Australia to 3.3% during the

design and construction phase and 4.2% during the project's operating phase. The swaps' notional amounts coincide with construction draw fixed commitments throughout the project. At March 31, 2015, the swaps had a notional value of approximately AUD 140.0 million, or \$107.7 million, based on exchange rates at March 31, 2015, related to the outstanding draws for the design and construction phase and approximately AUD 466.3 million, or \$358.6 million, based on exchange rates at March 31, 2015 related to future construction draws. The Company has determined that the swaps have payment, expiration dates, and provisions that coincide with the terms of the non-recourse debt and are therefore considered to be effective cash flow hedges. Accordingly, the Company records the change in the fair value of the interest rate swaps in accumulated other comprehensive income, net of applicable income taxes. Total unrealized losses recorded in other comprehensive income, net of tax, related to this cash flow hedge were approximately \$4.1 million during the three months ended March 31, 2015. The total fair value of the swap liability as of March 31, 2015 was \$23.8 million and is recorded as a component of Other Non-Current liabilities within the accompanying consolidated balance sheet. There was no material ineffectiveness for the periods presented. The Company does not expect to enter into any transactions during the next twelve months which would result in the reclassification into earnings or losses associated with these swaps currently reported in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).

Additionally, upon completion and commercial acceptance of the prison project, the Department of Justice in the State of Victoria (the "State") in accordance with the prison contract, will make a lump sum payment of AUD 310 million, or \$238.4 million, based on exchange rates at March 31, 2015, towards a portion of the outstanding principal of the non-recourse debt. The Company's Australian subsidiary also entered into interest rate cap agreements in September 2014 giving the Company the option to cap the interest rate on its variable non-recourse debt related to the project in the event that the completion of the prison project is delayed which could delay the State's payment. The Company paid \$1.7 million for the interest rate cap agreements. These instruments do not meet the requirements for hedge accounting, and therefore, changes in fair value of the interest rate caps are recorded in earnings. During the three months ended March 31, 2015, the Company recorded a loss of \$0.2 million related to a decline in the fair value of the interest rate cap assets. As of March 31, 2015, the interest rate cap assets had a fair value of \$0.3 million which is included in Other Non-Current Assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet.

Other Derivative Instruments

The Company has entered into foreign exchange forwards to mitigate the change in fair value of certain assets and liabilities related to intercompany loans with its foreign subsidiaries. These forwards are not designated as hedging instruments under the accounting standards for derivatives and hedging. Accordingly, these undesignated instruments are recorded at fair value as a derivative asset or liability with their corresponding change in fair value recognized in earnings. The fair value of these derivatives were not significant at March 31, 2015.

10. DEBT

Debt outstanding as of March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014 consisted of the following (in thousands):

	Ma	rch 31, 2015	December 31, 2014	
Senior Credit Facility:			· ·	_
Term loan	\$	294,750	\$	295,500
Revolver		403,000		70,000
Total Senior Credit Facility	\$	697,750	\$	365,500
5.875% Senior Notes				
Notes Due in 2024		250,000		250,000
5.125% Senior Notes:				
Notes due in 2023		300,000		300,000
5 7/8% Senior Notes				
Notes Due in 2022		250,000		250,000
6.625% Senior Notes:				
Notes due in 2021		300,000		300,000
Non-Recourse Debt :				
Non-Recourse Debt		171,138		145,262
Unamortized discount on non-recourse debt		(671)		(712)
Total Non-Recourse Debt		170,467		144,550
Capital Lease Obligations		10,665		10,924
Other debt		667		421
Total debt		1,979,549		1,621,395
Current portion of capital lease obligations, long-term debt and non-recourse debt		(16,648)		(16,752)
Capital Lease Obligations, long-term portion		(9,574)		(9,856)
Non-Recourse Debt, long-term portion		(158,060)		(131,968)
Long-Term Debt	\$	1,795,267	\$	1,462,819

Credit Agreement

On August 27, 2014, the Company executed a second amended and restated credit agreement by and among the Company and GEO Corrections Holdings, Inc., as Borrowers, BNP Paribas, as Administrative Agent, and the lenders who are, or may from time to time become, a party thereto (the "Credit Agreement").

The Credit Agreement evidences a credit facility (the "Credit Facility") consisting of a \$296.3 million term loan (the "Term Loan") bearing interest at LIBOR plus 2.50% (with a LIBOR floor of .75%), and a \$700.0 million revolving credit facility (the "Revolver") initially bearing interest at LIBOR plus 2.25% (with no LIBOR floor) together with AUD 225.0 million available solely for the issuance of financial letters of credit and performance letters of credit, in each case denominated in Australian Dollars (the "Australian LC Facility"). At March 31, 2015, the Company had approximately AUD 214.0 million in letters of credit outstanding under the Australian LC Facility in connection with certain performance and financing guarantees related to the Ravenhall prison project in Australia. Amounts to be borrowed by the Company under the Credit Agreement are subject to the satisfaction of customary conditions to borrowing. The Revolver component is scheduled to mature on August 27, 2019 and the Term Loan component is scheduled to mature on April 3, 2020.

The Credit Agreement contains certain customary representations and warranties, and certain customary covenants that restrict the Company's ability to, among other things (i) create, incur or assume any indebtedness, (ii) create, incur, assume or permit liens, (iii) make loans and investments, (iv) engage in mergers, acquisitions and asset sales, (v) make certain restricted payments, (vi) issue, sell or otherwise dispose of capital stock, (vii) engage in transactions with affiliates, (viii) allow the total leverage ratio to exceed 5.75 to 1.00, allow the senior secured leverage ratio to exceed 3.50 to 1.00 or allow the interest coverage ratio to be less than 3.00 to 1.00, (ix) cancel, forgive, make any voluntary or optional payment or prepayment on, or redeem or acquire for

value any senior notes, except as permitted, (x) alter the business the Company conducts, and (xi) materially impair the Company's lenders' security interests in the collateral for its loans. The restricted payments covenant remains consistent with the Company's election to be treated as a real estate investment trust under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, effective as of January 1, 2013.

Events of default under the Credit Agreement include, but are not limited to, (i) the Company's failure to pay principal or interest when due, (ii) the Company's material breach of any representation or warranty, (iii) covenant defaults, (iv) liquidation, reorganization or other relief relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, (v) cross default under certain other material indebtedness,

(vi) unsatisfied final judgments over a specified threshold, (vii) certain material environmental liability claims which have been asserted against the Company, and (viii) a change in control. The Company was in compliance with all of the covenants of the Credit Agreement as of March 31, 2015.

All of the obligations under the Credit Agreement are unconditionally guaranteed by certain domestic subsidiaries of the Company and the Credit Agreement and the related guarantees are secured by a perfected first-priority pledge of substantially all of the Company's present and future tangible and intangible domestic assets and all present and future tangible and intangible domestic assets of each guarantor, including but not limited to a first-priority pledge of all of the outstanding capital stock owned by the Company and each guarantor in their domestic subsidiaries.

As of March 31, 2015, the Company had \$294.8 million in aggregate borrowings outstanding under the Term Loan, \$403.0 million in borrowings under the Revolver, and approximately \$59.0 million in letters of credit which left \$238.0 million in additional borrowing capacity under the Revolver. The weighted average interest rate on outstanding borrowings under the Credit Agreement as of March 31, 2015 was 2.8%.

5.875% Senior Notes

Interest on the 5.875% Senior Notes accrues at the stated rate. The Company pays interest semi-annually in arrears on April 15 and October 15 of each year. On or after October 15, 2019, the Company may, at its option, redeem all or part of the 5.875% Senior Notes at the redemption prices set forth in the indenture governing the 5.875% Senior Notes. The indenture contains certain covenants, including limitations and restrictions on the Company and its subsidiary guarantors (Refer to Note 15- Condensed Consolidating Financial Information). The Company was in compliance with all of the covenants of the indenture governing the 5.875% Senior Notes as of March 31, 2015.

5.125% Senior Notes

Interest on the 5.125% Senior Notes accrues at the stated rate. The Company pays interest semi-annually in arrears on April 1 and October 1 of each year. On or after April 1, 2018, the Company may, at its option, redeem all or part of the 5.125% Senior Notes at the redemption prices set forth in the indenture governing the 5.125% Senior Notes. The indenture contains certain covenants, including limitations and restrictions on the Company and its subsidiary guarantors (Refer to Note 15-Condensed Consolidating Financial Information). The Company was in compliance with all of the covenants of the indenture governing the 5.125% Senior Notes as of March 31, 2015.

5 7/8% Senior Notes

Interest on the $5\frac{7}{8}$ % Senior Notes accrues at the stated rate. The Company pays interest semi-annually in arrears on January 15 and July 15 of each year. On or after January 15, 2017, the Company may, at its option, redeem all or part of the $5\frac{7}{8}$ % Senior Notes at the redemption prices set forth in the indenture governing the $5\frac{7}{8}$ % Senior Notes. The indenture contains certain covenants, including limitations and restrictions on the Company and its subsidiary guarantors (Refer to Note 15-Condensed Consolidating Financial Information). The Company was in compliance with all of the covenants of the indenture governing the $5\frac{7}{8}$ % Senior Notes as of March 31, 2015.

6.625% Senior Notes

Interest on the 6.625% Senior Notes accrues at the stated rate. The Company pays interest semi-annually in arrears on February 15 and August 15 of each year. On or after February 15, 2016, the Company may, at its option, redeem all or part of the 6.625% Senior Notes at the redemption prices set forth in the indenture governing the 6.625% Senior Notes. The indenture contains certain covenants, including limitations and restrictions on the Company and its subsidiary guarantors (Refer to Note 15-Condensed Consolidating Financial Information). The Company was in compliance with all of the covenants of the indenture governing the 6.625% Senior Notes as of March 31, 2015.

Non-Recourse Debt

Northwest Detention Center

The remaining balance of the original debt service requirement under the \$54.4 million note payable ("2011 Revenue Bonds") to the Washington Economic Finance Authority ("WEDFA") will mature in October 2021 with fixed coupon rates of 5.25%, is

\$49.4 million, of which \$6.3 million is classified as current in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2015. The payment of principal and interest on the 2011 Revenue Bonds issued by WEDFA is non-recourse to GEO.

As of March 31, 2015, included in current restricted cash and investments and non-current restricted cash and investments is \$11.0 million of funds held in trust for debt service and other reserves with respect to the above mentioned note payable to WEDFA.

Australia - Fullham

The non-recourse obligation to the Company totaled \$14.0 million (AUD 18.2 million) and \$16.4 million (AUD 20.1 million), based on the exchange rates in effect at March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively. The term of the non-recourse debt is through 2017 and it bears interest at a variable rate quoted by certain Australian banks plus 140 basis points. Any obligations or liabilities of the subsidiary are matched by a similar or corresponding commitment from the government of the State of Victoria. As a condition of the loan, the Company is required to maintain a restricted cash balance of AUD 5.0 million, which, based on exchange rates as of March 31, 2015, was \$3.8 million. This amount is included in non-current restricted cash and investments and the annual maturities of the future debt obligation are included in Non-Recourse Debt in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Australia - Ravenhall

In connection with a new design and build prison project agreement with the State, the Company entered into a syndicated facility agreement (the "Construction Facility") with National Australia Bank Limited to provide debt financing for construction of the project. The Construction Facility provides for non-recourse funding up to AUD 791.0 million, or \$608.4 million, based on exchange rates as of March 31, 2015. Construction draws will be funded throughout the project according to a fixed utilization schedule as defined in the syndicated facility agreement. The term of the Construction Facility is through October 2019 and bears interest at a variable rate quoted by certain Australian banks plus 200 basis points. After October 2019, the Construction Facility will be converted to a term loan with payments due quarterly beginning in 2018 through 2041. In accordance with the terms of the Construction Facility, upon completion and commercial acceptance of the prison, in accordance with prison contract, the State will make a lump sum payment of AUD 310 million, or \$238.4 million, based on exchange rates as of March 31, 2015, towards a portion of the outstanding principal. The remaining outstanding principal balance will be repaid over the term of the operating agreement. As of March 31, 2015, \$107.7 million was outstanding under the Construction Facility. The Company also entered into interest rate swap and interest rate cap agreements related to its non-recourse debt in connection with the project. Refer to Note 9 - Derivative Financial Instruments.

Guarantees

Australia

The Company has entered into certain guarantees in connection with the financing and construction performance of a facility in Australia. The obligations amounted to approximately AUD 214.0 million, or \$164.6 million, based on exchange rates as of March 31, 2015. These guarantees are secured by outstanding letters of credit under the Company's Revolver as of March 31, 2015.

At March 31, 2015, the Company also had nine other letters of credit outstanding under separate international facilities relating to performance guarantees of its Australian subsidiary totaling \$11.7 million.

South Africa

In connection with the creation of South African Custodial Services Pty. Limited ("SACS"), the Company entered into certain guarantees related to the financing, construction and operation of the prison. As of March 31, 2015, the Company guaranteed obligations amounting to 22.0 million South African Rand, or \$1.8 million based on exchange rates as of March 31, 2015. In the event SACS is unable to maintain the required funding in a rectification account maintained for the payment of certain costs in

the event of contract termination, a previously existing guarantee by the Company for the shortfall will need to be re-instated. The remaining guarantee of 21.0 million South African Rand is secured by outstanding letters of credit under the Company's Revolver as of March 31, 2015.

In addition to the above, the Company has also agreed to provide a loan, if required, of up to 20 million South African Rand, or \$1.7 million based on exchange rates as of March 31, 2015, referred to as the Shareholder's Loan, to SACS for the purpose of financing SACS' obligations under its contract with the South African government. No amounts have been funded under the standby facility, and the Company does not currently anticipate that such funding will be required by SACS in the future. The Company's obligations under the Shareholder's Loan expire upon the earlier of full funding or SACS's release from its obligations under its debt agreements. The lenders' ability to draw on the Shareholder's Loan is limited to certain circumstances, including termination of the contract.

The Company has also guaranteed certain obligations of SACS to the security trustee for SACS' lenders. The Company secured its guarantee to the security trustee by ceding its rights to claims against SACS in respect of any loans or other finance agreements, and by pledging the Company's shares in SACS. The Company's liability under the guarantee is limited to the cession and pledge of shares. The guarantee expires upon expiration of the cession and pledge agreements.

Canada

In connection with a design, build, finance and maintenance contract for a facility in Canada, the Company guaranteed certain potential tax obligations of a trust. The potential estimated exposure of these obligations is Canadian Dollar ("CAD") 2.5 million, or \$2.0 million, based on exchange rates as of March 31, 2015, commencing in 2017. The Company has a liability of \$2.0 million related to this exposure included in Other Non-Current Liabilities as of March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively. To secure this guarantee, the Company purchased Canadian dollar denominated securities with maturities matched to the estimated tax obligations in 2017 to 2021. The Company has recorded an asset equal to the current fair value of those securities included in Other Non-Current Assets as of March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014 on its consolidated balance sheets. The Company does not currently operate or manage this facility.

United Kingdom

In connection with the creation of GEOAmey, the Company and its joint venture partner guarantee the availability of working capital in equal proportion to ensure that GEOAmey can comply with current and future contractual commitments related to the performance of its operations. The Company and the 50% joint venture partner have each extended a £12 million line of credit of which £10.5 million, or \$15.6 million, based on exchange rates as of March 31, 2015, was outstanding as of March 31, 2015. The Company's maximum exposure relative to the joint venture is its note receivable of \$15.6 million, which is included in Other Non-Current Assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, and future financial support necessary to guarantee performance under the contract.

Except as discussed above, the Company does not have any off balance sheet arrangements.

11. COMMITMENTS, CONTINGENCIES AND OTHER

Litigation, Claims and Assessments

The nature of the Company's business exposes it to various types of third-party legal claims or litigation against the Company, including, but not limited to, civil rights claims relating to conditions of confinement and/or mistreatment, sexual misconduct claims brought by prisoners or detainees, medical malpractice claims, product liability claims, intellectual property infringement claims, claims relating to employment matters (including, but not limited to, employment discrimination claims, union grievances and wage and hour claims), property loss claims, environmental claims, automobile liability claims, indemnification claims by its customers and other third parties, contractual claims and claims for personal injury or other damages resulting from contact with the Company's facilities, programs, electronic monitoring products, personnel or prisoners, including damages arising from a prisoner's escape or from a disturbance or riot at a facility. The Company does not expect the outcome of any pending claims or legal proceedings to have a material adverse effect on its financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

Commitments

The Company currently has contractual commitments for a number of projects using Company financing. The Company's management estimates that the cost of these existing capital projects will be \$252.1 million of which \$86.1 million was spent through the first quarter of 2015. The Company estimates the remaining capital requirements related to these capital projects will be \$166.0 million which will be spent through 2017. Included in these commitments is a contractual commitment to

provide a capital contribution towards the design and construction of a prison project in Ravenhall, a locality near Melbourne, Australia, in the amount of AUD 115 million, or \$88.4 million, based on exchange rates as of March 31, 2015. This capital contribution is expected to be made in January 2017.

Additionally, in connection with the Ravenhall Prison Project, the Company has a contractual commitment for construction of the facility and has entered into a syndicated facility agreement with National Australia Bank Limited to provide funding for the project up to AUD 791 million, or \$608.4 million, based on exchange rates as of March 31, 2015. Refer to Note 10 - Debt.

Contract Awards

On January 28, 2015, GEO announced that GEO signed a contract for the reactivation of the company-owned, 400-bed Mesa Verde Detention Facility (the "Facility") in California. The Facility will house immigration detainees under an intergovernmental service agreement between the City of McFarland and U.S. Immigration Customs and Enforcement ("ICE").

On February 18, 2015, GEO announced the closing of its previously announced acquisition of the LCS Facilities totaling more than 6,500 beds from LCS. Refer to Note 2 - Business Combinations.

Idle Facilities

The Company is currently marketing approximately 4,386 vacant beds at five of its idle facilities to potential customers. The carrying values of these idle facilities, which are included in Property and Equipment, Net in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, totaled \$103.9 million as of March 31, 2015, excluding equipment and other assets that can be easily transferred for use at other facilities.

12. BUSINESS SEGMENTS AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

Operating and Reporting Segments

The Company conducts its business through four reportable business segments: the U.S. Corrections & Detention segment; the GEO Care segment; the International Services segment; and the Facility Construction & Design segment. The Company's segment revenues from external customers and a measure of segment profit are as follows (in thousands):

	Three Months Ended			d
	March 31, 2015		Mai	rch 31, 2014
Revenues:				
U.S. Corrections & Detention	\$	285,609	\$	266,715
GEO Care		79,356		76,652
International Services		40,654		49,770
Facility Construction & Design (1)		21,750		_
Total revenues	\$	427,369	\$	393,137
Operating income:				
U.S. Corrections & Detention	\$	63,597	\$	58,810
GEO Care		18,506		15,701
International Services		1,815		2,561
Facility Construction & Design (1)		602		_
Operating income from segments	\$	84,520	\$	77,072

(1) In September 2014, the Company began the design and construction of a new prison contract located in Ravenhall, a locality near Melbourne, Australia. During the design and construction phase, the Company recognizes revenue as earned on a percentage of completion basis measured by the percentage of costs incurred to date as compared to estimated total costs for the design and construction of the facility. Costs incurred and estimated earnings in excess of billings is classified as Contract Receivable in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and is recorded at the net present value based on the timing of expected future settlement.

Pre-Tax Income Reconciliation of Segments

The following is a reconciliation of the Company's total operating income from its reportable segments to the Company's income before income taxes and equity in earnings of affiliates (in thousands):

Three Mon	ths Ended
March 31, 2015	March 31, 2014
\$ 84,520	\$ 77,072
(31,848)	(28,502)
(22,573)	(19,920)
\$ 30,099	\$ 28,650
	March 31, 2015 \$ 84,520 (31,848) (22,573)

Equity in Earnings of Affiliates

Equity in earnings of affiliates includes the Company's 50% owned joint ventures in SACS, located in South Africa, and GEOAmey, located in the United Kingdom. Our investments in these entities are accounted for under the equity method of accounting. The Company's investments in these entities are presented as a component of Other Non-Current Assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

The Company has recorded \$1.1 million and \$1.2 million in earnings, net of tax, for SACS operations during the three months ended March 31, 2015 and March 31, 2014, respectively, which are included in equity in earnings of affiliates, net of income tax provision in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. As of March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the Company's investment in SACS was \$8.8 million and \$8.0 million, respectively.

The Company has recorded \$0.4 million and \$0.3 million in earnings, net of tax, for GEOAmey's operations during the three months ended March 31, 2015 and March 31, 2014, which are included in equity in earnings of affiliates, net of income tax provision, in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. As of March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, the Company's investment in GEOAmey was \$(1.7) million and \$(2.2) million, respectively, and represents its share of cumulative reported losses. Losses in excess of the Company's investment have been recognized as the Company has provided certain loans and guarantees to provide financial support to GEOAmey. Refer to Note 10 - Debt.

13. BENEFIT PLANS

The following table summarizes key information related to the Company's pension plans and retirement agreements (in thousands):

	Months Ended rch 31, 2015	Year Ended December 2014		
Change in Projected Benefit Obligation				
Projected benefit obligation, beginning of period	\$ 25,826	\$	20,032	
Service cost	257		821	
Interest cost	236		935	
Actuarial loss	72		4,324	
Benefits paid	(189)		(286)	
Projected benefit obligation, end of period	\$ 26,202	\$	25,826	
Change in Plan Assets	 		<u> </u>	
Plan assets at fair value, beginning of period	\$ _	\$	_	
Company contributions	189		286	
Benefits paid	(189)		(286)	
Plan assets at fair value, end of period	\$ _	\$		
Unfunded Status of the Plan	\$ (26,202)	\$	(25,826)	

		Three Months Ended			
	March	31, 2015	March 31, 2014		
Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost					
Service cost	\$	257	\$	694	
Interest cost		236		622	
Net loss		72		197	
Net periodic pension cost	\$	565	\$	1,513	

The long-term portion of the pension liability as of March 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014 was \$25.9 million and \$24.9 million, respectively, and is included in Other Non-Current Liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

14. RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCMENTS

In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-03 "Interest-Imputation of Interest," which is intended to simplify the presentation of debt issuance costs. The amendments require that debt issuance costs related to a recognized debt liability be presented in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of that debt liability, consistent with debt discounts. The amendments resulting from ASU No. 2015-03 are effective for public business entities for fiscal years, and for interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2015 with early adoption permitted for financial statements that have not previously been issued. The implementation of this standard is not expected to have a material impact on the Company's financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In February 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-02 "Consolidation," which modifies the evaluation of whether limited partnerships and similar legal entities are variable interest entities ("VIEs") or voting interest entities, eliminates the presumption that a general partner should consolidate a limited partnership, affects the consolidation analysis of reporting entities that are involved with VIEs, particularly those that have fee arrangements and related party relationships and provides a scope exception from consolidation guidance for reporting entities with interests in legal entities that are required to comply with or operate in accordance with requirements that are similar to those in Rule 2a-7 of the Investment Company Act of 1940 for registered money market funds. The amendments resulting from ASU No. 2015-02 are effective for public business entities for fiscal years, and for interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2015 with early adoption permitted. The implementation of this standard is not expected to have a material impact on the Company's financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

15. CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING FINANCIAL INFORMATION

As of March 31, 2015, the Company's 6.625% Senior Notes, 5.125% Senior Notes, 5.7/8% Senior Notes and 5.875% Senior Notes were fully and unconditionally guaranteed on a joint and several senior unsecured basis by the Company and certain of its wholly-owned domestic subsidiaries (the "Subsidiary Guarantors"). The following condensed consolidating financial information, which has been prepared in accordance with the requirements for presentation of Rule 3-10(d) of Regulation S-X promulgated under the Securities Act, presents the condensed consolidating financial information separately for:

- (i) The GEO Group, Inc., as the issuer of the notes;
- (ii) The Subsidiary Guarantors, on a combined basis, which are 100% owned by The GEO Group, Inc., and which are guarantors of the notes;
- (iii) The Company's other subsidiaries, on a combined basis, which are not guarantors of the notes (the "Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries");
- (iv) Consolidating entries and eliminations representing adjustments to (a) eliminate intercompany transactions between or among the Company, the Subsidiary Guarantors and the Subsidiary Non-Guarantors and (b) eliminate the investments in the Company's subsidiaries; and
- (v) The Company and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis.

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) (dollars in thousands) (unaudited)

	For the Three Months Ended March 31, 2015									
			Combined Subsidiary		ombined Guarantor					
	The Gl	EO Group, Inc.	Guarantors	Sul	osidiaries	Elimi	nations_	Cor	ısolidated	
Revenues	\$	144,383	\$ 339,887	\$	64,967	\$ (12	21,868)	\$	427,369	
Operating expenses		116,225	268,781		54,771	(12	21,868)		317,909	
Depreciation and amortization		6,203	17,697		1,040		_		24,940	
General and administrative expenses		10,323	16,880		4,645				31,848	
Operating income		11,632	36,529		4,511		_		52,672	
Interest income		6,178	1,231		2,137	((7,473)		2,073	
Interest expense		(14,310)	(14,636)		(3,173)		7,473		(24,646)	
Income before income taxes and equity in earnings of										
affiliates		3,500	23,124		3,475		_		30,099	
Income tax provision		_	1,740		1,088		_		2,828	
Equity in earnings of affiliates, net of income tax provision					1,485				1,485	
Income before equity in income of consolidated subsidiaries		3,500	21,384		3,872		_		28,756	
Income from consolidated subsidiaries, net of income tax										
provision		25,256				(2	25,25 <u>6</u>)			
Net income		28,756	21,384		3,872	(2	25,256)		28,756	
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interests					21				21	
Net income attributable to The GEO Group, Inc.	\$	28,756	\$ 21,384	\$	3,893	\$ (2	25,256)	\$	28,777	
Net income	\$	28,756	\$ 21,384	\$	3,872	\$ (2	25,256)	\$	28,756	
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax		<u> </u>	40		(5,761)				(5,721)	
Total comprehensive income (loss)	\$	28,756	\$ 21,424	\$	(1,889)	\$ (2	25,256)	\$	23,035	
Comprehensive loss attributable to noncontrolling interests		_	_		37		_		37	
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to The GEO		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·							· · · · ·	
Group, Inc.	\$	28,756	\$ 21,424	\$	(1,852)	\$ (2	25,256)	\$	23,072	

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) (dollars in thousands) (unaudited)

	For the Three Months Ended March 31, 2014								
	The GEO Group, Inc.		Combined Subsidiary Guarantors	Combined Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries		Eliminations		Co	nsolidated
Revenues	\$	134,754	\$ 314,985	\$	52,331	\$	(108,933)	\$	393,137
Operating expenses		107,222	250,680		42,954		(108,933)		291,923
Depreciation and amortization		6,406	16,634		1,102		—		24,142
General and administrative expenses		9,339	15,536		3,627				28,502
Operating income		11,787	32,135		4,648		_		48,570
Interest income		5,536	436		679		(5,919)		732
Interest expense		(11,074)	(13,763)		(1,734)		5,919		(20,652)
Income before income taxes and equity in earnings of		C 2.40	10.000		2.502				20.650
affiliates		6,249	18,808		3,593				28,650
Income tax provision		_	1,294		844		_		2,138
Equity in earnings of affiliates, net of income tax provision					1,484				1,484
Income before equity in income of consolidated subsidiaries		6,249	17,514		4,233		_		27,996
Income from consolidated subsidiaries, net of income tax provision		21,747	_		_		(21,747)		_
Net income		27,996	17,514		4,233	_	(21,747)	_	27,996
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests			—		(6)		—		(6)
Net income attributable to The GEO Group, Inc.	\$	27,996	\$ 17,514	\$	4,227	\$	(21,747)	\$	27,990
Net income	\$	27,996	\$ 17,514	\$	4,233	\$	(21,747)	\$	27,996
Other comprehensive income, net of tax		<u> </u>	19		1,027				1,046
Total comprehensive income	\$	27,996	\$ 17,533	\$	5,260	\$	(21,747)	\$	29,042
Comprehensive loss attributable to noncontrolling interests		_	_		(2)		_		(2)
Comprehensive income attributable to The GEO Group, Inc.	\$	27,996	\$ 17,533	\$	5,258	\$	(21,747)	\$	29,040

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEET (dollars in thousands) (unaudited)

	As of March 31, 2015								
	The G	EO Group, Inc. ASSETS	Combined Combined Subsidiary Non-Guarantor Guarantors Subsidiaries		Eliminations		Consolidated		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	12,962	\$	12,433	\$	43,586	\$	_	\$ 68,981
Restricted cash and investments		_		_		8,489		_	8,489
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts		97,109		150,561		13,610		_	261,280
Current deferred income tax assets		_		21,657		4,227		_	25,884
Prepaid expenses and other current assets		5,545		21,853		18,176		(1,154)	44,420
Total current assets		115,616		206,504		88,088		(1,154)	409,054
Restricted Cash and Investments		126		15,175		7,916		_	23,217
Property and Equipment, Net		738,622	1	,085,096		83,345		_	1,907,063
Contract Receivable		_		_		87,042		_	87,042
Direct Finance Lease Receivable		_		_		7,077		_	7,077
Intercompany Receivable		963,417		138,933		_	(1,1	102,350)	_
Non-Current Deferred Income Tax Assets		_		_		5,873		_	5,873
Goodwill		34		600,731		440		_	601,205
Intangible Assets, Net		_		223,194		977		_	224,171
Investment in Subsidiaries		1,146,712		238,847		_		385,559)	_
Other Non-Current Assets		24,635		111,702		46,957		(80,075)	103,219
Total Assets	\$	2,989,162	\$2	,620,182	\$	327,715	\$(2,5	669,138)	\$3,367,921
		SHAREHOLD							
Accounts payable	\$	8,471	\$	49,757	\$	2,307	\$	_	\$ 60,535
Accrued payroll and related taxes		_		42,159		13,692		_	55,851
Accrued expenses and other		41,609		67,228		28,138		(1,154)	135,821
Current portion of capital lease obligations, long-term debt and									
non-recourse debt		3,001		1,241		12,406			16,648
Total current liabilities		53,081		160,385		56,543		(1,154)	268,855
Non-Current Deferred Income Tax Liabilities		(4,351)		14,414		5		_	10,068
Intercompany Payable		114,710		971,134		16,506	(1,1	102,350)	_
Other Non-Current Liabilities		4,301		142,741		32,699		(80,075)	99,666
Capital Lease Obligations		_		9,574		_		_	9,574
Long-Term Debt		1,795,267				_			1,795,267
Non-Recourse Debt		_		_		158,060		_	158,060
Commitments & Contingencies and Other									
Shareholders' Equity:									
The GEO Group, Inc. Shareholders' Equity		1,026,154	1	,321,934		63,625	(1,3)	385,559)	1,026,154
Noncontrolling Interests			_			277			277
Total Shareholders' Equity		1,026,154	_1	,321,934		63,902	(1,3)	385,559)	1,026,431
Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity	\$	2,989,162	\$2	,620,182	\$	327,715	\$(2,5	669,138)	\$3,367,921

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEET (dollars in thousands)

	As of December 31, 2014							
		EO Group, Inc. ASSETS	Combined Subsidiary Guarantors	Subsidiary Non-Guarantor		Eliminations	Consolidated	
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	18,492	\$ 782	\$	22,063	\$ —	\$ 41,337	
Restricted cash and investments		_	_		4,341	_	4,341	
Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts		92,456	159,505		17,077	_	269,038	
Current deferred income tax assets		_	21,657		4,227	_	25,884	
Prepaid expenses and other current assets		7,022	19,593		11,345	(1,154)	36,806	
Total current assets		117,970	201,537		59,053	(1,154)	377,406	
Restricted Cash and Investments	·	228	13,729		5,621	_	19,578	
Property and Equipment, Net		726,238	961,896		84,032	_	1,772,166	
Direct Finance Lease Receivable		_	_		9,256	_	9,256	
Contract Receivable		_	_		66,229		66,229	
Intercompany Receivable		962,314	119,414		_	(1,081,728)	_	
Non-Current Deferred Income Tax Assets		_			5,873		5,873	
Goodwill		34	493,389		467	_	493,890	
Intangible Assets, Net		_	154,237		1,038	_	155,275	
Investment in Subsidiaries		855,870	438,243		_	(1,294,113)	_	
Other Non-Current Assets		25,635	110,105		46,838	(80,043)	102,535	
Total Assets	\$	2,688,289	\$2,492,550	\$	278,407	\$(2,457,038)	\$3,002,208	
LIABILITIES	SAND	SHAREHOLD	ERS' EOUITY					
Accounts payable	\$	7,549	\$ 47,130	\$	3,476	\$ —	\$ 58,155	
Accrued payroll and related taxes	•	_	24,184		14,372	_	38,556	
Accrued expenses and other		47,637	75,574		18,555	(1,154)	140,612	
Current portion of capital lease obligations, long-term debt and		Ź	,		Ź	() /	Ź	
non-recourse debt		3,001	1,170		12,581		16,752	
Total current liabilities		58,187	148,058		48,984	(1,154)	254,075	
Non-Current Deferred Income Tax Liabilities		(4,095)	14,170		(7)		10,068	
Intercompany Payable		121,327	942,071		18,330	(1,081,728)	_	
Other Non-Current Liabilities		4,372	143,584		19,507	(80,034)	87,429	
Capital Lease Obligations		_	9,856		_	_	9,856	
Long-Term Debt		1,462,819	_		_	_	1,462,819	
Non-Recourse Debt		_	_		131,968	_	131,968	
Commitments & Contingencies and Other								
Shareholders' Equity:								
The GEO Group, Inc. Shareholders' Equity		1,045,679	1,234,811		59,311	(1,294,122)	1,045,679	
Noncontrolling Interests					314		314	
Total Shareholders' Equity		1,045,679	1,234,811		59,625	(1,294,122)	1,045,993	
Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity	\$	2,688,289	\$2,492,550	\$	278,407	\$(2,457,038)	\$3,002,208	

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (dollars in thousands) (unaudited)

	For the Three Months Ended March 31, 2015 Combined Combined						
	TI CEO C	Subsidiary	Non-Guarantor	6 11.1			
Cash Flow from Operating Activities:	The GEO Group, Inc.	Guarantors	Subsidiaries	<u>Consolidated</u>			
Net cash provided by operating activities	\$ 35,300	\$ 30,416	\$ (4,971)	\$ 60,745			
Cash Flow from Investing Activities:							
Acquisition of LCS, net of cash acquired	(307,403)	_	_	(307,403)			
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment		20	_	20			
Insurance proceeds - damaged property	_	700	_	700			
Change in restricted cash and investments	102	(6,443)	(1,767)	(8,108)			
Capital expenditures	(20,561)	(13,042)	(595)	(34,198)			
Net cash used in investing activities	(327,862)	(18,765)	(2,362)	(348,989)			
Cash Flow from Financing Activities:							
Proceeds from long-term debt	371,000	_	_	371,000			
Payments on long-term debt	(38,750)	_	_	(38,750)			
Payments on non-recourse debt		_	(1,645)	(1,645)			
Proceeds from non-recourse debt	_	_	33,019	33,019			
Taxes paid related to net share settlements of equity awards	(1,123)	_	_	(1,123)			
Proceeds from reissuance of treasury stock in connection with ESPP	98	_	_	98			
Debt issuance costs	_	_	(1,245)	(1,245)			
Tax benefit related to equity compensation	569	_	_	569			
Proceeds from stock options exercised	1,215	_	_	1,215			
Cash dividends paid	(45,977)			(45,977)			
Net cash provided by financing activities	287,032	_	30,129	317,161			
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash and Cash Equivalents			(1,273)	(1,273)			
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents	(5,530)	11,651	21,523	27,644			
Cash and Cash Equivalents, beginning of period	18,492	782	22,063	41,337			
Cash and Cash Equivalents, end of period	\$ 12,962	\$ 12,433	\$ 43,586	\$ 68,981			

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (dollars in thousands) (unaudited)

	For the Three Months Ended March 31, 2014							
	The GEO Group, Inc.		Combined Subsidiary Guarantors	Combined Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries	Consolidated			
Cash Flow from Operating Activities:								
Net cash provided by operating activities	\$	28,511	\$ 25,116	\$ 9,525	\$ 63,152			
Cash Flow from Investing Activities:								
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment			165	_	165			
Acquisition of Protocol, cash consideration		_	(13,000)	_	(13,000)			
Change in restricted cash and investments		(185)	(549)	(2,539)	(3,273)			
Capital expenditures		(8,586)	(8,642)	(303)	(17,531)			
Net cash used in investing activities		(8,771)	(22,026)	(2,842)	(33,639)			
Cash Flow from Financing Activities:								
Proceeds from long-term debt		103,000	_	_	103,000			
Payments on long-term debt		(108,750)	(240)	_	(108,990)			
Payments on non-recourse debt			_	(1,403)	(1,403)			
Proceeds from reissuance of treasury stock in connection with ESPP		84	_	_	84			
Tax benefit related to equity compensation		558	_	_	558			
Proceeds from stock options exercised		3,275	_	_	3,275			
Cash dividends paid		(41,139)			(41,139)			
Net cash used in financing activities		(42,972)	(240)	(1,403)	(44,615)			
Effect of Exchange Rate Changes on Cash and Cash Equivalents				1,040	1,040			
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents		(23,232)	2,850	6,320	(14,062)			
Cash and Cash Equivalents, beginning of period		30,730	985	20,410	52,125			
Cash and Cash Equivalents, end of period	\$	7,498	\$ 3,835	\$ 26,730	\$ 38,063			

16. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Dividend

On April 29, 2015, the Board of Directors declared a quarterly cash dividend of \$0.62 per share of common stock, which is to be paid on May 21, 2015 to shareholders of record as of the close of business on May 11, 2015.

Idle Facilities

On April 28, 2015, the Company announced that it has begun to mobilize the company-owned 1,740-bed North Lake Correctional Facility (the "North Lake Facility") located in Baldwin, Michigan. The decision to mobilize the North Lake Facility was made as a result of the current demand for out-of-state correctional bed space. The mobilization effort will entail hiring staff and purchasing supplies in order to prepare the previously idle North Lake Facility to receive inmates. The Company currently does not have a contract to house inmates at the North Lake Facility, but believes that it may secure one or more contracts in the near future and expects it may need to activate the North Lake Facility in the next sixty to ninety days.

ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.

Forward-Looking Information

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and the documents incorporated by reference herein contain "forward-looking" statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. "Forward-looking" statements are any statements that are not based on historical information. Statements other than statements of historical facts included in this report, including, without limitation, statements regarding our future financial position, business strategy, budgets, projected costs and plans and objectives of management for future operations, are "forward-looking" statements. Forward-looking statements generally can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology such as "may," "will," "expect," "anticipate," "intend," "plan," "believe," "seek," "estimate" or "continue" or the negative of such words or variations of such words and similar expressions. These statements are not guarantees of future performance and involve certain risks, uncertainties and assumptions, which are difficult to predict. Therefore, actual outcomes and results may differ materially from what is expressed or forecasted in such forward-looking statements and we can give no assurance that such forward-looking statements will prove to be correct. Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements, or "cautionary statements," include, but are not limited to:

- our ability to timely build and/or open facilities as planned, profitably manage such facilities and successfully integrate such facilities into our operations without substantial additional costs;
- our ability to remain qualified for taxation as a real estate investment trust, or REIT;
- our ability to fulfill our debt service obligations and its impact on our liquidity;
- our ability to activate the inactive beds at our idle facilities;
- our ability to maintain or increase occupancy rates at our facilities;
- an increase in unreimbursed labor rates;
- our ability to expand, diversify and grow our correctional, detention, reentry, community-based services, youth services, monitoring services, evidence-based supervision and treatment programs and secure transportation services businesses;
- our ability to win management contracts for which we have submitted proposals, retain existing management contracts and meet any performance standards required by such management contracts;
- our ability to control operating costs associated with contract start-ups;

- our ability to raise new project development capital given the often short-term nature of the customers' commitment to use newly developed facilities:
- our ability to estimate the government's level of dependency on privatized correctional services;
- our ability to accurately project the size and growth of the U.S. and international privatized corrections industry and our ability to capitalize on opportunities for public-private partnerships;
- our ability to successfully respond to delays encountered by states privatizing correctional services and cost savings initiatives implemented by a number of states;
- our ability to develop long-term earnings visibility;
- our ability to identify suitable acquisitions, and to successfully complete and integrate such acquisitions on satisfactory terms, and estimate the synergies to be achieved as a result of such acquisitions;
- our exposure to the impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets as a result of our acquisitions;
- our ability to successfully conduct our operations in the United Kingdom, South Africa and Australia through joint ventures or a consortium;
- our ability to obtain future financing on satisfactory terms or at all, including our ability to secure the funding we need to complete ongoing capital projects;
- our exposure to political and economic instability and other risks impacting our international operations;
- the instability of foreign exchange rates, exposing us to currency risks in Australia, Canada, the United Kingdom, and South Africa, or other countries in which we may choose to conduct our business;
- our exposure to risks impacting our information systems, including those that may cause an interruption, delay or failure in the provision of our services;
- our exposure to rising general insurance costs;
- our exposure to state, federal and foreign income tax law changes, including changes to the REIT provisions and our exposure as a result of federal and international examinations of our tax returns or tax positions;
- · our exposure to claims for which we are uninsured;
- our exposure to rising employee and inmate medical costs;
- our ability to manage costs and expenses relating to ongoing litigation arising from our operations;
- our ability to accurately estimate on an annual basis, loss reserves related to general liability, workers compensation and automobile liability claims;
- the ability of our government customers to secure budgetary appropriations to fund their payment obligations to us and continue to operate under our existing agreements and/or renew our existing agreements;
- · our ability to pay quarterly dividends consistent with our requirements as a REIT, and expectations as to timing and amounts;
- our ability to comply with government regulations and applicable contractual requirements;
- our ability to acquire, protect or maintain our intellectual property;
- the risk that future sales of shares of our common stock could adversely affect the market price of our common stock and may be dilutive; and

• other factors contained in our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC, including, but not limited to, those detailed in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014 and our Current Reports on Form 8-K filed with the SEC.

We undertake no obligation to update publicly any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. All subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to us, or persons acting on our behalf, are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Introduction

The following discussion and analysis provides information which management believes is relevant to an assessment and understanding of our consolidated results of operations and financial condition. This discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of numerous factors including, but not limited to, those described above under "Forward Looking Information", those described below under "Part II - Item 1A. Risk Factors" and under "Part I - Item 1A. Risk Factors" in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014. The discussion should be read in conjunction with our unaudited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

We are a real estate investment trust ("REIT") specializing in the ownership, leasing and management of correctional, detention and reentry facilities and the provision of community-based services and youth services in the United States, Australia, South Africa, and the United Kingdom. We own, lease and operate a broad range of correctional and detention facilities including maximum, medium and minimum security prisons, immigration detention centers, minimum security detention centers, and community based reentry facilities. We offer counseling, education and/or treatment to inmates with alcohol and drug abuse problems at most of the domestic facilities we manage. We are also a provider of innovative compliance technologies, industry- leading monitoring services, and evidence-based supervision and treatment programs for community-based parolees, probationers and pretrial defendants.

Our worldwide operations include the management and/or ownership of approximately 86,000 beds at 106 correctional, detention and reentry facilities, including idle facilities, projects under development and recently awarded contracts, and also include the provision of monitoring of more than 70,000 offenders in a community-based environment on behalf of approximately 900 federal, state and local correctional agencies located in all 50 states.

We provide a diversified scope of services on behalf of our government clients:

- our correctional and detention management services involve the provision of security, administrative, rehabilitation, education and food services, primarily at adult male correctional and detention facilities;
- our community-based services involve supervision of adult parolees and probationers and the provision of temporary housing, programming, employment assistance and other services with the intention of the successful reintegration of residents into the community;
- our youth services include residential, detention and shelter care and community-based services along with rehabilitative and educational programs;
- our monitoring services provide our governmental clients with innovative compliance technologies, industry-leading monitoring services, and evidence-based supervision and treatment programs for community-based parolees, probationers and pretrial defendants; including services provided under the Intensive Supervision Appearance Program, which we refer to as ISAP, to the U.S. Immigration and Customs Enforcement, which we refer to as ICE, for the provision of services designed to improve the participation of non-detained aliens in the immigration court system;
- we develop new facilities using our project development experience to design, construct and finance what we believe are state-of-the-art facilities that maximize security and efficiency;
- we provide secure transportation services for offender and detainee populations as contracted domestically and internationally our joint venture GEOAmey is responsible for providing prisoner escort and custody services in the United Kingdom, including all of Wales and England except London and The East of England; and

• our services are provided at facilities which we either own, lease or are owned by our customers.

For the three months ended March 31, 2015 and March 31, 2014, we had consolidated revenues of \$427.4 million and \$393.1 million, respectively, and we maintained an average company wide facility occupancy rate of 93.0% including 80,898 active beds and excluding 4,680 beds marketed to potential customers for the three months ended March 31, 2015, and 95.5% including 71,239 active beds and excluding 5,756 idle beds marketed to potential customers for the three months ended March 31, 2014.

As a REIT, we are required to distribute annually at least 90% of our REIT taxable income (determined without regard to the dividends paid deduction and by excluding net capital gain) and we began paying regular quarterly REIT dividends in 2013. The amount, timing and frequency of future dividends, however, will be at the sole discretion of our Board of Directors (the "Board") and will be declared based upon various factors, many of which are beyond our control, including, our financial condition and operating cash flows, the amount required to maintain REIT status and reduce any income taxes that we otherwise would be required to pay, limitations on distributions in our existing and future debt instruments, limitations on our ability to fund distributions using cash generated through our taxable REIT subsidiaries ("TRSs") and other factors that our Board may deem relevant.

During the three months ended March 31, 2015 and the year ended December 31, 2014, respectively, we declared and paid the following regular cash distributions to our shareholders as follows:

						nt Amount
Declaration Date	Record Date	Payment Due	Distribution l	Per Share	(in n	nillions)
February 18, 2014	March 3, 2014	March 14, 2014	\$	0.57	\$	41.1
April 28, 2014	May 15, 2014	May 27, 2014	\$	0.57	\$	41.5
August 5, 2014	August 18, 2014	August 29, 2014	\$	0.57	\$	41.4
November 5, 2014	November 17, 2014	November 26, 2014	\$	0.62	\$	46.0
February 6, 2015	February 17, 2015	February 27, 2015	\$	0.62	\$	46.0

Aggregate

On April 29, 2015, our Board of Directors declared a quarterly cash dividend of \$0.62 per share of common stock, which is to be paid on May 21, 2015 to shareholders of record as of the close of business on May 11, 2015.

Reference is made to Part II, Item 7 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 26, 2015, for further discussion and analysis of information pertaining to our financial condition and results of operations as of and for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014.

Fiscal 2015 Developments

Contract Awards

We are currently marketing approximately 4,386 vacant beds at five of our idle facilities to potential customers. The carrying values of these idle facilities totaled approximately \$103.9 million as of March 31, 2015, excluding equipment and other assets that can be easily transferred for use at other facilities.

On January 28, 2015, we announced that we signed a contract for the reactivation of our company-owned, 400-bed Mesa Verde Detention Facility (the "Mesa VerdeFacility") in California. The Mesa Verde Facility will house immigration detainees under an intergovernmental service agreement between the City of McFarland and U.S. Immigration Customs and Enforcement ("ICE").

On February 18, 2015, we announced the closing of our previously announced acquisition of eight correctional and detention facilities (the "LCS Facilities") totaling more than 6,500 beds from LCS Corrections Services, Inc. and its affiliates (collectively, "LCS"). Refer to Note 2 - Business Combinations included in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

On April 28, 2015, we announced that we have begun to mobilize our company-owned 1,740-bed North Lake Correctional Facility (the "North Lake Facility") located in Baldwin, Michigan. The decision to mobilize the North Lake Facility was made as a result of the current demand for out-of-state correctional bed space. The mobilization effort will entail hiring staff and purchasing supplies in order to prepare the previously idle North Lake Facility to receive inmates. We currently do not have a contract to house inmates at the North Lake Facility, but we believe that we may secure one or more contracts in the near future and expect we may need to activate the North Lake Facility in the next sixty to ninety days.

Critical Accounting Policies

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements are prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. As such, we are required to make certain estimates, judgments and assumptions that we believe are reasonable based upon the information available. These estimates and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. We routinely evaluate our estimates based on historical experience and on various other assumptions that management believes are reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. During the three months ended March 31, 2015, we did not experience any significant changes in estimates or judgments inherent in the preparation of our consolidated financial statements. A summary of our significant accounting policies is contained in Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with our unaudited consolidated financial statements and the notes to our unaudited consolidated financial statements included in Part I, Item 1, of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Comparison of Three Months Ended March 31, 2015 and Three Months Ended March 31, 2014

Revenues

	2015	% of Revenue	2014	% of Revenue	\$ Change	% Change
				(Dollars in thousands)		
U.S. Corrections & Detention	\$285,609	66.8%	\$266,715	67.8%	\$18,894	7.1%
GEO Care	79,356	18.6%	76,652	19.5%	2,704	3.5%
International Services	40,654	9.5%	49,770	12.7%	(9,116)	(18.3)%
Facility Construction & Design	21,750	5.1%		— %	21,750	100.0%
Total	\$427,369	100.0%	\$393,137	100.0%	\$34,232	8.7%

U.S. Corrections & Detention

Revenues increased in the Three Months Ended March 31, 2015 compared to the Three Months Ended March 31, 2014 primarily due to aggregate increases of \$10.7 million resulting from: (i) the activation and intake of detainees at our Alexandria Staging facility in November 2014; (ii) the activation and intake of inmates at our McFarland Female Community Reentry facility; and (iii) the acquisition of the LCS Facilities in February 2015. We also experienced aggregate increases in revenues of \$8.2 million at certain of our facilities primarily due to net increases in population, transportation services and/or rates.

The number of compensated mandays in U.S. Corrections & Detention facilities was approximately 4.8 million in the Three Months Ended March 31, 2015 and 4.5 million in the Three Months Ended March 31, 2014. We experienced an aggregate net increase of approximately 245,000 mandays as a result of our new contracts and business acquisition discussed above and also as a result of increases in population at certain facilities. These increases were partially offset by decreases resulting from lower populations at certain facilities. We look at the average occupancy in our facilities to determine how we are managing our available beds. The average occupancy is calculated by taking compensated mandays as a percentage of capacity. The average occupancy in our U.S. Corrections & Detention facilities was 93.4% and 96.1% of capacity in the Three Months Ended March 31, 2015 and the Three Months Ended March 31, 2014 respectively, excluding idle facilities.

Average occupancy declined to 93.4% from 96.1% and was driven primarily by our acquisition and integration of eight correctional and detention LCS Facilities totaling more than 6,500 beds in February 2015. As we have previously disclosed, the LCS Facilities have been historically underutilized with current average occupancy rates of approximately 50%. Additionally, as we have previously discussed, federal populations tend to experience seasonal fluctuations primarily during the

first quarter and part of the second quarter of each year. We believe that the uncertainty related to the fiscal year 2015 budget for the Department of Homeland Security during the first few months of 2015 may have also contributed to additional softness in federal populations.

GEO Care

The increase in revenues for GEO Care in the Three Months Ended March 31, 2015 compared to the Three Months Ended March 31, 2014 is primarily attributable to net increases of \$1.7 million due to increased counts in our electronic monitoring contracts and ISAP program at BI Incorporated ("BI"). In addition, we experienced an increase of \$2.8 million primarily due to new programs and program growth at our community based and reentry centers. These increases were partially offset by decreases in revenues of \$1.8 million related to contract terminations and census declines at certain facilities.

International Services

Revenues for International Services in the Three Months Ended March 31, 2015 compared to the Three Months Ended March 31, 2014 decreased by \$9.1 million. Contributing to the decrease was the result of foreign exchange rate fluctuations of (\$5.4) million resulting from the strengthening of the U.S. dollar against certain international currencies. Additionally, revenues also decreased by \$6.4 million in our United Kingdom subsidiary due to the winding down of our Harmondworth management contract. These decreases were partially offset by an aggregate net increase of \$2.7 million primarily attributable to our Australian subsidiary related to population increases, contractual increases linked to the inflationary index and the provision of additional services under certain contracts.

Facility Construction & Design

The increase in revenues for our Facility Construction & Design services is due to the commencement of design and construction activity for our new Ravenhall Prison Contract executed in September 2014 with the Department of Justice in the State of Victoria, Australia.

Operating Expenses

	2015	% of Segment Revenues	2014	% of Segment Revenues ollars in thousand	\$ Change	% Change
U.S. Corrections & Detention	\$205,509	72.0%	\$191,777	71.9%	\$13,732	7.2%
GEO Care	53,010	66.8%	53,596	69.9%	(586)	(1.1)%
International Services	38,242	94.1%	46,550	93.5%	(8,308)	(17.8)%
Facility Construction & Design	21,148	97.2%	_	— %	21,148	100.0%
Total	\$317,909	74.4%	\$291,923	74.3%	\$25,986	8.9%

Operating expenses consist of those expenses incurred in the operation and management of our correctional, detention and community based facilities.

U.S. Corrections & Detention

The increase in operating expenses for U.S. Corrections & Detention reflects an increase of \$9.9 million due to (i) the activation and intake of detainees at our Alexandria Staging facility in November 2014; (ii) the activation and intake of inmates at our McFarland Female Community Reentry facility; and (iii) the acquisition of the LCS Facilities in February 2015. We also experienced increases of \$5.4 million at certain of our facilities primarily attributable to net population increases, increased transportation services and the variable costs associated with those increases. Additionally, we recorded a decrease to our insurance reserves of approximately \$1.5 million during the three months ended March 31, 2015 which partially offset these increases.

GEO Care

Operating expenses for GEO Care decreased by \$0.6 million during the Three Months Ended March 31, 2015 from the Three Months Ended March 31, 2014 primarily due to the following: (i) decreases that resulted from contract termination and census declines of \$1.9 million; and (ii) the reversal of certain claim reserves in the amount of \$1.8 million which also led to a decrease in operating expenses as a percentage of revenues. These decreases were partially offset by increases of \$3.1 million due to the following: (i) variable costs associated with increases in our electronic monitoring contracts and ISAP program at BI; and (ii) new contracts and program growth at our community based and reentry centers.

International Services

Operating expenses for International Services in the Three Months Ended March 31, 2015 compared to the Three Months Ended March 31, 2014 decreased by \$8.3 million. Contributing to the decrease was the result of foreign exchange rate fluctuations of (\$4.9) million resulting from the strengthening of the U.S. dollar against certain international currencies. Additionally, operating expenses also decreased by \$5.6 million in our United Kingdom subsidiary due to the winding down of our Harmondworth management contract. These decreases were partially offset by an aggregate net increase of \$2.2 million primarily attributable to our Australian subsidiary related to population increases, contractual increases linked to the inflationary index and the provision of additional services under certain contracts.

Facility Construction & Design

The increase in expenses for our Facility Construction & Design services is due to the commencement of design and construction activity for our new Ravenhall Prison Contract executed in September 2014 with the Department of Justice in the State of Victoria, Australia.

Depreciation and Amortization

	2015	% of Segment <u>Revenue</u>	2014 (Do	% of Segment Revenue Ilars in thousan	\$ Change	% Change
U.S. Corrections & Detention	\$16,503	5.8%	\$16,128	6.0%	\$ 375	2.3%
GEO Care	7,840	9.9%	7,355	9.6%	485	6.6%
International Services	597	1.5%	659	1.3%	(62)	(9.4)%
Facility Construction & Design		— %		_		— %
Total	\$24,940	5.8%	\$24,142	6.1%	\$ 798	3.3%

U.S. Corrections & Detention

U.S. Corrections & Detention depreciation and amortization expense increased slightly in the Three Months Ended March 31, 2015 compared to the Three Months Ended March 31, 2014 primarily due to additional depreciation and amortization related to the acquisition of the LCS Facilities in February 2015. Refer to Note 2 - Business Combinations of the Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part I, Item 1 of this quarterly report on Form 10-Q.

GEO Care

GEO Care depreciation and amortization expense increased slightly in the Three Months Ended March 31, 2015 compared to the Three Months Ended March 31, 2014 primarily due to renovations made at several of our facilities.

International Services

Depreciation and amortization expense was fairly consistent in the Three Months Ended March 31, 2015 compared to the Three Months Ended March 31, 2014 as there were no significant additions during 2014 or 2015 at our international subsidiaries.

Other Unallocated Operating Expenses

	2015	% of Revenue	2015	% of Revenue	\$ Change	% Change
			(Do	llars in thousa	nds)	
General and Administrative Expenses	\$31.848	7.5%	\$28,502	7.2%	\$ 3.346	11.7%

General and administrative expenses comprise substantially all of our other unallocated operating expenses primarily including corporate management salaries and benefits, professional fees and other administrative expenses. The increase in general and administrative expenses in the Three Months Ended March 31, 2015 compared to the Three Months Ended March 31, 2014 was primarily attributable to nonrecurring professional fees of \$2.2 million incurred in connection with our acquisition of the LCS Facilities in February 2015.

Non Operating Expenses

Interest Income and Interest Expense

		% of		% of		
	2015	Revenue	2014	Revenue	\$ Change	% Change
			(Dol	llars in thousa	ıds)	
Interest Income	\$ 2,073	0.5%	\$ 732	0.2%	\$ 1,341	183.2%
Interest Expense	\$24,646	5.8%	\$20,652	5.3%	\$ 3,994	19.3%

Interest income increased in the Three Months Ended March 31, 2015 compared to the Three Months Ended March 31, 2014 primarily due to interest income earned on our contract receivable related to our prison project in Ravenhall, Australia. Refer to Note 12 - Business Segments and Geographical Information of the Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Interest expense increased in the Three Months Ended March 31, 2015 compared to the Three Months Ended March 31, 2014 primarily due to construction loan interest related to our prison project in Ravenhall, Australia as well as additional Revolver interest incurred in connection with our acquisition of the LCS Facilities. Refer to Note 10 - Debt of the Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

Income Tax Provision

	2015	Effective Rate	2014	Effective Rate	\$ Change	% Change
		' <u></u>		(Dollars in thousands	s)	
Income Taxes	\$2,828	9.4%	\$2,138	7.5%	\$ 690	32.3%

The provision for income taxes during the Three Months Ended March 31, 2015 increased by \$0.7 million compared to the Three Months Ended March 31, 2014 and the effective tax rate increased from 7.5% to 9.4%. As a REIT, we are required to distribute at least 90% of our taxable income to shareholders and in turn are allowed a deduction for the distribution at the REIT level. Our wholly-owned taxable REIT subsidiaries continue to be fully subject to federal, state and foreign income taxes, as applicable. As a result of incremental business profitability in our taxable REIT subsidiaries, or TRS, our estimated composition of taxable income changed resulting in an increase in our estimated annual effective tax rate. We estimate our annual effective tax rate to be approximately 10% exclusive of any non-recurring items.

Equity in Earnings of Affiliates, net of Income Tax Provision

	2015	% of <u>Revenue</u>	2014 (Do	% of Revenue dlars in thousan	 ange	% Change
Equity in Earnings of Affiliates	\$1,485	0.3%	\$1,484	0.4%	\$ 1	0.1%

Equity in earnings of affiliates, presented net of income taxes, represents the earnings of SACS and GEOAmey, respectively. Overall, equity in earnings of affiliates during the Three Months Ended March 31, 2015 compared to the Three Months Ended March 31, 2014 was relatively consistent as a result of consistent performance by SACS and GEOAmey during the periods.

Financial Condition

Capital Requirements

Our current cash requirements consist of amounts needed for working capital, distributions of our REIT taxable income in order to maintain our REIT qualification, debt service, supply purchases, investments in joint ventures, and capital expenditures related to either the development of new correctional, detention and reentry facilities, or the maintenance of existing facilities. In addition, some of our management contracts require us to make substantial initial expenditures of cash in connection with opening or renovating a facility. Generally, these initial expenditures are subsequently fully or partially recoverable as pass- through costs or are billable as a component of the per diem rates or monthly fixed fees to the contracting agency over the original term of the contract. In connection with GEOAmey, our joint venture in the United Kingdom, we and our joint venture partner have each provided a line of credit of £12 million, or \$20.5 million, based on exchange rates as of March 31, 2015, for GEOAmey's operations. As of March 31, 2015, \$15.6 million was outstanding.

We currently have contractual commitments for a number of projects using Company financing. We estimate that the cost of these existing capital projects will be \$252.1 million of which \$86.1 million was spent through the Three Months Ended March 31, 2015 2015. We estimate that the remaining capital requirements related to these capital projects will be \$166.0 million which will be spent through 2017. Included in these commitments is a contractual commitment to provide a capital contribution towards the design and construction of a prison project in Ravenhall, a locality near Melbourne, Australia, in the amount of AUD 115 million, or \$88.4 million, based on exchange rates as of March 31, 2015. This capital contribution is expected to be made in January 2017. Additionally, in connection with the Ravenhall Prison Project, the Company has a contractual commitment for construction of the facility and has entered into a syndicated facility agreement with National Australia Bank Limited to provide funding for the project up to AUD 791.0 million, or \$608.4 million, based on exchange rates as of March 31, 2015.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Indebtedness

On August 27, 2014, we executed a second amended and restated credit agreement by and among us and GEO Corrections Holdings, Inc., as Borrowers, BNP Paribas, as Administrative Agent, and the lenders who are, or may from time to time become, a party thereto (the "Credit Agreement").

The Credit Agreement evidences a credit facility (the "Credit Facility") consisting of a \$296.3 million term loan (the "Term Loan") bearing interest at LIBOR plus 2.50% (with a LIBOR floor of .75%), and a \$700.0 million revolving credit facility (the "Revolver") initially bearing interest at LIBOR plus 2.25% (with no LIBOR floor) together with AUD 225 million available solely for the issuance of financial letters of credit and performance letters of credit, in each case denominated in Australian Dollars (the "Australian LC Facility"). At March 31, 2015, we had approximately AUD 214 million in letters of credit outstanding under the Australian LC Facility in connection with certain performance guarantees related to a prison project in Ravenhall, Australia. Amounts to be borrowed by us under the Credit Agreement are subject to the satisfaction of customary conditions to borrowing. The Revolver component is scheduled to mature on August 27, 2019 and the Term Loan component is scheduled to mature on April 3, 2020.

The Credit Agreement contains certain customary representations and warranties, and certain customary covenants that restrict our ability to, among other things (i) create, incur or assume any indebtedness, (ii) create, incur, assume or permit liens, (iii) make loans and investments, (iv) engage in mergers, acquisitions and asset sales, (v) make certain restricted payments, (vi) issue, sell or otherwise dispose of capital stock, (vii) engage in transactions with affiliates, (viii) allow the total leverage ratio to exceed 5.75 to 1.00, allow the senior secured leverage ratio to exceed 3.50 to 1.00 or allow the interest coverage ratio to be less than 3.00 to 1.00, (ix) cancel, forgive, make any voluntary or optional payment or prepayment on, or redeem or acquire for value any senior notes, except as permitted, (x) alter the business we conduct, and (xi) materially impair our lenders' security interests in the collateral for its loans. The restricted payments covenant remains consistent with our election to be treated as a real estate investment trust under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, effective as of January 1, 2013.

Events of default under the Credit Agreement include, but are not limited to, (i) our failure to pay principal or interest when due, (ii) our material breach of any representation or warranty, (iii) covenant defaults, (iv) liquidation, reorganization or other relief relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, (v) cross default under certain other material indebtedness, (vi) unsatisfied final judgments over a specified threshold, (vii) certain material environmental liability claims which have been asserted against us, and (viii) a change in control. We were in compliance with all of the covenants of the Credit Agreement as of March 31, 2015.

As of March 31, 2015, we had \$294.8 million in aggregate borrowings outstanding, net of discount, under the Term Loan and \$403.0 million in borrowings under the Revolver, and approximately \$59.0 million in letters of credit which left \$238.0 million in additional borrowing capacity under the Revolver. Refer to Note 10 - Debt of the Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for further discussion.

On September 25, 2014, we completed an offering of \$250.0 million aggregate principal amount of senior unsecured notes. The notes will mature on October 15, 2024 and have a coupon rate and yield to maturity of 5.875%. Interest is payable semi- annually in cash in arrears on April 15 and October 15, which commenced on April 15, 2015. The 5.875% Senior Notes are guaranteed on a senior unsecured basis by all our restricted subsidiaries that guarantee obligations. The 5.875% Senior Notes rank equally in right of payment with any unsecured, unsubordinated indebtedness of the Company and the guarantors, including our 6.625% senior notes due 2021, the 5.7/8% senior notes due 2022, the 5.125% senior notes due 2023, and the

guarantors' guarantees thereof, senior in right of payment to any future indebtedness of ours and the guarantors that is expressly subordinated to the 5.875% Senior Notes and the guarantees, effectively junior to any secured indebtedness of ours and the guarantors, including indebtedness under our senior credit facility, to the extent of the value of the assets securing such indebtedness, and structurally junior to all obligations of our subsidiaries that are not guarantors. The sale of the 5.875% Senior Notes was registered under our automatic shelf registration statement on Form S-3 filed on September 12, 2014. Refer to Note 10 - Debt of the Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for further discussion.

In connection with a new design and build prison project agreement in Australia with the State of Victoria, in September 2014, we entered into a syndicated facility agreement (the "Construction Facility") with National Australia Bank Limited to provide debt financing for construction of the project. The Construction Facility provides for non-recourse funding up to AUD 791.0 million, or \$608.4 million, based on exchange rates as of March 31, 2015. Construction draws will be funded throughout the project according to a fixed utilization schedule as defined in the syndicated facility agreement. The term of the Construction Facility is through October 2019 and bears interest at a variable rate quoted by certain Australian banks plus 200 basis points. After October 2019, the Construction Facility will be converted to a term loan with payments due quarterly beginning in 2019 through 2041. In accordance with the terms of the Construction Facility, upon completion and commercial acceptance of the prison, in accordance with the prison contract, the State will make a lump sum payment of AUD 310 million, or \$238.4 million, based on exchange rates as of March 31, 2015, towards a portion of the outstanding principal. The remaining outstanding principal balance will be repaid over the term of the operating agreement. As of March 31, 2015, \$107.7 million was outstanding under the Construction Facility. We also entered into interest rate swap and interest rate cap agreements related to our non-recourse debt in connection with the project. Refer to Note 9 - Derivative Financial Instruments of the Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for further discussion.

On October 3, 2013, we completed an offering of \$250.0 million aggregate principal amount of 57_8 % Senior Notes. The 57_8 % Senior Notes will mature on January 15, 2022 and have a coupon rate and yield to maturity of 57_8 % Interest is payable semi- annually on January 15 and July 15 each year, which commenced on January 15, 2014. The proceeds received from the 57_8 % Senior Notes were used, together with cash on hand, to fund the repurchase, redemption or other discharge of our 73/4% Senior Notes and to pay related transaction fees and expenses. Refer to Note 10 - Debt of the Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for further discussion.

On March 19, 2013, we completed an offering of \$300.0 million aggregate principal amount of 5.125% Senior Notes. The 5.125% Senior Notes will mature on April 1, 2023 and have a coupon rate and yield to maturity of 5.125%. Interest is payable semi-annually on April 1 and October 1 each year, which commenced on October 1, 2013. A portion of the proceeds received from the 5.125% Senior Notes were used on the date of the financing to repay the prior revolver credit draws outstanding under the prior senior credit facility. Refer to Note 10 - Debt of the Notes to Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for further discussion.

In February 2011, we completed an offering of \$300.0 million in aggregate principal amount of our 6.625% Senior Notes. The 6.625% Senior Notes will mature on February 15, 2021 and have a coupon rate and yield to maturity of 6.625%. Interest is payable semi-annually in arrears on February 15 and August 15, which commenced on August 15, 2011. The proceeds received from the 6.625% Senior Notes were used together with \$150.0 million of borrowing under our senior credit facility at the time to fund the acquisition of BI and pay related costs.

In addition to the debt outstanding under the Credit Facility, the 6.625% Senior Notes, the 5.125% Senior Notes, the 5.7% Senior Notes and 5.875% Senior Notes discussed above, we also have significant debt obligations which, although these obligations are non-recourse to us, require cash expenditures for debt service. Our significant debt obligations could have material consequences. See "Risk Factors-Risks Related to Our High Level of Indebtedness" in Item 1A of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014. We are exposed to various commitments and contingencies which may have a material adverse effect on our liquidity. We also have guaranteed certain obligations for certain of our international subsidiaries. These non-recourse obligations, commitments and contingencies and guarantees are further discussed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014.

We consider opportunities for future business and/or asset acquisitions as we deem appropriate when market conditions present opportunities. If we are successful in our pursuit of any new projects, our cash on hand, cash flows from operations and borrowings under the existing Credit Facility may not provide sufficient liquidity to meet our capital needs and we could be forced to seek additional financing or refinance our existing indebtedness. There can be no assurance that any such financing or refinancing would be available to us on terms equal to or more favorable than our current financing terms, or at all. In the future, our access to capital and ability to compete for future capital intensive projects will also be dependent upon, among

other things, our ability to meet certain financial covenants in the indenture governing the 6.625% Senior Notes, the indenture governing the 5.125% Senior Notes, the indenture governing the 5.875% Senior Notes and our Credit Agreement. A substantial decline in our financial performance could limit our access to capital pursuant to these covenants and have a material adverse affect on our liquidity and capital resources and, as a result, on our financial condition and results of operations. In addition to these foregoing potential constraints on our capital, a number of state government agencies have been suffering from budget deficits and liquidity issues. While we expect to be in compliance with our debt covenants, if these constraints were to intensify, our liquidity could be materially adversely impacted as could our ability to remain in compliance with these debt covenants.

Prospectus Supplement

On May 8, 2013, the Company filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission a prospectus supplement related to the offer and sale from time to time of the Company's common stock at an aggregate offering price of up to \$100.0 million through sales agents. Sales of shares of the Company's common stock under the prospectus supplement and equity distribution agreements entered into with the sales agents, if any, may be made in negotiated transactions or transactions that are deemed to be "at the market" offerings as defined in Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933. On July 18, 2014, the Company filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission a post-effective amendment to its shelf registration statement on Form S-3 (pursuant to which the prospectus supplement had been filed) as a result of the merger of the Company into GEO REIT effective June 27, 2014. During the year ended December 31, 2014, there were approximately 1.5 million shares of common stock sold under the prospectus supplement for net proceeds of \$54.7 million. There were no shares of the Company's common stock sold under the prospectus supplement during the three months ended March 31, 2015.

In September 2014, the Company filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission a new shelf registration statement on Form S-3. On November 10, 2014, in connection with the new shelf registration, the Company filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission a new prospectus supplement related to the offer and sale from time to time of the Company's common stock at an aggregate offering price of up to \$150.0 million through sales agents. Sales of shares of the Company's common stock under the prospectus supplement and the equity distribution agreements entered into with the sales agents, if any, may be made in negotiated transactions or transactions that are deemed to be "at the market" offerings as defined in Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933. There were no shares of the Company's stock issued under this prospectus supplement during the Three Months Ended March 31, 2015.

As a REIT, we are subject to a number of organizational and operational requirements, including a requirement that we annually distribute to our shareholders an amount equal to at least 90% of our REIT taxable income (determined before the deduction for dividends paid and by excluding any net capital gain). Generally, we expect to distribute all or substantially all of our REIT taxable income so as not to be subject to the income or excise tax on undistributed REIT taxable income. The amount, timing and frequency of distributions will be at the sole discretion of our Board of Directors and will be based upon various factors.

We plan to fund all of our capital needs, including distributions of our REIT taxable income in order to maintain our REIT qualification, and capital expenditures, from cash on hand, cash from operations, borrowings under our Credit Facility and any other financings which our management and Board of Directors, in their discretion, may consummate. Currently, our primary source of liquidity to meet these requirements is cash flow from operations and borrowings under the \$700.0 million Revolver. Our management believes that cash on hand, cash flows from operations and availability under our Credit Facility will be adequate to support our capital requirements for 2015 as disclosed under "Capital Requirements" above.

Executive Retirement Agreement

We have a non-qualified deferred compensation agreement with our Chief Executive Officer ("CEO"). The current agreement, as amended, provides for a lump sum payment upon retirement, no sooner than age 55. As of January 1, 2013, our CEO had reached age 55 and was eligible to receive the payment upon retirement. If our CEO had retired as of March 31, 2015, we would have had to pay him \$7.1 million. Based on our current capitalization, we do not believe that making this payment would materially adversely impact our liquidity.

Cash Flow

Cash and cash equivalents as of March 31, 2015 was \$69.0 million, compared to \$41.3 million as of December 31, 2014.

Operating Activities

Cash provided by operating activities amounted to \$60.7 million in the Three Months Ended March 31, 2015 versus cash provided by operating activities of \$63.2 million in the Three Months Ended March 31, 2014. Cash provided by operating activities during the Three Months Ended March 31, 2015 was positively impacted by increases in net income attributable to GEO, non-cash expenses such as depreciation and amortization, amortization of debt issuance costs, and stock-based compensation expense. Equity in earnings of affiliates negatively impacted cash. Changes in accounts receivable, prepaid expenses and other assets decreased in total by \$13.0 million, representing a positive impact on cash. The decrease was primarily driven by the timing of billings and collections. Changes in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities increased by \$16.8 million which positively impacted cash. The increase was primarily driven by increased operations at several new facilities and/or contracts which were activated during 2015 as well as the timing of payments.

Additionally, cash provided by operating activities in the three months ended March 31, 2015 was negatively impacted by an increase in changes in contract receivable of \$24.8 million. This increase relates to costs incurred and estimated earnings in excess of billings related to the prison project in Ravenhall, Australia. The contract receivable is expected to grow as construction services are performed and will continue to have a negative impact on cash from operating activities until the balance is ultimately settled with the State. In accordance with the contract, the project will not be billed out until completion and commercial acceptance of the facility.

Cash provided by operating activities in the three months ended March 31, 2014 was positively impacted by increases in net income attributable to GEO, non-cash expenses such as depreciation and amortization, amortization of debt issuance costs and stock-based compensation expense. Equity in earnings of affiliates negatively impacted cash. Changes in accounts receivable, prepaid expenses and other assets increased by \$7.2 million, representing a negative impact on cash. The increase was primarily driven by the timing of billings and collections. Changes in accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities increased by \$15.8 million which positively impacted cash. The increase was primarily due to a prepayment from GEO Care LLC of \$6.5 million in connection with the termination of its services and license agreement as well as the timing of payments.

Investing Activities

Cash used in investing activities of \$349.0 million during the Three Months Ended March 31, 2015 was primarily the result of our business acquisition of the LCS Facilities in the amount of \$307.4 million and capital expenditures of \$34.2 million. Cash used in investing activities during the Three Months Ended March 31, 2014 of \$33.6 million was primarily the result of capital expenditures of \$17.5 million and cash paid for a business acquisition in the amount of \$13.0 million.

Financing Activities

Cash provided by financing activities during the Three Months Ended March 31, 2015 amounted to \$317.2 million compared to cash used in financing activities of \$44.6 million during the Three Months Ended March 31, 2014. Cash provided by financing activities during the three months ended March 31, 2015 was primarily the result of proceeds from long-term debt of \$371.0 million under our Revolver which was primarily used to fund the acquisition of the LCS Facilities. Additionally, we had proceeds from non-recourse debt of \$33.0 million related to construction draws for our prison project in Ravenhall, Australia. These increases were partially offset by a decrease for dividends paid of \$46.0 million and payments on long-term debt of \$38.8 million. Cash used in financing activities during the three months ended March 31, 2014 reflects proceeds from long- term debt of \$103.0 million under our Revolver and proceeds from the exercise of stock options of 3.3 million. These increases were offset by payments of \$110.4 million on indebtedness and dividends paid of \$41.1 million.

Non-GAAP Measures

Funds from Operations ("FFO") is a widely accepted supplemental non-GAAP measure utilized to evaluate the operating performance of real estate companies. It is defined in accordance with the standards established by the National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts, or NAREIT, which defines FFO as net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders (computed in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles), excluding real estate related depreciation and amortization, excluding gains and losses from the cumulative effects of accounting changes, extraordinary items and sales of properties, and including adjustments for unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures.

We also present Normalized Funds From Operations, or Normalized FFO, and Adjusted Funds from Operations, or AFFO, supplemental non-GAAP financial measures of real estate companies' operating performances.

Normalized FFO is defined as FFO adjusted for certain items which by their nature are not comparable from period to period or that tend to obscure the Company's actual operating performance, including for the periods presented M&A related expenses, net of tax.

AFFO is defined as Normalized FFO adjusted by adding non-cash expenses such as non-real estate related depreciation and amortization, stock based compensation, the amortization of debt costs and other non-cash interest, and non-cash mark-to- market adjustments for derivative instruments and by subtracting recurring consolidated maintenance capital expenditures.

Because of the unique design, structure and use of our correctional facilities, we believe that assessing the performance of our correctional facilities without the impact of depreciation or amortization is useful and meaningful to investors. Although NAREIT has published its definition of FFO, companies often modify this definition as they seek to provide financial measures that meaningfully reflect their distinctive operations. We have modified FFO to derive Normalized FFO and AFFO that meaningfully reflect our operations. Our assessment of our operations is focused on long-term sustainability. The adjustments we make to derive the non-GAAP measures of Normalized FFO and AFFO exclude items which may cause short-term fluctuations in income from continuing operations but have no impact on our cash flows, or we do not consider them to be fundamental attributes or the primary drivers of our business plan and they do not affect our overall long-term operating performance.

We may make adjustments to FFO from time to time for certain other income and expenses that do not reflect a necessary component of our operational performance on the basis discussed above, even though such items may require cash settlement. Because FFO, Normalized FFO and AFFO exclude depreciation and amortization unique to real estate as well as non- operational items and certain other charges that are highly variable from year to year, they provide our investors with performance measures that reflect the impact to operations from trends in occupancy rates, per diem rates, operating costs and interest costs, providing a perspective not immediately apparent from income from continuing operations. We believe the presentation of FFO, Normalized FFO and AFFO provide useful information to investors as they provide an indication of our ability to fund capital expenditures and expand our business. FFO, Normalized FFO and AFFO provide disclosure on the same basis as that used by our management and provide consistency in our financial reporting, facilitate internal and external comparisons of our historical operating performance and our business units and provide continuity to investors for comparability purposes. Additionally, FFO, Normalized FFO and AFFO are widely recognized measures in our industry as a real estate investment trust.

Our reconciliation of net income attributable to The GEO Group, Inc. to FFO, Normalized FFO and AFFO for the three months ended March 31, 2015 and 2014 is as follows (in thousands):

	Three Mon	ths Ended
	March 31, 2015	March 31, 2014
Funds From Operations		
Net income attributable to The GEO Group, Inc.	\$ 28,777	\$ 27,990
Depreciation real estate assets	13,885	13,381
NAREIT Defined FFO	42,662	41,371
M&A related expenses, net of tax	1,559	_
Normalized Funds from Operations	\$ 44,221	\$ 41,371
Non-real estate related depreciation and amortization	11,055	10,761
Consolidated maintenance capital expenditures	(6,661)	(4,420)
Stock-based compensation expense	2,621	2,466
Amortization of debt costs and other non-cash interest	1,506	1,224
Non-Cash Mark-to-Market Adjustment - Derivative Instruments	189	_
Adjusted Funds from Operations	\$ 52,931	\$ 51,402

Outlook

The following discussion contains statements that are not historical statements and, therefore, constitute forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Our forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those stated or implied in the forward-looking statements. Please refer to "Part I - Item 1A. Risk Factors" and the "Forward Looking Statements - Safe Harbor" sections in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014, as well as the "Forward-Looking Statements - Safe Harbor" section and other disclosures contained in this Form 10-Q for further discussion on forward-looking statements and the risks and other factors that could prevent us from achieving our goals and cause the assumptions underlying the forward-looking statements and the actual results to differ materially from those expressed in or implied by those forward-looking statements.

Revenue

Domestically, we continue to pursue a number of opportunities for corrections and detention facilities. Continued need for corrections facilities in various states and the need for bed space at the federal level are two of the factors that have contributed to these opportunities.

During 2015, we expect to reactivate two existing company-owned facilities. In March of 2015, we began the intake process at the company-owned, 400-bed Mesa Verde Detention Facility located in Bakersfield, California under an intergovernmental agreement between the City of MacFarland, California and ICE. During the second quarter of 2015, we expect to begin the intake process at the company-owned, 1,940-bed Great Plains Correctional Facility in Hinton, Oklahoma under a new 10-year contract with the Federal Bureau of Prisons, which we announced in late December 2014. The reactivation of these company-owned assets is expected to generate more than \$50 million in annualized revenues. Additionally, we expect to complete a 640- bed expansion to the company-owned, 1,300-bed Adelanto Detention Facility in California in the third quarter of 2015 under an amendment to the existing contract with the City of Adelanto which in turn contracts with ICE for the housing of immigration detainees at the facility. We will finance, develop, and manage the \$45 million expansion, which will increase the facility's total capacity to 1,940 beds and is expected to generate approximately \$21 million in additional annualized revenues and returns on investment consistent with our company-owned facilities. Finally, we expect to complete the development of a 626-bed

expansion to the company-owned, 532-bed Karnes County Residential Center in Texas by the end of 2015 under an amendment to our existing contract with Karnes County, Texas and the existing intergovernmental service agreement between Karnes County and ICE. We will finance, develop, and manage the \$36 million expansion, which will increase the facility's total capacity to 1,158 beds. The expansion is expected to generate approximately \$20 million in additional annualized revenues and returns on investment consistent with our company-owned facilities.

We continue to be encouraged by opportunities as discussed above; however any positive trends may, to some extent, be adversely impacted by government budgetary constraints in the future. While state finances overall are stable and revenue collections are meeting expectations in a majority of states, at least 12 states expect a budget shortfall in fiscal year 2015, according to a survey conducted in the fall of 2014 by the National Conference of State Legislatures. As a result of budgetary pressures, state correctional agencies may pursue a number of cost savings initiatives which may include reductions in per diem rates and/or the scope of services provided by private operators. These potential cost savings initiatives could have a material adverse impact on our current operations and/or our ability to pursue new business opportunities. Additionally, if state budgetary constraints, as discussed above, persist or intensify, our state customers' ability to pay us may be impaired and/or we may be forced to renegotiate our management contracts on less favorable terms and our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows could be materially adversely impacted. We plan to actively bid on any new projects that fit our target profile for profitability and operational risk. Although we are pleased with the overall industry outlook, positive trends in the industry may be offset by several factors, including budgetary constraints, unanticipated contract terminations, contract non- renewals, and/or contract re-bids. Although we have historically had a relatively high contract renewal rate, there can be no assurance that we will be able to renew our expiring management contracts on favorable terms, or at all. Also, while we are pleased with our track record in re-bid situations, we cannot assure that we will prevail in any such future situations.

Internationally, we are exploring a number of opportunities in our current markets and will continue to actively bid on any opportunities that fit our target profile for profitability and operational risk. In September 2014, we announced that a consortium led by us and comprised of The GEO Group Australia Pty. Ltd., John Holland Construction and Honeywell signed a contract with the Department of Justice in the State of Victoria for the development and operation of a 1,300-bed capacity prison in Ravenhall, Australia. The Ravenhall facility will be developed under a public-private partnership financing structure with a capital contribution from us of approximately AUD 115 million and we anticipate returns on investment consistent with our company-owned facilities.

With respect to our reentry services, electronic monitoring services, and youth services business conducted through our GEO Care business segment, we are currently pursuing a number of business development opportunities. Relative to opportunities for community-based reentry services, we are working with our existing federal, state, and local correctional clients to leverage new opportunities for both residential reentry facilities as well as non-residential day reporting centers. We continue to expend resources on informing state and local governments about the benefits of public-private partnerships, and we anticipate that there will be new opportunities in the future as those efforts begin to yield results. We believe we are well positioned to capitalize on any suitable opportunities that become available in this area.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses consist of those expenses incurred in the operation and management of our contracts to provide services to our governmental clients. Labor and related cost represented 57.0% of our operating expenses during the three months ended March, 31, 2015. Additional significant operating expenses include food, utilities and inmate medical costs. During the three months ended March 31, 2015, operating expenses totaled 74.4% of our consolidated revenues. Our operating expenses as a percentage of revenues in 2015 will be impacted by the opening of any new or existing idle facilities as a result of the cost of transitioning and/or start-up operations related to a facility opening. During 2015, we will incur carrying costs for facilities that are currently vacant. As of March 31, 2015, our worldwide operations include the management and/or ownership of approximately 86,000 beds at 106 correctional, detention, reentry, youth services and community-based facilities including idle facilities, and also include the provision of monitoring of approximately 70,000 offenders in a community-based environment on behalf of approximately 900 federal, state and local correctional agencies located in all 50 states.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of corporate management salaries and benefits, professional fees and other administrative expenses. During the three months ended March 31, 2015, general and administrative expenses totaled 7.5% of our consolidated revenues. We expect general and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenues in 2015 to

remain consistent or decrease as a result of cost savings initiatives and decreases in nonrecurring costs related to our REIT conversion. We expect business development costs to remain consistent or increase slightly as we pursue additional business development opportunities in all of our business lines. We also plan to continue expending resources from time to time on the evaluation of potential acquisition targets.

Idle Facilities

We are currently marketing approximately 4,386 vacant beds at five of our idle facilities to potential customers. The annual carrying cost of idle facilities in 2015 is estimated to be \$17.0 million, including depreciation expense of \$3.0 million. As of March 31, 2015, these facilities had a net book value of \$103.9 million. We currently do not have any firm commitment or agreement in place to activate these facilities. Historically, some facilities have been idle for multiple years before they received a new contract award. Currently, our North Lake Correctional Facility located in Baldwin, Michigan has been idle the longest of our idle facility inventory. On April 28, 2015, we announced that we have begun to mobilize our North Lake Correctional facility. The decision to mobilize the facility was made as a result of the current demand for out-of-state correctional bed space. The mobilization effort will entail hiring staff and purchasing supplies in order to prepare the previously idle facility to receive inmates. We currently do not have a contract to house inmates at the facility, but we believe that we may secure one or more contracts in the near future and we expect we may need to activate the facility in the next sixty to ninety days. These idle facilities are included in the U.S. Corrections & Detention segment. The per diem rates that we charge our clients often vary by contract across our portfolio. However, if all of these idle facilities were to be activated using our U.S. Corrections & Detention average per diem rate in 2015 (calculated as the U.S. Corrections & Detention facilities for 2015, we would expect to receive incremental annualized revenue of approximately \$90 million and an annualized increase in earnings per share of approximately \$0.20 to \$0.25 per share based on our average U.S. Corrections and Detention operating margin.

ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

Interest Rate Risk

We are exposed to market risks related to changes in interest rates with respect to our Credit Facility. Payments under the Credit Facility are indexed to a variable interest rate. Based on borrowings outstanding under the Credit Facility of \$697.8 million and \$59.0 million in outstanding letters of credit, as of March 31, 2015, for every one percent increase in the average interest rate applicable to the Credit Facility, our total annual interest expense would increase by \$7.0 million.

We have entered into certain interest rate swap arrangements for hedging purposes, fixing the interest rate on our Australian non-recourse debt related to the Fullham facility to 9.7%. We have also entered into certain interest rate swap arrangements for hedging purposes, fixing the interest rates on our Australian non-recourse debt related to our Ravenhall Project to 3.3% during the design and construction phase and 4.2% during the operating phase. The difference between the floating rate and the swap rate on these instruments is recognized in interest expense within the respective entity. Because the interest rates with respect to these instruments are fixed, a hypothetical one percent change in the current interest rate would not have a material impact on our financial condition or results of operations.

Additionally, we invest our cash in a variety of short-term financial instruments to provide a return. The majority of our cash is invested internationally. These instruments generally consist of highly liquid investments with original maturities at the date of purchase of three months or less. While these instruments are subject to interest rate risk, a hypothetical 100 basis point increase or decrease in market interest rates would not have a material impact on our financial condition or results of operations.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

We are also exposed to market risks related to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates between the U.S. dollar, and the Australian dollar, the Canadian dollar, the South African Rand and the British Pound currency exchange rates. Based upon our foreign currency exchange rate exposure at March 31, 2015, every 10 percent change in historical currency rates would have approximately a \$2.7 million effect on our financial position and approximately a \$0.2 million impact on our results of operations during the Three Months Ended March 31, 2015.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.

(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures.

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, referred to as the Exchange Act), as of the end of the period covered by this report. On the basis of this review, our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, has concluded that as of the end of the period covered by this report, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to give reasonable assurance that the information required to be disclosed in our reports filed with the SEC, under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC, and to ensure that the information required to be disclosed in the reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, in a manner that allows timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

It should be noted that the effectiveness of our system of disclosure controls and procedures is subject to certain limitations inherent in any system of disclosure controls and procedures, including the exercise of judgment in designing, implementing and evaluating the controls and procedures, the assumptions used in identifying the likelihood of future events, and the inability to eliminate misconduct completely. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that our disclosure controls and procedures will detect all errors or fraud. As a result, by its nature, our system of disclosure controls and procedures can provide only reasonable assurance regarding management's control objectives.

(b) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.

Our management is responsible to report any changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the period to which this report relates that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. Management believes that there have not been any changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the period to which this report relates that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

PART II - OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

The information required herein is incorporated by reference from Note 11 - Commitments, Contingencies and Other in the Notes to the Unaudited Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part I, Item 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS.

Item 1A of Part I of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014 includes a detailed discussion of the risk factors that could materially affect our business, financial condition or future prospects.

ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS.

			Total Number of Shares Purchased as Part of Publicly	Value o	timate Dollar f Shares that Be Purchased
Period	Total Number of Shares Purchased (1)	age Price per Share	Announced Plans or Programs	Under	the Plans or ograms
January 1, 2015 - January 31, 2015		\$ 		\$	
February 1, 2015 - February 28, 2015	_	\$ _	_	\$	_
March 1, 2015 - March 31, 2015	25,012	\$ 44.05	_	\$	_

(1) The Company withheld these shares through net share settlements to satisfy minimum statutory tax withholding requirements upon vesting of shares of restricted stock held by employees. These purchases were not made as part of a publicly announced plan or program.

ITEM 3. DEFAULTS UPON SENIOR SECURITIES.

Not applicable.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.

ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION.

Not applicable.

ITEM 6. EXHIBITS.

(A) Exhibits

2.1	Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of January 25, 2015, entered into among The GEO Group, Inc. ("GEO"), Correctional Properties, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and subsidiary of GEO ("Correctional Properties," and collectively with GEO, the "Purchaser"), LCS Corrections Services, Inc. ("LCS Corrections Services"), LCS-Hidalgo, LLC ("LCS-Hidalgo"), LCS-Caldwell, LLC ("LCS-Caldwell"), LCS-Basile, LLC ("LCS-Basile"), LCS-Pine Prairie, LLC ("LCS-Pine"), LCS-Brooks, LLC ("LCS-Brooks"), LCS-Nueces, LLC ("LCS-Nueces"), LCS-Tensas, LLC ("LCS-Tensas"), Perry Detention Services, LLC ("Perry" and collectively with LCS Corrections Services, LCS-Hidalgo, LCS-Caldwell, LCS-Basile, LCS Pine, LCS-Brooks, LCS-Nueces and LCS-Tensas, the "Companies"), and the equity holders of the Companies named in the Agreement (the "Company Equityholders," and collectively with the "Companies," the "Sellers").*
31.1	SECTION 302 CEO Certification.
31.2	SECTION 302 CFO Certification.
32.1	SECTION 906 CEO Certification.
32.2	SECTION 906 CFO Certification.

101.INS XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
 101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase
 101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase
 101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase

^{*} Portions of this exhibit have been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to a request for confidential treatment. Additionally, the exhibits and schedules to the Asset Purchase Agreement have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. We agree to furnish supplementally to the SEC, upon request, a copy of the omitted exhibits and schedule.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

THE GEO GROUP, INC.

Date: May 6, 2015

/s/ Brian R. Evans

Brian R. Evans Senior Vice President & Chief Financial Officer (duly authorized officer and principal financial officer) ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT**

BY AND AMONG

THE GEO GROUP, INC.,

CORRECTIONAL PROPERTIES, LLC,

LCS CORRECTIONS SERVICES, INC.,

LCS-HIDALGO, LLC,

LCS-CALDWELL, LLC,

LCS-BASILE, LLC,

LCS-PINE PRAIRIE, LLC,

LCS-BROOKS, LLC,

LCS-NUECES, LLC,

LCS-TENSAS, LLC,

PERRY DETENTION SERVICES, LLC

and

THE EQUITYHOLDERS OF EACH COMPANY SET FORTH IN SCHEDULE 1 HERETO

January 25, 2015

^{**} Certain portions of the Asset Purchase Agreement have been omitted based upon a request for confidential treatment filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. The non-public information has been filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE I	PURCHASE AND SALE	1
Section 1.1	Purchase and Sale	1
Section 1.2	Transaction Consideration	7
Section 1.3	Closing Date	7
Section 1.4	Closing Date Payments	7
Section 1.5	Earnout Consideration	9
Section 1.6	Net Working Capital Adjustment	10
Section 1.7	Allocation of Transaction Consideration	11
ARTICLE II	REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANIES AND THE ACTIVE EQUITY HOLDERS	12
Section 2.1	Organization and Related Matters	12
Section 2.2	Authorization and Enforceability	12
Section 2.3	Books and Records	13
Section 2.4	Capitalization	13
Section 2.5	Conflicts; Consents of Third Parties	13
Section 2.6	Financial Statements; Occupancy Reports	14
Section 2.7	No Undisclosed Liabilities	14
Section 2.8	Absence of Certain Developments	14
Section 2.9	Taxes	17
Section 2.10	Real Property	19
Section 2.11	Tangible Personal Property; Title; Sufficiency of Assets	22
Section 2.12	Intellectual Property	22
Section 2.13	Contracts	23
Section 2.14	Employee Benefits	23
Section 2.15	Labor	26
Section 2.16	Litigation	28
Section 2.17	Compliance with Laws; Permits	28
Section 2.18	Environmental Matters	30
Section 2.19	Insurance	31
Section 2.20	Receivables; Payables	31
Section 2.21	Customers and Suppliers	31
Section 2.22	Related Party Transactions	32
Section 2.23	Brokers Fees and Other Arrangements	32
Section 2.24	Absence of Certain Business Practices	33
Section 2.25	Business Continuity	33
Section 2.26	Bulk Sales; Solvency	33
Section 2.27	Bank Accounts; Powers of Attorney	33
Section 2.28	Activities of Gottlieb & Gottlieb, P.A	33
Section 2.29	No Other Representations, Disclaimer	34

i

RTICLE III	REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PURCHASER	34
Section 3.1	Organization	34
Section 3.2	Authorization and Enforceability	34
Section 3.3	Conflicts; Consent of Third Parties	34
Section 3.4	Brokers Fees	35
Section 3.5	No Proceedings	35
Section 3.6	Sufficient Transaction Consideration	35
Section 3.7	No Other Representations	35
RTICLE IV	COVENANTS	35
Section 4.1	Commercially Reasonable Efforts; Notices and Consents	35
Section 4.2	Access to Information; Financial Statements	36
Section 4.3	Operation of Business	37
Section 4.4	Further Assurances; Litigation Support	39
Section 4.5	Names and Logos	40
Section 4.6	Mail; Payments; Receivables; Bank Accounts	40
Section 4.7	Public Announcements; Confidentiality	41
Section 4.8	Tax Covenants	41
Section 4.9	Exclusive Dealing	42
Section 4.10	Non-Competition; Non-Solicitation	42
Section 4.11	Employees and Employee Benefits	45
Section 4.12	Tangible Property; Payment of Excluded Liabilities	46
Section 4.13	Employee Restrictive Covenant Agreements	46
Section 4.14	Novation	47
Section 4.15	Title: Survey	47
RTICLE V	CLOSING CONDITIONS	49
Section 5.1	Conditions to Obligation of Purchaser	49
Section 5.2	Conditions to Obligation of Seller Parties	52
RTICLE VI	INDEMNIFICATION	53
Section 6.1	Indemnity Obligations of Seller Parties	53
Section 6.2	Indemnity Obligations of Purchaser	54
Section 6.3	Indemnification Procedures	54
Section 6.4	Expiration of Representations and Warranties	55
Section 6.5	Certain Limitations	56
Section 6.6	Indemnification Payments to Purchaser Indemnitees; Right of Set-Off	56
Section 6.7	Treatment of Indemnification Payments	57
Section 6.8	Right to Indemnification Not Affected by Knowledge or Waiver	57
Section 6.9	Exclusive Remedies	57
Section 6.10	Insurance	57
Section 6.11	Title Policies and Other Insurance	57
Section 6.12	Damages Limitation	58

RTICLE VII	TERMINATION	58
Section 7.1	Termination of Agreement	58
Section 7.1	Effect of Termination	59
Section 7.2	Effect of Termination	33
RTICLE VIII	MISCELLANEOUS	59
Section 8.1	Certain Definitions	59
Section 8.2	Expenses	66
Section 8.3	Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Venue	66
Section 8.4	Entire Agreement; Amendments and Waivers	67
Section 8.5	Section Headings	67
Section 8.6	Notices	67
Section 8.7	Severability	68
Section 8.8	Binding Effect; Assignment; Third-Party Beneficiaries	68
Section 8.9	Counterparts	69
Section 8.10	Remedies Cumulative	69
Section 8.11	Exhibits and Schedules	69
Section 8.12	Interpretation	69
Section 8.13	Arm's Length Negotiations	70
Section 8.14	Construction	70
Section 8.15	Specific Performance	70
Section 8.16	Waiver of Jury Trial	70
Section 8.17	Time of Essence	70
Section 8.18	Appointment of the Representative	70
	•	

SCHEDULES:

Schedule 1: Companies and Company Equityholders
Schedule 2: Closing Date Payment Allocation

EXHIBITS:

Exhibit A: Forms of Bills of Sale, Assignment and Assumption Agreements and Warranty Deeds

Exhibit B: Allocation Schedule

Exhibit C: Form of Loan Payoff Letters
Exhibit D: Form of Consulting Agreement
Exhibit E: Forms of Novation Agreement
Exhibit F: Form of Management Agreement

ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT

THIS ASSET PURCHASE AGREEMENT (this "Agreement"), dated as of January 25, 2015, is by and among LCS Corrections Services, Inc., a Louisiana corporation ("LCS"), LCS-Basile, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company ("Basile"), LCS-Brooks, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company ("Brooks"), LCS-Caldwell, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company ("Caldwell"), LCS-Hidalgo, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company ("Hidalgo"), LCS-Nueces, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company ("Nueces"), LCS-Pine Prairie, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company ("Pine Prairie"), LCS-Tensas, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company ("Tensas"), Perry Detention Services, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company ("Perry") (each of LCS, Basile, Brooks, Caldwell, Hidalgo, Nueces, Pine Prairie, Tensas and Perry, a "Company" and, collectively, the "Companies"), the equity holders of the Companies set forth in Schedule 1 hereto (each, a "Company Equityholder" and collectively, the "Company Equityholders"), the GEO Group, Inc., a Florida corporation ("GEO"), and Correctional Properties, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (together with GEO, "Purchaser"). The Companies and the Company Equityholders are sometimes referred to herein collectively as the "Seller Parties" and each individually as a "Seller Party." Basile, Brooks, Caldwell, Hidalgo, Nueces, Pine Prairie, Tensas and Perry are sometimes herein referred to as the "Facility Entities." Jerry Gottlieb, Richard Gottlieb and Michael LeBlanc are sometimes herein referred to as the "Active Equityholders." Jerry Gottlieb and/or Richard Gottlieb shall act as the representative of each Seller Party in accordance with the terms of Section 8.18 and are herein referred to as the "Seller Parties" Representative." The Seller Parties and Purchaser are sometimes herein referred to collectively as the "Parties" and each individually as a "Party."

WHEREAS, the Company Equityholders collectively own 100% of the issued and outstanding capital stock and limited liability company membership interests, as applicable, of the Companies; and

WHEREAS, the Parties desire for Purchaser to purchase the Purchased Assets and assume the Assumed Liabilities from the Companies in consideration of the Purchase Price, subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, representations and warranties made herein and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which hereby are acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows:

ARTICLE I PURCHASE AND SALE

Section 1.1 Purchase and Sale.

(a) <u>Sale of Assets</u>. On and subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, at the closing of the transactions contemplated hereby (the "<u>Closing</u>"), each Company shall sell, assign, transfer, convey, and deliver to Purchaser, and Purchaser shall purchase and acquire from each Company, all right, title, and interest of each such Company in and to all of its assets, properties and rights of whatever kind, tangible and intangible, whether

accrued, contingent or otherwise, other than the Excluded Assets (collectively, the "Purchased Assets"), including the following Purchased Assets:

- (i) the fee simple interest in and to the Owned Real Properties, as all such real property is more fully described on <u>Section 2.10(a) of the</u> Disclosure Schedule;
- (ii) all utility arrangements, and other agreements, instruments, certificates, or documents including any and all rights and benefits under the Permitted Liens, relating to the ownership, operation, maintenance, use, or occupancy of the Owned Real Properties;
- (iii) all computer hardware, furniture, furnishings, signage, vehicles, equipment, machinery, tooling, parts and other tangible personal property;
- (iv) all rights under or related to the Owned Real Property Leases, Personal Property Leases and any other Contract to which such Company is a party (the "Included Contracts"), provided that: (A) the Included Contracts shall not include those Contracts set forth in Section 1.1(b)(ii) of the Disclosure Schedule; and (B) in the event any Contract of such Company is identified following the Closing that is required to be disclosed in Section 2.13(a) of the Disclosure Schedule, but is not so disclosed, Purchaser may at its sole discretion elect to exclude such Contract from the Purchased Assets in accordance with Section 1.1(b)(iii) and, for the avoidance of doubt, in the event that Purchaser makes such an election to exclude such Contract, such Contract shall not be deemed an Included Contract;
- (v) all rights under or related to non-competition, non-solicitation and restrictive covenant agreements and arrangements, and all invention assignments and work made for hire provisions regarding each such Company, if any, arising by operation of Law or contract with respect to the relationship between each such Company and any of its current or former employees or independent contractors, except for the items set forth on Section 1.1(a)(y) of the Disclosure Schedule;
- (vi) all payment rights and other intangible assets (including goodwill) with respect to customer relationships that are not embodied in written Contracts, except for the excluded payment rights set forth on <u>Section 1.1(a)(vi) of the Disclosure Schedule</u>;
- (vii) all intellectual property rights, if any, now in existence or under development, including all licenses and rights of use or practice relating thereto, and all goodwill represented thereby and pertaining thereto, except for the items set forth on Section 1.1(a)(vii) of the Disclosure Schedule;
- (viii) all credits, prepaid expenses, fees and costs, deferred charges, advance payments, security deposits and prepaid items, and other similar assets;
- (ix) all telephone numbers, facsimile numbers, websites, email addresses, domain names and any similar items, except for the items set forth on Section 1.1(a)(ix) of the Disclosure Schedule;

- (x) all instruments and inventory, finished goods, raw materials, work in progress, packaging, supplies, parts and other inventories;
- (xi) all notes receivable, accounts receivable and other receivables (in all cases, whether or not billed) and all accrued penalties and interest thereon, and the benefit of any security therefor, except for the excluded accounts receivable set forth on <u>Section 1.1(a)(xi) of the Disclosure Schedule</u>;
 - (xii) all Books and Records;
 - (xiii) to the extent their transfer is permitted by applicable Law, all Permits, including all applications therefor;
- (xiv) all causes of action, lawsuits, claims and demands, refunds, rights of recovery, rights of setoff, and rights of recoupment of any nature available to or being pursued by each such Company with respect to the Purchased Assets or the Assumed Liabilities (including all awards or proceeds in connection with insurance and any eminent domain taking), except for the excluded rights of recovery and rights of recoupment set forth on Section 1.1(a)(xiv) of the Disclosure Schedule;
- (xv) all cash or cash equivalents maintained at the Companies' facilities, representing fund accounts belonging to inmates ("Inmate Cash and Petty Cash");
- (xvi) (A) all of the Cash and securities maintained in the cash reserve accounts set forth on Section 1.1(a)(xvi) of the Disclosure Schedule ("Reserve and Available Funds Account Cash"), and (B) all other Cash, including Cash in all other bank accounts and Inmate Cash and Petty Cash; and (xvii) all goodwill.

At the Closing, the Purchased Assets shall be transferred or otherwise conveyed by each Company to Purchaser and/or certain of Purchaser's Affiliates designated by Purchaser free and clear of all Liens, other than Permitted Liens, pursuant to one or more Bills of Sale, Assignment and Assumption Agreements and Warranty Deeds to be executed by an appropriate Company in favor of the Purchaser and one or more its Affiliates (the "Bills of Sale and Warranty Deeds"), each in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A. At the Closing, each Owned Real Property shall be transferred by each Company to Purchaser and/or certain of Purchaser's Affiliates designated by Purchaser, free and clear of all Liens, other than the Permitted Liens.

- (b) Excluded Assets. Notwithstanding Section 1.1(a), each Company shall retain its right, title and interest in and to the following assets (collectively, the "Excluded Assets"):
 - (i) all Contracts and other assets set forth in Schedule 1.1(b)(i);
 - (ii) in the event any Contract of any Company is identified following the Closing that is required to be disclosed in <u>Section 2.13(a)</u> of the Disclosure Schedule,

but is not so disclosed, Purchaser may at its reasonable discretion elect to exclude such Contract from the Purchased Assets, and such Contract shall thereupon be deemed an Excluded Asset;

- (iii) the original Books and Records of the Companies and the books, instruments, papers, and records relating exclusively to the Excluded Assets, taxpayer and other identification numbers, seals, minute books, stock transfer records, blank stock certificates and other similar documents;
 - (iv) all Employee Benefit Plans and all assets contained within such Employee Benefit Plans;
- (v) all of the Companies' claims for and rights to receive Tax refunds, credits and any deferred tax income with respect to taxable periods preceding the Closing, and Tax returns and any notes, worksheets, files, records or documents relating thereto;
- (vi) all of the Companies' insurance policies and associated prepayments, insurance refunds and rights of recovery and all life insurance policies, if any, and associated prepayments, insurance refunds, rights of recovery and proceeds thereof;
- (vii) all rights, claims or causes of action that the Seller Parties may have against any Person for amounts owing, damages, warranties and the like pertaining exclusively to the Excluded Assets; and
 - (viii) the rights of any Company under this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents.
- (c) <u>Assumption of Certain Liabilities</u>. On and subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, at the Closing, Purchaser shall assume and agree to pay and discharge when due solely the following liabilities and obligations of the Companies (collectively, the "<u>Assumed Liabilities</u>"):
 - (i) performance obligations under all Included Contracts that, by the terms of such Included Contracts, arise after the Closing (other than by virtue of a breach, default or violation of any Included Contract occurring at or prior to the Closing), relate to periods following the Closing and are by their terms to be observed, paid, discharged, and performed as the case may be, at any time after the Closing; and
 - (ii) the liabilities, if any, set forth in the Final Closing Statement.
- (d) Excluded Liabilities. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, Purchaser shall not be responsible for any Liabilities of any Company or any Affiliate of any Company that are not Assumed Liabilities specifically set forth in Section 1.1(c) (such excluded Liabilities, collectively, the "Excluded Liabilities"). In furtherance of, and not in limitation of, the foregoing, and notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement,

Purchaser shall not be responsible for any of the following (each of which shall also constitute Excluded Liabilities):

- (i) any Liability under or with respect to Indebtedness of any Company or any third party or any agreement or instrument relating thereto (including any guaranty thereof or other contingent obligation with respect thereto);
 - (ii) any Liability relating to any Excluded Asset;
- (iii) any Liability (other than liabilities assumed by Purchaser in accordance with Section 1.1(c)) imposed by or in connection with any Law or Permit, and incurred in connection with (A) conditions existing, events or acts occurring or omissions of acts occurring on or prior to the Closing, (B) any real property, business entities or assets, whether domestic or foreign, formerly owned, leased, occupied or operated by or in connection with the Business; or (C) any violation of any Bulk Sales Law;
- (iv) any Liability (other than liabilities assumed by Purchaser in accordance with <u>Section 1.1(c)</u>) or Legal Proceeding caused by, relating to or arising from any fact, transaction, status, event, circumstance, occurrence or situation, whether known or unknown, existing, arising or occurring on or prior to the Closing, or otherwise attributable to the pre-Closing operation of the Business;
 - (v) any Liability under any surety bonds of the Business related to any facts or matters existing prior to the Closing;
- (vi) any Liability for any Taxes (A) of any Company or any Affiliate of any Company for any period or (B) attributable to the conduct of the Business or ownership of the Purchased Assets on or before the Closing, regardless of when assessed;
- (vii) other than liabilities assumed by Purchaser in accordance with <u>Section 1.1(c)</u>, any Liability that was required to be disclosed as a liability under GAAP on the Balance Sheet, and was not shown as a liability on the Balance Sheet;
 - (viii) any Liability that is not included on the Final Closing Statement;
- (ix) other than liabilities assumed by Purchaser in accordance with <u>Section 1.1(c)</u>, any Liability for deferred compensation, accrued bonuses, transaction or other bonuses, or severance obligations related to employees, officers, directors, brokers, bankers, independent contractors or agents of any Company or any Affiliate of any Company with respect to the service, engagement or employment, as applicable, of such Persons prior to the Closing (including such obligations that may arise in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby);
- (x) any Liability under any Law pertaining to employment and employment practices of the Companies prior to the Closing to the extent they relate to employees of any Company, including all Laws relating to wage and hours, overtime compensation, leaves of absence, unemployment insurance, harassment and discrimination;

- (xi) any Transaction Expenses of any Seller Party or any Affiliate thereof or any Liability of any Seller Party incurred under this Agreement or in connection herewith;
 - (xii) any Liability to any Affiliate of any Seller Party; and
- (xiii) any obligation of any Company to indemnify any Person by reason of the fact that such Person was a director, officer, manager, employee, or agent of such Company or was serving at the request of any such entity as a partner, trustee, director, officer, manager, employee, or agent of another entity.

For purposes of Section 1.1(d)(vi)(B), in the case of any taxable period that begins before and ends after the Closing Date (a "<u>Straddle Period</u>"), the amount of any ad valorem Tax for the portion of such taxable period ending on the Closing Date shall be deemed to be the amount of such Tax for the entire taxable period multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days in the taxable period through and including the Closing Date, and the denominator of which is the number of days in such Straddle Period.

(e) Required Consents. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, this Agreement shall not constitute an agreement to assign or transfer any Purchased Asset or interest therein as to which (i) an assignment or transfer thereof or an attempt to make such an assignment or transfer without a Consent (a "Required Consent") would constitute a breach or violation thereof or of applicable Law, or would adversely affect the rights or obligations thereunder to be assigned or transferred to or for the account of Purchaser and (ii) such Required Consent shall not have been obtained with respect to such Purchased Asset or interest therein prior to the Closing. Any transfer or assignment to Purchaser by any Company of any such Purchased Asset or interest therein (a "Delayed Asset"), and any assumption by Purchaser of any corresponding Assumed Liability (a "Delayed Liability"), shall be made subject to all such Required Consents in respect of such Delayed Asset being obtained. If there are any Delayed Assets, each Seller Party shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to obtain all Required Consents in respect thereof as promptly as practicable following the Closing, all without any cost or detriment to Purchaser or any of its Affiliates. Until all Required Consents with respect to each Delayed Asset have been obtained, (i) the applicable Company shall hold the Delayed Asset on behalf of Purchaser, (ii) Seller Parties shall cooperate with Purchaser for no additional consideration in any lawful arrangement (including subleasing or subcontracting, or performance thereunder by such Company as Purchaser's agent) reasonably requested by Purchaser to provide Purchaser with all of the benefits of or under any such Delayed Asset and (iii) the applicable Company shall otherwise enforce and perform for the account of Purchaser and as reasonably directed by Purchaser any other rights and obligations of such Company arising from such Delayed Asset (and not waive, alter or amend any of same without the consent of Purchaser). Seller Parties shall cause the Companies to comply with their obligations under this Agreement and to maintain their corporate or other existence until all of their obligations pursuant to this Section 1.1(e) and otherwise herein are performed in full and all Delayed Assets are transferred and assigned hereunder. At such time and on each occasion after the Closing Date

as all Required Consents with respect to a Delayed Asset have been obtained, such Delayed Asset shall automatically be transferred and assigned by the Companies to Purchaser for no additional consideration without any further act on the part of any Party. To the extent that the Companies have made any payments to any third party with respect to a Delayed Liability, Purchaser shall reimburse the Companies, by payment to the Seller Parties' Representative within seven (7) Business Days from receipt of an invoice attested to as a good faith representation of such payments by an officer of each Company, an amount equal to such payments.

Section 1.2 <u>Transaction Consideration</u>. The aggregate consideration (collectively, the "<u>Transaction Consideration</u>") for the Purchased Assets acquired by Purchaser hereunder, in addition to the assumption of the Assumed Liabilities, shall consist of:

- (a) an amount equal to the Indebtedness for Borrowed Money as of the Closing Date (net of Reserve and Available Funds Account Cash with respect thereto) set forth on <u>Schedule 1.2(a)</u> and in any case not to exceed \$** (the "<u>Base Transaction Consideration</u>"); plus
 - (b) \$** (subject to Section 1.4(b)) (the "Additional Consideration Amount"); plus
 - (c) the Debt Reduction Amount, if any; plus
 - (d) the Earnout Amount, if any; minus
 - (e) the amount, if any, by which the Closing Net Working Capital is less than the Target Net Working Capital; plus
 - (f) the amount, if any, by which the Closing Net Working Capital is greater than the Target Net Working Capital; minus
 - (g) the sum of (x) the amount of the Seller Transaction Expenses and (y) the Change of Control Payments.

Section 1.3 <u>Closing Date</u>. The Closing shall take place at the offices of Akerman LLP, One Southeast Third Avenue, Suite 2500, Miami, Florida at 10:00 a.m. on the fifth Business Day following the satisfaction or waiver of the conditions set forth in <u>Section 5.1</u> and <u>Section 5.2</u> of this Agreement (other than those conditions that by their terms cannot be satisfied until the Closing), or at such other place and time as the Parties shall mutually agree. The Closing shall be effective as of 12:01 a.m. on the day of the Closing (the "<u>Closing Date</u>").

Section 1.4 Closing Date Payments.

(a) At least two (2) Business Days prior to the Closing, the Active Equityholders shall cause the Companies' independent auditor to prepare and deliver to Purchaser (i) Schedule 1.2(a), of which the total amount reflected thereon shall not exceed \$** without the written consent of the Purchaser, and which shall be certified by a duly authorized officer of each Company as the total Indebtedness for Borrowed Money as of the Closing Date (net of any Reserve and Available Funds Account Cash with respect thereto) (the

^{**} Confidential terms omitted and provided separately to the Securities and Exchange Commission.

"Closing Date Indebtedness Schedule"), and (ii) a good faith estimate of the Net Working Capital as of the Closing Date (the "Estimated Net Working Capital"), which shall not exceed \$** without the written consent of the Purchaser and which shall be certified by a duly authorized officer of each Company as each Company's good faith estimation of the Net Working Capital as of the Closing Date. The Seller Parties shall promptly provide Purchaser access to all relevant documents and information reasonably requested by Purchaser in connection with its review of the Estimated Net Working Capital and the Closing Date Indebtedness Schedule (including all components thereof). Prior to the Closing Date, Purchaser shall notify the Seller Parties' Representative of any objections to the Estimated Net Working Capital and the Closing Date Indebtedness Schedule (including any components thereof). If Purchaser has any such objections, the Seller Parties' Representative and Purchaser shall attempt in good faith to resolve any such objections, and the obligation of Purchaser to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby will be subject to Purchaser's agreement to the Companies' determination and calculation of the Estimated Net Working Capital and the Closing Date Indebtedness Schedule (including all components thereof).

- (b) In the event that the total Indebtedness for Borrowed Money as of the Closing Date (net of any Reserve and Available Funds Account Cash with respect thereto) exceeds \$***, Purchaser may, at Purchaser's sole discretion, satisfy such excess Indebtedness for Borrowed Money from the Transaction Consideration, elect to reduce the Additional Consideration Amount in an amount equal to such excess Indebtedness for Borrowed Money, and consummate the Closing (subject to the other terms and conditions contained herein).
 - (c) On the Closing Date, to satisfy its obligation to pay the Transaction Consideration, Purchaser shall:
 - (i) pay to the Companies, in accordance with <u>Schedule 2</u> attached hereto, an amount in cash, payable by wire transfer of immediately available funds to the account(s) specified in writing by the Seller Parties' Representative, which shall be equal to the following in the aggregate (collectively, the "<u>Closing Cash Consideration</u>"):
 - (A) the Additional Consideration Amount (subject to Section 1.4(b)); plus
 - (B) the Debt Reduction Amount, if any; minus
 - (C) the amount, if any, by which the Estimated Net Working Capital is less than the Target Net Working Capital, plus
 - (D) the amount, if any, by which the Estimated Net Working Capital is greater than the Target Net Working Capital, minus
 - (E) the sum of (x) the amount of the Seller Transaction Expenses and (y) the Change of Control Payments;

^{**} Confidential terms omitted and provided separately to the Securities and Exchange Commission.

- (ii) pay the amount of all Indebtedness for Borrowed Money (other than with respect to the 2014 Bonds) from the Transaction Consideration as provided in the Loan Payoff Letters;
- (iii) pay to U.S. Bank National Association (the "2014 Bond Trustee"), in accordance with the 2014 Bond Payoff Letter, the Redemption Amount from the Transaction Consideration (the "Redemption Funding"); and
- (iv) pay the Seller Transaction Expenses and the Change of Control Payments from the Transaction Consideration pursuant to written instructions provided by the Seller Parties' Representative.
- Section 1.5 <u>Earnout Consideration</u>. Following the Closing Date, Purchaser agrees to make an additional payment to the Companies upon the terms and subject to the conditions of this <u>Section 1.5</u>.
- (a) Within ninety (90) days after the end of the Earnout Period, Purchaser shall prepare and deliver to the Seller Parties' Representative a statement (the "Earnout Statement") setting forth Purchaser's calculation of the Earnout Amount, and Purchaser shall deliver such statement to the Seller Parties' Representative, together with such schedules and data with respect to the determination thereof as may be reasonably appropriate to support the calculations set forth in the Earnout Statement.
- (b) The Seller Parties' Representative shall have a period of forty-five (45) days after the date it receives the Earnout Statement from Purchaser to deliver to Purchaser written notice of the Seller Parties' Representative's disagreement with any item contained in the Earnout Statement, which notice shall set forth in reasonable detail the basis for such disagreement (an "Objection Notice"). During the forty-five (45) day period following the Seller Parties' Representative's receipt of the Earnout Statement, the Purchaser shall provide the Seller Parties' Representative reasonable access during reasonable hours and under reasonable circumstances to the relevant books and records relating to the preparation of the Earnout Statement, in each case as reasonably requested by the Seller Parties' Representative in connection with the Seller Parties' Representative's review of the Earnout Statement. During the thirty (30) days following Purchaser's receipt of an Objection Notice, Purchaser and the Seller Parties' Representative shall seek in good faith to resolve in writing any differences which they have with respect to the matters specified in the Objection Notice, and upon such resolution, the Earnout Statement shall be prepared in accordance with the agreement of Purchaser and the Seller Parties' Representative.
- (c) If Purchaser and the Seller Parties' Representative are unable to resolve the disputed items set forth in the Objection Notice within thirty (30) days following Purchaser's receipt of such Objection Notice (or such longer period as Purchaser and the Seller Parties' Representative may mutually agree in writing), such dispute shall be submitted to, and all issues having a bearing on such dispute shall be resolved by, the Neutral Accountant in accordance with the procedures set forth in Section 1.6(b). The Earnout Statement, as adjusted (if necessary) pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, shall be deemed final and binding on the parties (the "Final Earnout Statement") upon the earliest of (A) the resolution of all disputes, pursuant to this

Section 1.5, by Purchaser and the Seller Parties' Representative and (B) the resolution of all disputes, pursuant to this Section 1.5, by the Neutral Accountant. The Earnout Amount, as shown on the Final Earnout Statement, shall constitute the "Earnout Amount" for all purposes hereunder. The party for whom the absolute value of the difference between (x) such party's estimated Earnout Amount and (y) the Earnout Amount set forth in the Final Earnout Statement, is the greatest shall pay the reasonable, documented, out-of-pocket costs and expenses of the other party (other than the fees and expenses of the Neutral Accountant) incurred in connection with such party's dispute of the Earnout Amount pursuant to this Section 1.5(c); provided, that if the difference between the forgoing (x) and (y) for each of Purchaser and the Seller Parties' Representative is equal, each party shall bear its own costs and expenses.

- (d) If the Earnout Amount exceeds \$0, then Purchaser shall deliver the Earnout Amount to the Seller Parties' Representative by wire transfer in immediately available funds within five (5) Business Days after the determination of the Final Earnout Statement, and the Seller Parties' Representative shall then distribute any such amount to LCS.
- (e) During the Earnout Period, Purchaser agrees to deliver to the Seller Parties' Representative (i) within thirty (30) days of the last day of each calendar quarter falling within the Earnout Period, financial statements with respect to the Business for the preceding calendar quarter, and (ii) within ten (10) days of the last day of each calendar month falling within the Earnout Period, an occupancy report with respect to the Business for the preceding calendar month.

Section 1.6 Net Working Capital Adjustment.

- (a) Within sixty (60) days after the Closing Date, Purchaser shall prepare and deliver to the Seller Parties' Representative a statement (the "Closing Statement") calculating the Net Working Capital as of the Closing Date (the "Closing Net Working Capital").
- (b) If the Seller Parties' Representative disputes any amounts as shown on the Closing Statement, the Seller Parties' Representative shall deliver to Purchaser within twenty (20) days after receipt of the Closing Statement a notice (the "Dispute Notice") setting forth the Companies' calculation of such amount and describing in reasonable detail the basis for the determination of such different amount. If the Seller Parties' Representative does not deliver a Dispute Notice to Purchaser within such twenty (20) day period, the Closing Statement prepared and delivered by Purchaser shall be deemed to be the "Final Closing Statement." The Parties shall use commercially reasonable efforts to resolve such differences within a period of twenty (20) days after the Seller Parties' Representative has given the Dispute Notice. If the Parties resolve such differences, the Closing Statement agreed to by the Parties shall be deemed to be the Final Closing Statement. If Purchaser and the Seller Parties' Representative do not reach a final resolution on the Closing Statement within twenty (20) days after the Seller Parties' Representative has given the Dispute Notice, unless Purchaser and the Seller Parties' Representative mutually agree to continue their efforts to resolve such differences the Neutral Accountant shall resolve such differences, pursuant to an engagement agreement among Purchaser, the Seller Parties' Representative and the Neutral Accountant (which Purchaser and the Seller Parties' Representative agree to execute promptly), in the manner provided below. The Neutral Accountant shall only decide the specific items under dispute by the Parties (the

"Disputed Items"), solely in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. Purchaser and the Seller Parties' Representative shall each be entitled to make a presentation to the Neutral Accountant, pursuant to procedures to be agreed to among Purchaser, the Seller Parties' Representative and the Neutral Accountant (or, if they cannot agree on such procedures, pursuant to procedures determined by the Neutral Accountant), regarding such Party's determination of the amounts to be set forth on the Closing Statement, and the Parties shall use their reasonable efforts to cause the Neutral Accountant to resolve the differences between Purchaser and the Seller Parties' Representative and determine the amounts to be set forth on the Closing Statement within twenty (20) days after the engagement of the Neutral Accountant. The Neutral Accountant's determination shall be based solely on such presentations of the Parties (i.e., not on independent review) and on the definitions and other terms included herein. The Closing Statement determined by the Neutral Accountant shall be deemed to be the Final Closing Statement. Such determination by the Neutral Accountant shall be conclusive and binding upon the Parties, absent fraud or manifest error. The fees and expenses of the Neutral Accountant shall be paid by the Party whose calculation of the Closing Net Working Capital is farther from the Neutral Accountant's calculation thereof. Nothing in this Section 1.6(b) shall be construed to authorize or permit the Neutral Accountant to:

(i) determine any questions or matters whatsoever under or in connection with this Agreement except for the resolution of differences between Purchaser and the Seller Parties' Representative regarding the determination of the Final Closing Statement; or (ii) resolve any such differences by making an adjustment to the Closing Statement that is outside of the range defined by amounts as finally proposed by Purchaser and the Seller Parties' Representative.

(c) Within five (5) Business Days after the final determination thereof, if the Closing Net Working Capital set forth in the Closing Statement: (i) exceeds the Estimated Net Working Capital, Purchaser shall pay such excess amount to the Companies (in accordance with the allocations set forth on Schedule 2); or (ii) is less than the Estimated Net Working Capital, the Seller Parties shall pay such shortfall amount to the Purchaser. Any payments made pursuant to this Section 1.6 shall be treated as an adjustment to the Transaction Consideration by the Parties.

Section 1.7 <u>Allocation of Transaction Consideration</u>. Attached hereto as <u>Exhibit B</u> is a schedule (the "<u>Allocation Schedule</u>") which sets forth the Parties' agreed allocation of the Transaction Consideration paid to the Companies in accordance with <u>Section 1.2</u>. Sixty (60) days following the Closing, Purchaser shall provide to the Companies a schedule allocating the Transaction Consideration paid to the Companies in accordance with <u>Section 1.2</u> (and Assumed Liabilities, capitalized costs and other items required to be included in the Transaction Consideration for federal income Tax purposes), among the Purchased Assets of each Company prepared in accordance with the Code Section 1060 and the Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder and in accordance with <u>Section 1.2</u>. The Parties agree that they shall report the Transaction Consideration in a manner entirely consistent with such allocation schedule in all Tax Returns and forms and in the course of any Tax audit, Tax review or Tax litigation relating hereto.

ARTICLE II REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANIES AND THE ACTIVE EQUITY HOLDERS

The Companies and the Active Equityholders jointly and severally represent and warrant as of the date hereof and as of the Closing Date to Purchaser that the following statements are correct and complete.

Section 2.1 Organization and Related Matters.

(a) Each of the Facility Entities is a limited liability company duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the State of Nevada and has all requisite limited liability company power and authority to own, lease and operate its properties and to carry on its business in the manner currently conducted. LCS is a corporation duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the State of Louisiana and has all requisite corporate power and authority to own, lease and operate its properties and to carry on its business in the manner currently conducted. Each Company is duly qualified or authorized to do business as a foreign limited liability company or corporation, as applicable, and is in good standing under the Laws of each jurisdiction in which it owns or leases real property and each other jurisdiction in which the conduct of its business or the ownership of its properties requires such qualification or authorization, each of which is set forth in Section 2.1(a) of the Disclosure Schedule, except where the failure to be so qualified or authorized would not reasonably be expected to have a Company Material Adverse Effect.

(b) the Companies have delivered to Purchaser complete and correct copies of the Governing Documents of each Company, as amended to date and as presently in effect. Except as set forth on Section 2.1(b) of the Disclosure Schedule, since the inception of each Company, no Company has consolidated or merged with, acquired all or substantially all of the assets of, or acquired the stock of or any interest in any Person. LCS owns a minority interest in each of the Facility Entities other than Perry. Except as set forth in the immediately preceding sentence, there are no subsidiaries of any Company, and no Company owns any equity security or other equity ownership interest in any Person.

Section 2.2 <u>Authorization and Enforceability</u>. Each Seller Party has all requisite power and authority, and, in the case of any Seller Party that is an individual, the requisite legal capacity, to execute and deliver this Agreement and each other Transaction Document to which it is a party, and to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. The execution, delivery and performance by each Seller Party of each of the Transaction Documents to which it is a party have been duly authorized by all necessary action on the part of each such Seller Party. This Agreement and the other Transaction Documents have been duly and validly executed and delivered by each Seller Party and constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of each Seller Party, enforceable against such Seller Party in accordance with their respective terms, subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and similar Laws affecting creditors' rights and remedies generally and subject, as to enforceability, to general principles of equity (regardless of whether enforcement is sought in a proceeding at law or in equity).

Section 2.3 <u>Books and Records</u>. The Books and Records, copies of all of which have been provided to Purchaser, are materially complete and correct and represent actual, bona fide transactions and have been maintained in accordance with sound business practices. The minute books of LCS, all of which have been provided to Purchaser, contain accurate and complete records of all material meetings held of, and corporate action taken by, the shareholders, the board of directors and committees of the board of directors of LCS, and no material meeting of any such shareholders, board of directors or committee has been held for which minutes have not been prepared or are not contained in such minute books. The minute books, if any, of Basile, Brooks, Caldwell, Hidalgo, Nueces, Pine Prairie, Tensas and Perry, have been provided to Purchaser.

Section 2.4 Capitalization. Section 2.4 of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth, with respect to (i) LCS: (a) the total number of authorized shares of each class of capital stock of LCS, (b) the total number of issued and outstanding shares of each class of capital stock of LCS, (c) the names of the holders of the issued and outstanding shares of each class of capital stock of LCS, and (d) the number of shares of each class of capital stock held by each such holder; and with respect to (ii) the Facility Entities: (a) the total number of issued and outstanding limited liability company membership interests of each such Company, and (b) the names of the holders of such limited liability company membership interests. No shares of capital stock of LCS are held in treasury. All of the equity securities of each Company have been duly and validly authorized and issued (and, with respect to LCS, are fully paid and nonassessable), and all such equity securities are held of record and owned beneficially as set forth in Section 2.4 of the Disclosure Schedule. No such equity securities have been issued in violation of any preemptive rights or any applicable securities Laws. No Company has any outstanding or authorized options, warrants, purchase rights, subscription rights, conversion rights, exchange rights, preemptive rights or other contracts or commitments that could require any Company to issue, sell, or otherwise cause to become outstanding any of its capital stock, limited liability company membership interests or other equity security, or securities convertible or exchangeable for, or any options, warrants, or rights to purchase, any of such capital stock, limited liability company membership interest or other equity security. There are no outstanding obligations of any Company to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any of its capital stock, limited liability company membership interests or other equity security. There are no outstanding or authorized stock appreciation, phantom equity, profit participation or similar rights with respect to any Company. There are no dividends which have accrued or been declared but are unpaid on the capital stock or limited liability company membership interests of any Company. Except as set forth in Section 2.4 of the Disclosure Schedule, there are no voting agreements, voting trusts, proxies, registration rights agreements, stockholders' agreements, limited liability company operating agreements or other Contracts with respect to any shares of capital stock or limited liability company membership interests of any Company.

Section 2.5 <u>Conflicts; Consents of Third Parties</u>. Except as set forth in <u>Section 2.5 of the Disclosure Schedule</u>, the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to which each Seller Party is a party, the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, and compliance by such Seller Party with the provisions hereof or thereof does not and will not, with or without the passage of time or the giving of notice: (a) conflict with, or result in the breach of, any provision of the Governing Documents of such Seller Party; (b) conflict with, violate, result in the breach or termination of, constitute a default under,

result in an acceleration of, constitute a change of control under, or create in any party the right to accelerate, terminate, modify or cancel, any Contract to which such Seller Party is a party or by which such Seller Party or its properties or assets are bound, or require a Consent from any Person in order to avoid any such conflict, violation, breach, termination, default or acceleration; (c) violate any Law or any Order by which such Seller Party is bound; or (d) result in the creation of any Lien other than Permitted Liens upon the properties or assets of any Seller Party, including the Purchased Assets. No Consent, Order, waiver, declaration or filing with, or notification to any Person, including any Governmental Body, is required on the part of any Seller Party in connection with the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement or the other Transaction Documents, or the compliance by any of them with any of the provisions hereof or thereof.

Section 2.6 Financial Statements; Occupancy Reports.

- (a) Included in Section 2.6(a) of the Disclosure Schedule are complete copies of (i) the audited consolidated balance sheets of the Companies as at December 31, 2012, and 2013 and the related audited consolidated statements of income and retained earnings, members' equity and of cash flows of the Companies for the fiscal years then ended, and (ii) the unaudited consolidated balance sheet of the Companies (the "Balance Sheet") as at December 31, 2014 (the "Balance Sheet Date") and the related unaudited consolidated statements of income and retained earnings, members' equity and cash flows of the Companies for the fiscal year then ended (the audited and unaudited balance sheets and statements set forth in (i) and (ii), including the related notes and schedules thereto, the "Financial Statements"). The Financial Statements have been prepared from the Books and Records in accordance with GAAP applied on a consistent basis throughout the periods indicated, except, in the case of the unaudited financial statements, for the failure to include the footnotes required by GAAP and subject to normal and non-recurring year-end audit adjustments (which will not be material in the aggregate). The Financial Statements fairly present in all material respects the financial position and results of operations, members' equity and cash flows of the Companies, on a consolidated basis, as of the dates and for the periods reflected thereon.
- (b) <u>Section 2.6(b) of the Disclosure Schedule</u> sets forth occupancy reports for each Company for the periods described therein which reports are materially accurate in all respects.
- Section 2.7 No Undisclosed Liabilities. No Company has any material Liabilities (and, to the Knowledge of the Companies, there is no reasonable basis for any present or future Legal Proceeding against any Company giving rise to any Liability) except (a) to the extent expressly reflected and accrued for or expressly reserved against in the Balance Sheet and (b) for current Liabilities incurred subsequent to the Balance Sheet Date in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice (none of which results from, arises out of, relates to, is in the nature of, or was caused by any breach of contract, breach of warranty, tort, infringement, or violation of Law).

Section 2.8 <u>Absence of Certain Developments</u>. Except as set forth in <u>Section 2.8 of the Disclosure Schedule</u> (arranged in subsections corresponding to the subsections set forth

below), since September 30, 2014, no Company has conducted its business other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice and:

- (a) there has not been any Company Material Adverse Change nor has there occurred any event which is reasonably likely to result in a Company Material Adverse Change;
- (b) no Company has made any declaration or payment of any dividends or distributions on or in respect of any capital stock, limited liability company membership interest or other security of any Company, or redemption, purchase or acquisition of any capital stock, limited liability company membership interest or other security of any Company, or made any other payment to or on behalf of any Company Equityholder or any Affiliate thereof;
- (c) there has not been any split, combination or reclassification of any shares of capital stock, limited liability company membership interests or other equity security of any Company;
- (d) there has not been any damage, destruction or loss, whether or not covered by insurance, with respect to the property and assets of the Companies having a replacement cost of more than \$25,000 for any single loss or \$50,000 in the aggregate for any related losses;
- (e) no Company has made any change in the rate of compensation, commission, bonus or other direct or indirect remuneration payable, or paid or agreed or orally promised to pay, conditionally or otherwise, any bonus, incentive, retention or other compensation, retirement, welfare, fringe or severance benefit or vacation pay, to or in respect of any director, officer, manager, employee, distributor or agent of any Company, other than increases in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice in the base wages or salaries of employees of any Company other than officers or managers;
 - (f) no Company has entered into or amended any employment, deferred compensation, severance or similar agreement;
- (g) except for that certain (i) Collective Bargaining Agreement between LCS Corrections Services, Inc. at the Brooks County Detention Center and National Federation of Federal Employees Federal District 1, IAMAW, AFL-CIO, effective May 1, 2014 thru August 31, 2018, (ii) Collective Bargaining Agreement between LCS Corrections Services, Inc. at the Coastal Bend Detention Center and National Federation of Federal Employees Federal District 1, IAMAW, AFL-CIO, effective May 1, 2014 thru August 31, 2018, and (iii) Collective Bargaining Agreement between LCS Corrections Services, Inc. at the East Hidalgo Detention Center and National Federation of Federal Employees Federal District 1, IAMAW, AFL-CIO, effective May 1, 2014 thru August 31, 2018, no Company has entered into any collective bargaining agreement or relationship with any labor organization;
- (h) there has not been any material change by any Company in accounting or Tax reporting principles, methods or policies, any settlement of any Tax controversy, any amendment of any Tax Return, or any material Tax election made by or with respect to any Company;

- (i) except for the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, no Company has entered into or amended any other transaction, Included Contract or other material Contract other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;
- (j) no Company has hired employees or engaged independent contractors other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;
 - (k) no Company has breached any Included Contract or other material Contract;
- (l) no Company has made any loans, advances or capital contributions to, or investments in, any Person other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;
- (m) no Company has mortgaged, pledged or subjected to any Lien any of its assets, or acquired any assets or sold, assigned, transferred, conveyed, leased or otherwise disposed of any assets of any Company except for assets acquired or sold, assigned, transferred, conveyed, leased or otherwise disposed of in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;
- (n) no Company has canceled or compromised any debt or claim or amended, canceled, terminated, relinquished, waived or released any Included Contract or other material Contract or right except in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice and which, in the aggregate, are not material to any Company;
- (o) no Company has entered into or amended any Contract or transaction with any of its Affiliates or paid any fees, expenses or other amounts to any Affiliate of any Company other than pursuant to the terms of the Contracts set forth on Section 2.22 of the Disclosure Schedule;
- (p) no Company has made or committed to make any capital expenditures or capital additions or improvements (i) in excess of \$75,000 individually or \$250,000 in the aggregate, or (ii) outside the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;
- (q) no Company has entered into any prepaid transactions or otherwise accelerated revenue recognition or the sales for periods prior to the Closing outside of the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;
- (r) no Company has materially changed its policies or practices with respect to the payment of accounts payable or other current liabilities or the collection of accounts receivable (including any acceleration or deferral of the payment or collection thereof);
 - (s) no Company has amended any of its Governing Documents;
- (t) no Company has adopted any plan of merger, consolidation, reorganization, liquidation or dissolution or filing of a petition in bankruptcy under any provisions of federal or state bankruptcy Law or consented to the filing of any bankruptcy petition against it under any similar Law or other agreement with respect to the sale of its assets, securities or Business;

- (u) no Company has issued any equity or debt securities or any security exercisable or exchangeable for or convertible into equity securities of any Company, or incurred any new Indebtedness or other Liabilities (other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice);
- (v) no Company has (i) discharged, repaid, amended, modified, made payment on, canceled or compromised any Indebtedness, or discharged or satisfied any Lien, or (ii) engaged in any transaction or provided any consideration relating to the release, modification or diminution of any guarantee, bond, surety or other obligation of any Company Equityholder or any Affiliate thereof;
 - (w) no Company has entered into any compromise or settlement of any Legal Proceeding or investigation by any Governmental Body;
- (x) no Company has transferred, assigned or granted any license or sublicense of any material rights under or with respect to any Intellectual Property;
- (y) no Company has failed (i) to file any material reports or take steps necessary to comply with applicable Laws and (ii) to maintain in good standing any Permits applicable to such Company; and
 - (z) no Company has entered into any agreements or commitments to do or perform in the future any actions referred to in this Section 2.8.

Section 2.9 Taxes.

- (a) Each of Company has timely filed with the appropriate taxing authorities all Tax Returns that it has been required to file. All such Tax Returns are true, correct and complete in all respects. All Taxes owed by each Company (whether or not shown on any Tax Return) have been paid. No Company is the beneficiary of any extension of time within which to file any Tax Return. No written claim has ever been made by an authority with respect to the Companies in a jurisdiction where any Company does not file Tax Returns that it is or may be subject to taxation by that jurisdiction. There are no Liens on any of the assets of any Company that have arisen in connection with any failure (or alleged failure) to pay any Tax.
- (b) The Companies have withheld and paid to the appropriate taxing authority or other Governmental Body all Taxes required to have been withheld and paid in connection with amounts paid or owing to any employee, independent contractor, creditor, stockholder, or other third party.
- (c) No Company has waived or extended any statute of limitations in respect of Taxes or agreed to any extension of time with respect to the assessment, payment or collection of any Tax.

- (d) No Company is an obligor on, and none of their assets have been financed directly or indirectly by, any tax-exempt bonds. No property or assets of any Company is "tax-exempt use property" within the meaning of Section 168(h) of the Code.
- (e) No deficiency or proposed adjustment which has not been settled or otherwise resolved for any amount of Taxes has been asserted or assessed by any taxing authority or other Governmental Body against any Company. There has not been, within the past five calendar years, an audit, examination or written notice of potential examination of any Tax Returns filed by any Company.
- (f) There is no action, suit, examination, investigation, Governmental Body proceeding, or audit or claim for refund in progress, pending, proposed or, to the Knowledge of the Companies, threatened against or with respect to any Company. No Company and no director, manager or officer (or employee responsible for Tax matters) of any Company expects any authority to assess any additional Taxes for any period for which Tax Returns have been filed.
- (g) No Company has been a member of an affiliated group (as defined in Section 1504 of the Code), filed or been included in a combined, consolidated or unitary income Tax Return, and is not a partner, member, owner or beneficiary of any entity treated as a partnership or a trust for Tax purposes. No Company has Liability for Taxes of any person under Treasury Regulations Section 1.1502-6 or similar state or local Laws, as a successor or transferee, by contract or otherwise.
- (h) No Company is a party to or bound by any Tax allocation or Tax sharing agreement and has no contractual obligation to indemnify any other Person with respect to Taxes.
- (i) True, correct and complete copies of all income and sales Tax Returns filed by or with respect to any Company for taxable periods ending on or after January 1, 2012 have been delivered to Purchaser.
- (j) The Companies have disclosed on their federal income Tax Returns all positions taken therein that could give rise to a substantial understatement of federal income Tax within the meaning of Section 6662 of the Code.
 - (k) No Company is subject to Tax, nor does it have a permanent establishment, in any foreign jurisdiction.
 - (1) No Company has pending ruling requests filed by it or on its behalf with any taxing authority or Governmental Body.
- (m) LCS is, and has, since January 1, 2003, been an S corporation as defined in Section 1361(a)(1) of the Code for federal and state income tax purposes and is eligible for such treatment. LCS's election to be treated as an S corporation was timely filed with the IRS and has not been superseded by any subsequent filing. LCS has not received any correspondence from the IRS questioning its status as an S corporation. The Company Equityholders have not and will not be subject to any Taxes for any period ending on or prior to the Closing Date pursuant to Section 1374 or Section 1375 of the Code.

(n) Each Company, other than LCS, is, and has been since its date of formation, a partnership for federal and applicable state income tax purposes.

Section 2.10 Real Property.

- (a) Section 2.10(a) of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth a true, correct, and complete list and description of all real property and interests in real property owned in fee by any Company (each such real property, together with all of the facilities, buildings, structures, fixtures, or other improvements situated thereon ("Improvements") and all of such Company's rights to access, all strips or gores adjoining the real property, easements, alleys, privileges, rights-of-way, reversions, remainders, riparian and other air, water, mineral, development, utility and other rights, entitlements, privileges, incentives, rights to lands underlying any adjacent streets or roads, and other tenements, hereditaments and appurtenances, if any, pertaining to or accruing for the benefit of such real property and Improvements or used in connection with the ownership, maintenance or operation of the real property or Improvements, an "Owned Real Property," and collectively, the "Owned Real Properties"), which description on Section 2.10(a) of the Disclosure Schedule shall include: (i) the legal description of each Owned Real Property; (ii) the address of each Owned Real Property; (iii) the use of each Owned Real Property; and (iv) a true, correct, and complete list of all leases, subleases, licenses, use, rental or other occupancy agreements, possessory rights, options and rights of first refusal, relating to or affecting any portion of each Owned Real Property together with any and all assignments, amendments, modifications, side letters, estoppels, consents, supplements, renewals and guarantees thereof, and other agreements relating thereto (each, an "Owned Real Property Lease" and collectively, the "Owned Real Property Leases"), including the names of the parties to each Owned Real Property Lease (each tenant, subtenant, licensee, and/or occupant under any Owned Real Property Lease is hereinafter referred to as a "Tenant"), the date of each Owned Real Property Lease, the term of each Owned Real Property Lease (including the commencement date and expiration date and any renewal periods thereof), the rent due under each Owned Real Property Lease, the amount of the security deposit required to be held under such Owned Real Property Lease, and the actual amount being held by the Companies therefor, and any options or rights to purchase any of the Owned Real Properties.
- (b) There are no parcels of real property or interests in real property leased, subleased, licensed or otherwise occupied by any Company (other than the Owned Real Property), as a lessee, sublessee, licensee or under any other occupancy right, except for the LCS Louisiana headquarters office which is currently leased on a month to month basis.
- (c) The Companies have made available to Purchaser true, correct, and complete copies of all of the Companies' prior and existing title insurance policies and commitments relating to the Owned Real Properties, all surveys in the possession or control of the Companies, and such other inspection reports, certificates of occupancy, encumbrances, environmental assessments, appraisals, information, data, reports, notices, Contracts, agreements and other documents relating to the Owned Real Property in the Companies' possession or control requested by Purchaser prior to the date hereof.

- (d) The Owned Real Properties constitute all interests in real property currently used or currently held for use in connection with the Business as the Business is currently conducted, except for the LCS Louisiana headquarters office which is currently leased on a month to month basis.
- (e) To the Knowledge of the Companies, true, correct, and complete copies of all documents, instruments, and agreements evidencing the Permitted Liens have previously been made available by the Companies to Purchaser, and there are no such matters which affect the Owned Real Property except as may be set forth in the Title Evidence. To the Knowledge of the Companies, there are no matters which create a breach of any of the documents evidencing the Permitted Liens, and to the Knowledge of the Companies, no Person has a valid legal basis to issue a notice of non-compliance or has threatened to do so with respect to any Permitted Liens.
- (f) All of the Owned Real Property Leases constitute the entire agreement between the parties thereto, are valid, binding against such Company, and, to the Companies' Knowledge, the Tenants thereto, and are in full force and effect. None of the Companies has received any written notice of any breach of any of the Owned Real Property Leases and each Company and, to the Companies' Knowledge, each Tenant thereto, is in compliance in all material respects with all obligations of such party thereunder. No security deposit or portion thereof deposited with respect to any Owned Real Property Lease has been applied in respect of a breach of any such Owned Real Property that has not been redeposited in full. None of the Companies owes any brokerage commissions or finder's fees with respect to any Owned Real Property Lease. None of the Companies has collaterally assigned or granted any Lien in any Real Property Lease or any interest therein (other than Permitted Liens). The Companies have delivered to Purchaser true, correct, and complete copies of the Owned Real Property Leases. Each of the Tenants with respect to each Owned Real Property Lease has exercised within the time prescribed therein, any option provided therein to extend or renew the term thereof. None of the Companies has given or received any written notice of termination, cancellation, adverse modification, or non-renewal with respect to any Owned Real Property Lease; the transactions contemplated by this Agreement will not constitute a default, or give rise to a right of termination, cancellation or acceleration of any right thereunder; and all sums and charges payable under any Owned Real Property Lease are current. No Seller Party has entered into, nor has any Seller Party received any notice of, and the Companies have no Knowledge of, any rights of first refusal or first offer, options to purchase, or any other rights or agreements with respect to the Owned Real Property (or any other real property) which may delay, hinder or prevent the transactions co
- (g) To the Knowledge of the Companies, the Owned Real Property is in compliance with all applicable building, zoning, subdivision, health and safety, and other land use Laws, including the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, as amended, or its equivalent in any international jurisdictions, and all insurance requirements affecting the Real Properties (collectively, the "Real Property Laws"), and the use or occupancy of the Owned Real Property by any Company or operation of the Business thereon does not breach any Real Property Laws. None of the Companies has received any notice of breach or alleged breach of any Real Property Law. To the Knowledge of the Companies, there is no pending or anticipated change in any Real Property Law that will impact the Owned Real Property or any portion thereof in the

continued operation of the Business or the use or occupancy of the Owned Real Property. With respect to the Owned Real Property, there is no pending or, to the Knowledge of the Companies, threatened zoning application or proceeding or condemnation, eminent domain, or taking proceeding or any sale or other disposition or any part thereof in lieu of condemnation (nor has any Seller Party agreed or committed to dedicate any of the Owned Real Property), nor any tax reduction, appeal or contest proceedings. No Seller Party has received notice of, and the Companies have no Knowledge of, any pending or proposed special area or other assessment with respect to the Owned Real Property, except for any such assessments currently payable which will be prorated as of the Closing Date in accordance with this Agreement, or any proposed or pending public improvements which may give rise to any such assessments affecting the Owned Real Property.

(h) All Improvements located on the Owned Real Property used by any Company (including all water, sewer, gas, electrical, and HVAC systems servicing the same): (i) are in operating condition; ordinary wear and tear excepted; and (ii) to the Knowledge of the Companies, are structurally sound and free of any material defects. To the Knowledge of the Companies, except as would be observed by an inspection of the Owned Real Property, there are no conditions affecting any of the Owned Real Property that, individually or in the aggregate, interfere in any material respect with the use or occupancy of the Improvements or any portion thereof by any Company in the operation of the Business as currently conducted thereon. There are no outstanding or, to the Knowledge of the Companies, threatened requirements by any insurance company which has issued an insurance policy covering the Owned Real Properties (or to the Companies' Knowledge, the Leased Real Properties) or by any board of fire underwriters or other body exercising similar functions, requiring any repairs or alterations to be done on any Owned Real Property. The Companies have previously provided Purchaser true, correct, and complete copies of all engineering reports, inspection reports, maintenance plans and other documents relating to the condition of any Owned Real Property which are in any Company's possession or control and have been requested by the Purchaser.

(i) The Owned Real Property: (i) is adequately serviced by all utilities necessary for the conduct of the Business as currently conducted thereon; (ii) and all Improvements located on, under, over, or within the Real Property, and other aspects of each parcel of Owned Real Property, to the Knowledge of the Companies: (A) consists of sufficient land, parking areas, sidewalks, driveways and other improvements to permit the continued use of such facilities in the manner and purposes to which they are presently devoted; and (B) has received certificates of occupancy or an equivalent approval from the local Governmental Authority, as required by applicable Real Property Laws, in connection with the Improvements located thereon; (iii) is not subject to, nor has any Governmental Authority threatened to issue any notice or Order that adversely affect the use, occupancy or operation of any part of the Owned Real Property, or requires, as of the date hereof or a specified date in the future, any repairs, or alteration or additions or improvements thereto, or the payment or dedication of any money, fee, exaction or property. No work has been performed during the past year or is in progress by the Companies or any third parties on any of the Owned Real Property and no materials have been furnished to any such parcels or any portion thereof which might give rise to mechanic's, materialman's or other liens against such parcels or any portion thereof. Except as set forth in the Permitted Liens, no portion of the Owned Real Property serves any adjoining or other property for any purpose (including for parking, drainage or access), and the parcels do not

rely on any facilities (including parking facilities) located on any adjoining or other property to fulfill any zoning, building code or other municipal or governmental requirements or for furnishing essential building systems or utilities or for drainage or access.

Section 2.11 <u>Tangible Personal Property; Title; Sufficiency of Assets</u>.

- (a) Section 2.11(a) of the Disclosure Schedule lists all leases of personal property ("Personal Property Leases") involving annual payments in excess of \$12,000 relating to personal property used by any Company or to which any Company is a party or by which the properties of any Company are bound. The Companies have delivered to Purchaser complete and correct copies of the Personal Property Leases, together with all amendments, modifications or supplements thereto.
- (b) Each Company has a valid leasehold interest under each of the Personal Property Leases under which it is a lessee, and there is no default under any Personal Property Lease by any Company, or, to the Knowledge of the Companies, by any other party thereto, and no event has occurred that with the lapse of time or the giving of notice or both would constitute a default thereunder, and each Company, and to the Knowledge of the Companies, each other party thereto is in compliance with all obligations of each Company or such other party, as the case may be, thereunder.
- (c) Each Company (and not any Affiliate thereof) has good and marketable title to all its assets, free and clear of any and all Liens, except for Permitted Liens. Such assets include all assets, rights and interests reasonably required for the continued conduct of the Business by Purchaser.
- (d) All tangible personal property owned by the Companies, and all of the items of tangible personal property used by the Companies under the Personal Property Leases, are structurally sound, are, taken as a whole, in good operating condition and repair, and are adequate for the uses to which they are being put, and, to the Knowledge of the Companies, none of such items of tangible personal property is in need of maintenance or repairs except for ordinary, routine maintenance and repairs that are not material in nature or cost. Section 2.11(d) of the Disclosure Schedule lists all of tangible personal property owned by each Company.

Section 2.12 Intellectual Property.

- (a) The Companies own, free and clear from all Liens, except for Permitted Liens, or otherwise possess legally enforceable rights to use all of the Intellectual Property used by the Companies in the conduct of the Business as it is currently conducted. The Intellectual Property owned by the Companies ("Owned Intellectual Property") and the Intellectual Property licenses comprise all of the Intellectual Property that is used by the Companies in the conduct the Business as it is currently conducted.
- (b) The Companies have no Owned Intellectual Property for which a registration or application has been filed with a Governmental Body, including patents, trademarks, service marks and copyrights, issued by or registered with, or for which any application for issuance or registration thereof has been filed with, any Governmental Body.

<u>Section 2.12(b) of the Disclosure Schedule</u> sets forth a complete and correct list of all trademarks, service marks and other trade designations that are Owned Intellectual Property. The Companies have no written licenses and arrangements other than ordinary course licenses of commercially available software.

- (c) To the Knowledge of the Companies, the continued operation of the Business as presently conducted does not interfere with, infringe upon, misappropriate, or otherwise come into conflict with, any Intellectual Property rights of third parties.
- (d) There is no claim or demand of any Person pertaining to, or any proceeding which is pending or, to the Knowledge of the Companies, threatened, that challenges the rights of any Company in respect of any Owned Intellectual Property.

Section 2.13 Contracts.

- (a) Section 2.13(a) of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth all of the Included Contracts to which each Company is a party or by which it or any of its assets are bound.
- (b) Complete copies of the Included Contracts required to be set forth in Section 2.13(a) of the Disclosure Schedule have previously been provided to Purchaser by the Companies. Except as set forth in Section 2.13(b) of the Disclosure Schedule, all of the Included Contracts disclosed in Section 2.13(a) of the Disclosure Schedule shall, following the Closing, remain enforceable by the Purchaser and, to the Knowledge of the Companies, binding on the other parties thereto, without the Consent of any Person. No Company is in material default, and no event has occurred which, with the giving of notice or the passage of time or both, would constitute a material default, under any such Contract or any other obligation owed by any Company, and, to the Knowledge of the Companies, no event has occurred which, with the giving of notice or the passage of time or both, would constitute a material default by any other party to any such Contract. Each of the Contracts disclosed in Section 2.13(a) of the Disclosure Schedule is in full force and effect, is valid and enforceable in accordance with its terms, subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and similar Laws affecting creditors' rights and remedies generally and subject, as to enforceability, to general principles of equity (regardless of whether enforcement is sought in a proceeding at law or in equity) and, to the Knowledge of the Companies, is not subject to any claims, charges, setoffs or defenses. There are no disputes pending or, to the Knowledge of the Companies, threatened under any such Contract. Each Company, and to the Knowledge of the Companies, each other party thereto is in material compliance with all of its obligations under each such Contract.

Section 2.14 Employee Benefits.

(a) <u>Section 2.14 of the Disclosure Schedule</u> sets forth a complete and correct list of (i) all "employee benefit plans" as defined in Section 3(3) of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended ("<u>ERISA</u>"), and any other pension plans or employee benefit agreements, arrangements, programs or payroll practices (including severance pay, other termination benefits or compensation, vacation pay, salary, company awards, stock option, stock purchase, salary continuation for disability, sick leave, retirement, deferred compensation, bonus or other incentive compensation, stock purchase arrangements or policies, hospitalization,

medical insurance, life insurance and scholarship programs) (whether funded or unfunded, written or oral, qualified or nonqualified), sponsored, maintained or contributed to or required to be contributed to by any Company or by any trade or business, whether or not incorporated, that together with the Companies would be deemed a "single employer" within the meaning of Section 4001 of ERISA (a "Company ERISA Affiliate") for the benefit of any employee, leased employee, director, officer, shareholder or independent contractor (in each case either current or former) of any Company or any Company ERISA Affiliate ("Employee Benefit Plans"). Section 2.14 of the Disclosure Schedule identifies, in separate categories, Employee Benefit Plans that are (i) subject to Section 210(a), 4063 and 4064 of ERISA or Section 413(c) of the Code ("Multiple Employer Plans"), (ii) multiemployer plans (as defined in Section 4001(a) (3) of ERISA) ("Multiemployer Plans") or (iii) "benefit plans", within the meaning of Section 5000(b)(1) of the Code providing continuing benefits after the termination of employment (other than as required by Section 4980B of the Code or Part 6 of Title I of ERISA or similar state or local Law). Each Company has no Liability or contingent Liability with respect to any plan, arrangement or practice of the type described in this Section 2.14 other than the Employee Benefit Plans set forth on Section 2.14 of the Disclosure Schedule.

- (b) Each Company and each Company ERISA Affiliate does not participate currently and has never participated in and is not required currently and has never been required to contribute to or otherwise participate in any Multiemployer Plan or any Multiple Employer Plan. No Employee Benefit Plan is or at any time was a "defined benefit plan" as defined in Section 3(35) of ERISA or a pension plan subject to the funding standards of Section 302 of ERISA or Section 412 of the Code. Each Company does not participate currently and has never participated in and is not required currently and has never been required to contribute to or otherwise participate in any plan, program or arrangement subject to Title IV of ERISA. No Employee Benefit Plan is a multiple employer welfare arrangement as defined in Section 3(40) of ERISA.
- (c) Each of the Employee Benefit Plans intended to qualify under Section 401(a) or 403(a) of the Code ("Qualified Plans") has either received a determination letter from the IRS to such effect and the trusts maintained thereto are exempt from federal income taxation under Section 501 of the Code or, if the Qualified Plan is not eligible currently for a determination letter because of the IRS Cycle filing requirements, has been operated in compliance with the Code. Nothing has occurred or will occur through the Closing with respect to any such plan that would reasonably be expected to cause the loss of such qualification or exemption. There has been no termination or partial termination of such Qualified Plan within the meaning of Code Section 411(d)(3) and the present value of all Liabilities under any such plan will not exceed the current fair market value of the assets of such plan (determined using the actuarial assumption used for the most recent actuarial valuation for such plan).
- (d) All contributions, reimbursements, accruals and premiums required by Law or by the terms of any Employee Benefit Plan or any agreement relating thereto for all periods ending prior to or as of the Closing have been timely paid or properly accrued on the Balance Sheet and the books and records of the Companies. No Employee Benefit Plan has any unfunded Liabilities which are not reflected on the Balance Sheet or the books and records of the Companies.

- (e) There has been no material violation of or material failure to comply with ERISA or the Code with respect to the filing of applicable returns, reports, documents and notices regarding any of the Employee Benefit Plans with the DOL, the IRS, the PBGC or any other Governmental Body or the furnishing of such notices or documents to the participants or beneficiaries of the Employee Benefit Plans.
- (f) True, correct and complete copies of the following documents, with respect to each of the Employee Benefit Plans, have been delivered to or made available to Purchaser: (A) any plans and related trust documents (all amendments thereto), investment management agreements, administrative service contracts, group annuity contracts, insurance contracts, collective bargaining agreements and employee handbooks, (B) the most recent Forms 5500 for the past three years and schedules thereto, (C) the most recent consolidated financial statements and actuarial valuations for the past three years, (D) the most recent IRS determination letters, (E) the most recent summary plan descriptions (including letters or other documents updating such descriptions) and (F) written descriptions of all non-written agreements relating to the Employee Benefit Plans.
- (g) There are no pending Legal Proceedings which have been asserted or instituted or, to the Knowledge of the Companies, threatened against any of the Employee Benefit Plans, the assets of any such plans or of any related trust or the Companies, the plan administrator or any fiduciary of the Employee Benefit Plans with respect to such plans (other than routine benefit claims), and there are no facts or circumstances that could form the basis for any such Legal Proceeding. No Employee Benefit Plan is under audit or investigation by the IRS, DOL, or any other Government Body and no such completed audit, if any, has resulted in the imposition of Tax, interest, or penalty.
- (h) Each of the Employee Benefit Plans complies in all material respects with its terms and all provisions of applicable Law, including ERISA and the Code, and all reporting requirements have been satisfied on a timely basis.
- (i) The Companies maintain a "group health plan" within the meaning of Section 5000(b)(1) of the Code and each plan sponsor or administrator has complied with the COBRA reporting, disclosure, notice, election, and other benefit continuation and coverage requirements of Section 4980B of the Code, the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, Part 6 of Title I of ERISA and the applicable regulations thereunder and any comparable state Laws, including compliance with Companies' COBRA obligations rising in connection with the transactions contemplated herein (assuming Purchaser's compliance with its obligations pursuant to Section 4.11(d)). No Employee Benefit Plan provides medical or dental benefits for any current or former employees or other service providers of any Company or its predecessors after termination of employment or other service other than the rights that may be provided by Law.
- (j) No "prohibited transaction", within the meaning of ERISA or the Code, or breach of any duty imposed on "fiduciaries" pursuant to ERISA has occurred with respect to any Employee Benefit Plan.

- (k) Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby (in each case either alone or in conjunction with any other event) will (i) result in any payment becoming due to any service provider; (ii) increase any benefits otherwise payable to any service provider including under any Employee Benefit Plan; or (iii) result in the acceleration of the time of payment or vesting of any such benefits.
 - (1) No security issued by any Company forms or has formed any part of the assets of any Employee Benefit Plan.
- (m) The consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement will not give rise to any Liability for termination of any agreements related to any Employee Benefit Plan.
- (n) No amounts payable under any Employee Benefit Plan or any other agreement will fail to be deductible for federal income tax purposes by virtue of Section 280G of the Code.
- (o) Each Employee Benefit Plan that purports to provide benefits which qualify for tax-favored treatment under Sections 79, 105, 106, 117, 120, 125, 127, 129, and 132 of the Code satisfies the requirements of said Section(s).
- (p) Each Company has taken such actions necessary with respect to each Employee Benefit Plan to ensure that no service provider of such Company is subject to taxes or penalties under Section 409A of the Code.
- (q) Each Employee Benefit Plan, its related trust and insurance agreement may be unilaterally amended or terminated on no more than ninety (90) days' notice.

Section 2.15 Labor.

- (a) Section 2.15(a) of the Disclosure Schedule contains a list of all persons who are employees, material consultants or material contractors of each Company, and all employees of Perry County Capital Improvement District who perform services at or related to any Perry facility, as of the date hereof, and sets forth for each such individual, to the extent disclosure of such information is permitted by Law, the following: (i) name, (ii) title or position (including whether full or part time), (iii) hire date, (iv) current annual base compensation rate, (v) commission, bonus or other incentive-based compensation, and (vi) designation as either exempt or non-exempt from the overtime requirements of the Fair Labor Standards Act.
- (b) Except as set forth on Section 2.15(b) of the Disclosure Schedule, no Company is, nor has it ever been, a party to or bound by any labor or collective bargaining agreement or other Contract with a labor organization representing any of its employees or any employees of Perry County Capital Improvement District who perform services at or related to any Perry facility, and there are no labor organizations representing, purporting to represent or, to the Companies' Knowledge, attempting to represent any employee. Except as set forth on Section 2.15(b) of the Disclosure Schedule, there has never been, nor has there been any threat of, any strike, slowdown, work stoppage, lockout, concerted refusal to work overtime,

arbitrations or other similar labor activity or dispute affecting any Company or any of its employees or any employees of Perry County Capital Improvement District who perform services at or related to any Perry facility. There are no grievances, arbitrations, unfair labor practice charges, or other labor disputes pending or, to the Knowledge of the Companies, threatened against any Company, except as set forth on <u>Section 2.15(b) of the Disclosure Schedule</u>.

- (c) Except as set forth on Section 2.15(c) of the Disclosure Schedule, no labor organization or group of employees of any Company or, to the Knowledge of the Companies, any group of employees of Perry County Capital Improvement District who perform services at or related to any Perry facility, has made a pending demand for recognition, and there are no representation proceedings or petitions seeking a representation proceeding presently pending or, to the Knowledge of the Companies, threatened to be brought or filed, with the National Labor Relations Board or other labor relations tribunal. Except as set forth on Section 2.15(c) of the Disclosure Schedule, there is no organizing activity involving any Company pending or, to the Knowledge of the Companies, threatened by any labor organization or group of employees of any Company or group of employees of Perry County Capital Improvement District who perform services at or related to any Perry facility.
- (d) Except as set forth on <u>Section 2.15(d)</u> of the <u>Disclosure Schedule</u>, there are no Legal Proceedings against any Company pending or, to the Knowledge of the Companies, threatened which would reasonably be expected to be brought or filed, with any public or Governmental Body based on, arising out of, in connection with, or otherwise relating to the application or recruitment for employment, employment or termination of employment of any individual or group by any Company.
- (e) To the Knowledge of the Companies, no executive or employee currently has any plans to terminate employment with any Company or terminate employment with Perry County Capital Improvement District independently of or as a result of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
- (f) Except as set forth on Section 2.15(f) of the Disclosure Schedule, each Company is and has been in material compliance with all applicable Laws pertaining to employment and employment practices to the extent they relate to the employees of any Company, including all Laws relating to labor relations, equal employment opportunities, fair employment practices, employment discrimination, harassment, retaliation, reasonable accommodation, disability rights or benefits, immigration, wage and hours, overtime compensation, child labor, health and safety, workers' compensation, uniformed services employment, whistleblowers, leaves of absence and unemployment insurance. All individuals characterized and treated by any Company as consultants or contractors are properly treated as independent contractors under all applicable Laws. Except as set forth on Section 2.15(f) of the Disclosure Schedule, there are no Legal Proceedings pending against any Company, or to the Companies' Knowledge, threatened to be brought or filed, by or with any Governmental Body or arbitrator in connection with the employment of any current or former employee, consultant or independent contractor, including any claim relating to unfair labor practices, employment discrimination, harassment, retaliation, equal pay or any other employment related matter arising under applicable Laws. To the Knowledge of the Companies, there are no internal complaints or reports by any current or former employee, consultant or independent contractor pursuant to the anti-harassment policy of any Company that are pending or under investigation.

- (g) Each Company has complied with WARN and has no plans to undertake any action in the future that would trigger WARN, except as may be contemplated by this Agreement.
- (h) To the Knowledge of the Companies, all employees of the Companies, and all of the employees of Perry County Capital Improvement District who perform services at or related to any Perry facility, are residing and/or working in the United States (i) free of any restrictions or limitations on their ability to accept employment lawfully in the United States and (ii) in compliance with all applicable Laws relating to immigration and naturalization. No Legal Proceeding has been filed or commenced against any Company or, to the Companies' Knowledge, any employees thereof or of any employee of Perry County Capital Improvement District who performs services at or related to any Perry facility, that (i) alleges any failure so to comply or (ii) seeks removal, exclusion or other restrictions on (A) such employee's ability to reside and/or accept employment lawfully in the United States and/or (B) the continued ability of any Company to sponsor employees for immigration benefits and, to the Knowledge of the Companies, there is no reasonable basis for any of the foregoing. To the Knowledge of the Companies, there is no reasonable basis to believe that any employee of any Company, or any employee of Perry County Capital Improvement District who performs services at or related to any Perry facility, will not be able to continue to so reside and/or accept employment lawfully in the United States in accordance with all such Laws. Each Company maintains adequate internal systems and procedures to provide reasonable assurance that all employee hiring is conducted in compliance with all applicable Laws relating to immigration and naturalization. No audit, investigation or other Legal Proceeding has been commenced against any Company at any time with respect to its compliance with applicable Laws relating to immigration and naturalization in connection with its hiring practices.

Section 2.16 Litigation.

- (a) Except as set forth in Section 2.16(a) of the Disclosure Schedule, there is no Legal Proceeding pending or, to the Knowledge of the Companies, threatened against any Company (or to the Knowledge of the Companies, pending or threatened against any of the officers, directors, managers or key employees of any Company in relation to such Company or the Business) or any of the Owned Real Property before any court or other Governmental Body or any arbitral tribunal, nor to the Knowledge of the Companies is there any basis for any such Legal Proceeding.
- (b) Except as set forth in <u>Section 2.16(b) of the Disclosure Schedule</u>, no Company is currently engaged in any Legal Proceeding to recover monies due it or for damages sustained by it. No Company is subject to any Order of any Governmental Body.

Section 2.17 Compliance with Laws; Permits.

(a) Each Company is, and has at all times been, in material compliance with all Laws applicable to it or the operation, use, occupancy or ownership of its assets or properties

or the conduct of the Business. Except as set forth in <u>Section 2.17(a) of the Disclosure Schedule</u>, no Company has received written notice from any Governmental Body of, and the Companies have no Knowledge of, any material failure to comply with any Law. There is no investigation by a Governmental Body pending against or, to the Knowledge of the Companies, threatened against any Company.

- (b) <u>Section 2.17(b) of the Disclosure Schedule</u> contains a complete and accurate list of each Permit that is held by any Company or that otherwise relates to the Business. Each Permit listed or required to be listed in <u>Section 2.17(b) of the Disclosure Schedule</u> is valid and in full force and effect. Except as set forth in <u>Section 2.17(b) of the Disclosure Schedule</u>:
 - (i) each Company is, and has been, in material compliance with all of the terms and requirements of each Permit identified or required to be identified in <u>Section 2.17(b) of the Disclosure Schedule</u>;
 - (ii) no event has occurred or circumstance exists that may (with or without notice or lapse of time) (A) constitute or result directly or indirectly in a violation of or a material failure to comply with any term or requirement of any Permit identified or required to be identified in Section 2.17(b) of the Disclosure Schedule or (B) result directly or indirectly in the revocation, withdrawal, suspension, cancellation or termination of, or any modification to, any Permit identified or required to be identified in Section 2.17(b) of the Disclosure Schedule;
 - (iii) no Company has received any notice or other communication (whether oral or written) from any Governmental Body or any other Person regarding (A) any actual, alleged, possible or potential violation of or failure to comply with any term or requirement of any Permit or (B) any actual, proposed, possible or potential revocation, withdrawal, suspension, cancellation, termination of or modification to any Permit; and
 - (iv) all applications required to have been filed for the renewal of the Permit identified or required to be identified in <u>Section 2.17(b)</u> of the <u>Disclosure Schedule</u> have been duly filed on a timely basis with the appropriate Governmental Bodies, and all other filings required to have been made with respect to such Permits have been duly made on a timely basis with the appropriate Governmental Bodies.

The Permits identified in Section 2.17(b) of the Disclosure Schedule collectively constitute all of the material Permits necessary to enable each Company to lawfully conduct and operate the Business in the manner currently conducted and to own and use its assets in the manner in which it currently owns and uses such assets.

(c) All medical records and protected health information maintained by or in the possession of each Company are maintained in material compliance with, and each Company is and has been in material compliance with HIPAA. None of the Companies has had reported to it any breach of "unsecured protected health information" (as defined in HIPAA) and the Companies do not have Knowledge of any such breach. There is no pending or, to the Companies' Knowledge, threatened, and during the last five years there

has been no, Legal Proceeding of, against or involving any Company relating to any violation or breach, or alleged violation or breach, of HIPAA, nor has any Company received any notice from the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services Office of Civil Rights, the U.S. Department of Justice or other Governmental Body regarding any such breach or violation or alleged breach or violation. The Companies have made available to Purchaser true, complete and correct copies of any and all written complaints or notices alleging a breach or violation of HIPAA by any Company. Each Company has entered into a business associate agreement with each Person that is a "business associate" with respect to such Company or with respect to which such Company is a "business associate," and no Company and, to the Companies' Knowledge, no other party thereto is in breach or default under any such business associate agreement.

Section 2.18 Environmental Matters.

- (a) The operations of each Company are currently and have been in material compliance with all applicable Environmental Laws and all Permits issued pursuant to Environmental Laws or otherwise ("Environmental Permits");
- (b) Each Company has obtained and currently maintains all Environmental Permits required under all applicable Environmental Laws necessary to operate the Business as presently conducted;
- (c) No Company is the subject of any outstanding written Order or Contract with any Governmental Body or other Person respecting any Environmental Laws or any Release or threatened Release of a Hazardous Material;
- (d) No Company has received any written communication alleging either that it may be in violation of any Environmental Law or Environmental Permit or that it may have any Liability under any Environmental Law or with respect to any Release of Hazardous Material
- (e) No Company has incurred, assumed or undertaken any contingent Liability in connection with any Release of any Hazardous Materials into the indoor or outdoor environment (whether on-site or off-site) and, to the Knowledge of the Companies, there are no facts, circumstances or conditions relating to, arising out of or attributable to it that could give rise to Liability under Environmental Laws; and
- (f) Except as set forth in Section 2.18(f) of the Disclosure Schedule, to the Knowledge of the Companies, there is not located at any of the Owned Real Properties any (i) storage, septic, or other aboveground or underground storage tanks, (ii) asbestos or asbestos-containing material (iii) equipment containing polychlorinated biphenyls, (iv) lead-based paint, or (v) mold.
- (g) <u>Section 2.18(g) of the Disclosure Schedule</u> sets forth a true, correct, and complete list of all: (i) reports of environmental assessments, audits, investigations, or other similar studies or analyses which have been performed by or on behalf of any Seller Party, or which are otherwise in any Seller Party's possession, with respect to any of the Owned Real Property; and (ii) each Company's insurance policies issued at any time that may provide

coverage to any Company for environmental matters; and with respect to each of (i) or (ii) above, the Companies have delivered true, correct, and complete copies of such documents to Purchaser.

Section 2.19 <u>Insurance</u>. <u>Section 2.19 of the Disclosure Schedule</u> includes a correct and complete list and description, including policy number, coverage and deductible, of all insurance policies owned by each Company, complete copies of which policies have previously been delivered to Purchaser by the Companies. Such policies are in full force and effect, all premiums due thereon have been paid and no Company is in default thereunder. Such insurance policies are sufficient for compliance with all applicable Laws and Contracts to which each Company is a party or by which it is bound. No Company has received any notice of cancellation or intent to cancel or increase or intent to increase premiums with respect to such insurance policies nor, to the Knowledge of the Companies, is there any basis for any such action. <u>Section 2.19 of the Disclosure Schedule</u> also contains a list of all pending claims and any claims in the past five (5) years with any insurance company by any Company and any instances within the previous five (5) years of a denial of coverage of any Company.

Section 2.20 Receivables; Payables.

- (a) The accounts receivable and notes receivable of each Company reflected in the Balance Sheet and arising after the date thereof have arisen in bona fide arm's-length transactions in the ordinary and usual course of business consistent with past custom and practice, and, subject to the allowance for doubtful accounts set forth in the Balance Sheet, all such receivables are valid, collectible and binding obligations of the account debtors without any counterclaims, setoffs or other defenses thereto. All such reserves, allowances and discounts were and are adequate and consistent in extent with the reserves, allowances and discounts previously maintained by the Companies in the ordinary and usual course of business consistent with past custom and practice and determined in accordance with GAAP. A complete list of all accounts receivable and notes receivable of the Companies as of December 31, 2014 is included in Section 2.20 of the Disclosure Schedule.
- (b) All accounts payable of the Companies reflected on the Balance Sheet and arising after the date thereof are the result of bona fide transactions in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice and have been paid or are not yet due and payable, except for accounts payable that are being disputed in good faith in an appropriate manner and for which there are adequate reserves on the Balance Sheet, or, with respect to accounts payable arising after the Balance Sheet Date, on the accounting records of the Companies.

Section 2.21 Customers and Suppliers.

(a) Section 2.21(a) of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth a complete and correct list of the top ten (10) customers of the Business for the twelve months ended December 31, 2013 and 2014, and the amount of sales to each such customer during such period. To the Knowledge of the Companies, except as set forth on Section 2.21(a) of the Disclosure Schedule, no such customer has cancelled or otherwise terminated, reduced, or threatened to cancel or terminate or reduce, its relationship with any Company, nor is there any dispute therewith.

(b) <u>Section 2.21(b)</u> of the <u>Disclosure Schedule</u> sets forth a complete and correct list of the top ten (10) suppliers of the Business for the twelve months ended December 31, 2013 and 2014, and the amount of purchases from each such supplier during such period. To the Knowledge of the Companies, except as set forth on <u>Section 2.21(b)</u> of the <u>Disclosure Schedule</u>, no such supplier has cancelled or otherwise terminated, reduced, or threatened to cancel or terminate or reduce, its relationship with any Company, nor is there any dispute therewith.

Section 2.22 <u>Related Party Transactions</u>. Except as described in <u>Section 2.22 of the Disclosure Schedule</u>, since December 31, 2011, no Company has loaned or borrowed any amounts to or from, and does not have outstanding any Indebtedness or other similar obligations to or from, any Affiliate of any Company or any Company Equityholder. Except as described in <u>Section 2.22 of the Disclosure Schedule</u>, since December 31, 2011, no Company nor any of its Affiliates nor, to the Knowledge of the Companies, any of its officers, managers or employees, has (i) owned any direct or indirect interest of any kind in, or controls or is a director, officer, manager, employee or partner of, or consultant to, or lender to or borrower from or has the right to participate in the profits of, any Person which is (A) a competitor, supplier, distributor, customer, landlord, tenant, creditor or debtor of any Company, (B) engaged in a business related to the business of any Company, or (C) a participant in any material transaction to which any Company has been a party or (ii) been a party to any Contract with any Company or engaged in any transaction or business with any Company. Except as described in <u>Section 2.22 of the Disclosure Schedule</u>, no Company has any Contract or understanding with any officer, director, manager, employee, limited liability company member or shareholder of any Company, or any Affiliate of any such Person that relates, directly or indirectly, to the subject matter of any Transaction Document or the consideration payable thereunder or that contains any terms, provisions or conditions relating to the entry into or performance of any Transaction Document by any Company.

Section 2.23 <u>Brokers Fees and Other Arrangements</u>. No Company has any Liability to pay any fees, commissions or compensation of any kind to any Venture Party, former employee, director or independent contractor of any Company, or any of their Affiliates, or to any investment banker, broker, finder or agent, with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. No portion of the Transaction Consideration, nor any other compensation or amount, is payable or will become due or payable to any Venture Party, former employee, director or independent contractor of any Company, or any of their Affiliates, as a result of the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. No Company is a party to, nor are any of their assets bound by, any Contract to which any Venture Party, former employee, director or independent contractor of any Company, or any of their Affiliates, is a party. No Venture Party, former employee, director or independent contractor of any Company, or any of their Affiliates, is entitled to any future compensation or otherwise holds any right with respect to the Business. For purposes of this <u>Section 2.23</u>, "<u>Venture Party</u>" means (i) any Person that is, with respect to any Company, a co-venturer, joint venture partner or similar Person, or (ii) any Person, and such Person's Affiliates, that is a stockholder, member or other equity security holder (other than LCS, with respect to its minority interest in each of the Facility Entities).

Section 2.24 <u>Absence of Certain Business Practices</u>. Except as set forth in <u>Section 2.24 of the Disclosure Schedule</u>, each Seller Party has not, and no Affiliate or agent of any Seller Party, and no other Person acting on behalf of or associated with any Seller Party, acting alone or together, has (a) received, directly or indirectly, any rebates, payments, commissions, promotional allowances or any other economic benefits, regardless of their nature or type, from any customer, supplier or employee or agent of any customer or supplier; or (b) directly or indirectly given or agreed to give any money, gift or similar benefit to any customer, supplier or employee or agent of any customer or supplier, any official or employee of any government (domestic or foreign), or any political party or candidate for office (domestic or foreign), or other Person who was, is or may be in a position to help or hinder the business of any Company (or assist any Company in connection with any actual or proposed transaction), in each case which may subject any Company to any damage or penalty in any civil, criminal or governmental litigation or proceeding.

Section 2.25 <u>Business Continuity</u>. None of the computer software, computer hardware (whether general or special purpose), telecommunications capabilities (including all voice, data and video networks) and other similar or related items of automated, computerized, and/or software systems and any other networks or systems and related services that are used by or relied on by any Company in the conduct of the Business (collectively, the "<u>Systems</u>") have experienced material failures, breakdowns, or continued substandard performance in the past twelve (12) months that has caused any material disruption or interruption in or to the use of any such Systems by any Company.

Section 2.26 <u>Bulk Sales</u>; <u>Solvency</u>. The transactions contemplated by this Agreement are not subject to any bulk sales, transfer or similar Laws of any jurisdiction. Each Company is presently and will continue to be solvent upon the consummation of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby.

Section 2.27 <u>Bank Accounts; Powers of Attorney.</u> Section 2.27 of the <u>Disclosure Schedule</u> sets forth (a) with respect to any borrowing or investment arrangements, deposit or checking accounts or safety deposit boxes of each Company, the name of the financial institution, the type of account and the account number, and (b) the name of each Person holding a general or special power of attorney from or with respect to each Company and a description of the terms of each such power.

Section 2.28 <u>Activities of Gottlieb & Gottlieb, P.A.</u> Except (i) as set forth on <u>Schedule 2.28 of the Disclosure Schedule</u>, (ii) for its service as trustee under the Loan Agreements, and (iii) for its service as trustee under those Mortgage Loan Agreements that were satisfied in connection with the consummation of the issuance of the 2014 Bonds, Gottlieb & Gottlieb, P.A. has not acted on behalf of any Company as its agent, principal or representative, including by executing any Contract pursuant to which any Company or its assets are bound, disbursing or receiving any funds, or otherwise exercising any right of any Company. In connection with the consummation of the issuance of the 2014 Bonds, Gottlieb & Gottlieb, P.A. duly satisfied, in accordance with its terms, each Mortgage Loan Agreement (or similar loan document or agreement) in effect with respect to each of Basile, Brooks, Caldwell, Hidalgo, Nueces and Pine Prairie immediately prior to the consummation of the issuance of the 2014 Bonds, and no amounts remained due or owing to any loan party thereto following the consummation of such issuance.

Section 2.29 No Other Representations, Disclaimer. EXCEPT AS SPECIFICALLY SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT AND THE OTHER TRANSACTION DOCUMENTS, NONE OF THE SELLER PARTIES OR ANY OF THEIR RESPECTIVE AFFILIATES, OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, EMPLOYEES OR REPRESENTATIVES ARE HEREBY MAKING ANY REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY TO PURCHASER OR ITS AFFILIATES, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, AT LAW OR IN EQUITY.

ARTICLE III REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PURCHASER

Purchaser represents and warrants to the Companies as follows:

Section 3.1 Organization. GEO is a corporation, duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the State of Florida, and has all requisite corporate power and authority to own, lease and operate its properties and to carry on its business. Correctional Properties, LLC is a limited liability company, duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws of the State of Delaware, and has all requisite corporate or limited liability company power and authority to own, lease and operate its properties and to carry on its business. Purchaser is duly qualified or authorized to do business as a foreign company and is in good standing under the Laws of each jurisdiction in which the conduct of its business or the ownership of its properties requires such qualification or authorization, except where the failure to be so qualified for authorized would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 3.2 <u>Authorization and Enforceability</u>. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the Transaction Documents to which Purchaser is a party have been duly authorized by all necessary action by or on behalf of Purchaser. Purchaser has full power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and each other Transaction Document to which it is a party, and to perform its obligations hereunder and thereunder. This Agreement and each Transaction Document to which Purchaser is or will be a party has been or will be duly and validly executed and delivered and constitutes the valid and legally binding obligation of Purchaser, enforceable against Purchaser in accordance with its terms, subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and similar Laws affecting creditors' rights and remedies generally and subject, as to enforceability, to general principles of equity (regardless of whether enforcement is sought in a proceeding at Law or in equity).

Section 3.3 <u>Conflicts; Consent of Third Parties</u>. Neither the execution and the delivery by Purchaser of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents to which it is a party, nor the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby on the part of Purchaser, will, with or without the passage of time or the giving of notice (a) conflict with, or result in the breach of, any provision of the Governing Documents of Purchaser or (b) conflict with, violate, result in the breach or termination of, or constitute a default under, result in an acceleration of, or create in any party the right to accelerate, terminate, modify or cancel, any Contract to which Purchaser is a party or by which Purchaser or its properties or assets are bound.

- Section 3.4 <u>Brokers Fees</u>. Purchaser has no Liability to pay any fees or commissions to any broker, finder or agent with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
- Section 3.5 <u>No Proceedings</u>. No suit, action or other proceeding is pending before any Governmental Body seeking to restrain or prohibit Purchaser from entering into this Agreement or to prohibit the Closing or the performance of any other obligation hereunder.
- Section 3.6 <u>Sufficient Transaction Consideration</u>. Purchaser will have as of the Closing Date, cash or cash equivalents on hand in an amount sufficient to enable it to pay the full amount of the Transaction Consideration and to consummate the transactions contemplated herein.
- Section 3.7 No Other Representations. EXCEPT AS SPECIFICALLY SET FORTH IN THIS AGREEMENT AND THE OTHER TRANSACTION DOCUMENTS, NEITHER THE PURCHASERS NOR ANY OF ITS AFFILIATES, OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, EMPLOYEES OR REPRESENTATIVES IS HEREBY MAKING ANY REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY TO THE SELLER PARTIES, OR ANY OF THEIR AFFILIATES, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, AT LAW OR IN EQUITY.

ARTICLE IV COVENANTS

Section 4.1 Commercially Reasonable Efforts; Notices and Consents.

- (a) Each of the Parties shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to take all action required of it and to do all things necessary, proper or advisable on its part in order to consummate and make effective the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and each of the Transaction Documents (including satisfaction, but not waiver, of the conditions set forth in <u>ARTICLE V</u>).
- (b) Each of the Parties shall give any notices to, make any filings with, and use their commercially reasonable efforts to obtain any Consents which are required to be given, made or obtained by it in connection with consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. Without limiting the foregoing, on the date of this Agreement, LCS shall deliver to the 2014 Bond Trustee, written notice of the transactions contemplated hereby and instruction to the 2014 Bond Trustee to give, as soon as practicable, notice of extraordinary mandatory redemption of the 2014 Bonds (the "Notice of Redemption") under Section 3.07 of the Indenture (as defined below) to the holders of the 2014 Bonds and to redeem, on the thirtieth (30th) day after the giving of such Notice of Redemption (the "Redemption Date"), all of those certain Industrial Development Authority of the County of La Paz, Arizona, Senior Lien Project Revenue Bonds (Federally Taxable) Series 2014 (the "2014 Bonds") issued under that certain Trust Indenture between The Industrial Development Authority of the County of La Paz, Arizona (the "Issuer") and the 2014 Bond Trustee, dated as of January 1, 2014 (the "Indenture"). At Closing, LCS shall cause the Issuer to deliver to the Trustee the items necessary to defease the 2014 Bonds and cause the Trustee to issue a notice of satisfaction and discharge as provided for

in Article X of the Indenture satisfactory in all respects to Purchaser (the "<u>Defeasance Certificate</u>"), together with satisfactions of the Deeds of Trust and other mortgages encumbering the Owned Real Property, releases of any other collateral securing the 2014 Bonds (other than such portion of the Purchase Price deposited to defease the 2014 Bonds), satisfactory in all respects to the Purchaser, including by providing such opinions of counsel and other certificates, report and other instruments that the 2014 Bond Trustee may require. The costs and expenses associated with the defeasance and redemption described in this <u>Section 4.1(b)</u> shall be borne by Purchaser as set forth in <u>Section 8.2</u>.

- (c) From the date hereof until the Closing, the Companies shall promptly notify Purchaser in writing of:
- (i) any fact, circumstance, event or action the existence, occurrence or taking of which (A) has had, or could reasonably be expected to have, individually or in the aggregate, a Company Material Adverse Effect, (B) has resulted in, or could reasonably be expected to result in, any representation or warranty made by Seller Parties hereunder not being true and correct or (C) has resulted in, or could reasonably be expected to result in, the failure of any of the conditions set forth in <u>Section 5.1</u> to be satisfied;
- (ii) any notice or other communication from any Person alleging that the consent of such Person is or may be required in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement;
- (iii) any notice or other communication from any Governmental Body in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement; and
- (iv) any Legal Proceedings commenced or, to the Companies' Knowledge, threatened against, relating to or involving or otherwise affecting any Seller Party that, if pending on the date of this Agreement, would have been required to have been disclosed pursuant to <u>Section 2.16</u> or that relates to the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

Purchaser's receipt of information pursuant to this $\underline{\text{Section 4.1(c)}}$ shall not operate as a waiver or otherwise affect any representation, warranty or agreement given or made by the Seller Parties in this Agreement (including $\underline{\text{Section 6.1}}$ and $\underline{\text{Section 7.1(b)}}$) and shall not be deemed to amend or supplement the Disclosure Schedule.

Section 4.2 Access to Information; Financial Statements.

(a) From the date hereof until the Closing, the Companies shall (i) afford Purchaser and its employees, agents, accountants and legal and financial advisors (collectively, the "Purchaser's Agents") with reasonable access, during normal business hours, to the offices, Owned Real Properties, Leased Properties, and all other properties of the Companies, and Books and Records of the Companies relating to the Business, but only to the extent that such access does not unreasonably interfere with the operations of the Companies and (ii) furnish to Purchaser's Agents such additional financial and operating data and other information regarding the operations of the Companies as Purchaser may from time to time reasonably request. The

Companies shall facilitate Purchaser's contact and communication with the employees and personnel of the Companies, customers, suppliers, vendors and distributors of the Business, all as requested upon reasonable notice by Purchaser to the Seller Parties' Representative and during normal business hours after the date hereof. The Companies shall direct the employees and personnel of the Companies to cooperate with Purchaser in connection with the foregoing. In order to achieve a smooth transition consistent with the mutual business interests of the Seller Parties and Purchaser, the Parties agree that they will enter into and continue good faith discussions concerning the Companies, including personnel policies and procedures, and other operational matters relating to the Companies.

- (b) From the date hereof until the Closing, the Companies shall, as soon as practicable and in any event within fifteen (15) days after the end of each fiscal month of the Companies, deliver to Purchaser the internally prepared consolidated financial statements of the Companies as of the end of such fiscal month, for such fiscal month and for the period from the beginning of the then-current fiscal year to the end of such fiscal month.
- Section 4.3 <u>Operation of Business</u>. Except as set forth in <u>Section 4.3 of the Disclosure Schedule</u> (arranged in subsections corresponding to the subsections set forth below), and except as contemplated by this Agreement, during the period from the date of this Agreement to the Closing, the Companies shall use their commercially reasonable efforts to conduct their Business operations in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice and in compliance with all applicable Laws, and to the extent consistent therewith, use their commercially reasonable efforts to preserve intact their current business organization, keep their physical assets in good working condition, keep available the services of their current officers and employees and preserve their relationships with Governmental Bodies, customers, suppliers and others having business dealings with them to the end that their goodwill and ongoing business shall not be impaired in any material respect. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, during the period from the date of this Agreement to the Closing, the Companies shall not, without the written consent of Purchaser, take any of the following actions:
- (a) declare or pay any dividends or distributions on or in respect of any of the capital stock or other securities of any Company, or redeem, purchase or acquire any capital stock or other securities of any Company or make any other payment to or on behalf of any shareholder, limited liability company member or other equity holder of any Company or any Affiliate thereof;
- (b) make any change in the rate of compensation, commission, bonus or other direct or indirect remuneration payable, or pay or agree or orally promise to pay, conditionally or otherwise, any bonus, incentive, retention or other compensation, retirement, welfare, fringe or severance benefit or vacation pay, to or in respect of any director, officer, manager, distributor or agent of any Company, other than increases in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice in the base wages or salaries of employees of any Company;
 - (c) enter into or amend any employment, deferred compensation, severance or similar contract;

- (d) compensate any director or manager of any Company, including any payment in the nature of director's fees;
- (e) materially change any of its accounting or Tax reporting principles, methods or policies, settle any Tax controversy, amend any Tax Return, or make any material Tax election by or with respect to any Company;
- (f) except for the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, enter into any material transaction or Contract, or amend any Included Contract, other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;
- (g) hire any employees or engage any independent contractors other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with, and at a level consistent with, past practice;
 - (h) breach any Included Contract in any material respect, or willfully or intentionally breach any other Contract;
 - (i) make any loans, advances or capital contributions to, or investments in, any Person;
- (j) mortgage, pledge or subject to any Lien any of its assets, or acquire any assets or sell, assign, transfer, convey, lease or otherwise dispose of any assets of any Company except for assets acquired or sold, assigned, transferred, conveyed, leased or otherwise disposed of in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;
- (k) cancel or compromise any debt or claim or amend, cancel, terminate, relinquish, waive or release any Included Contract or any right that is a Purchased Asset, except in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice and which, in the aggregate, are not material to any Company;
- (l) enter into or amend any Contract or transaction with any of its Affiliates or pay any fees, expenses or other amounts to any Affiliate of any Company;
- (m) make or commit to make any capital expenditures or capital additions or improvements (i) in excess of \$75,000 individually or \$250,000 in the aggregate or (ii) outside the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice;
- (n) enter into any prepaid services transactions with any of its customers or otherwise inappropriately accelerate revenue recognition or the sales of its services for periods prior to the Closing;
 - (o) amend any of its Governing Documents;
- (p) adopt any plan of merger, consolidation, reorganization, liquidation or dissolution or file a petition in bankruptcy under any provisions of federal or state bankruptcy Law or consent to the filing of any bankruptcy petition against it under any similar Law or other agreement with respect to the sale of its assets, securities or Business;

- (q) issue any equity or debt securities or any security exercisable or exchangeable for or convertible into equity securities of any Company, or incur any Indebtedness or other Liabilities (other than in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice);
- (r) (i) discharge, repay, amend, modify, make payment on, cancel or compromise any Indebtedness, or discharge or satisfy any Lien, or (ii) engage in any transaction or provide any consideration relating to the release, modification or diminution of any guarantee, bond, surety or other obligation of any Company or any Affiliate thereof;
- (s) take any action or omit to take any action that is reasonably likely to result in any of the conditions set forth in $\underline{ARTICLE\ V}$ not being satisfied;
 - (t) enter into any Contract or instrument that will affect the marketability of title to any part of the Owned Real Properties; or
 - (u) enter into any Contracts or commitments to do or perform in the future any actions prohibited by this Section 4.3.

Section 4.4 Further Assurances; Litigation Support.

- (a) If any further action is necessary or desirable to carry out the purposes of this Agreement, each of the Parties will take such further action (including the execution and delivery of such further instruments and documents) as any other Party reasonably may request; provided, however, that no Party shall be required to incur any out-of-pocket expense in connection therewith if it may be entitled to indemnity in connection therewith. For a reasonable period of time following the Closing, the Seller Parties shall cooperate reasonably with Purchaser, at Purchaser's reasonable expense, to encourage each lessor, licensor, customer, supplier, or other business associate of each Company to maintain the same business relationships with each such Company after the Closing as it maintained with each such Company prior to the Closing.
- (b) Following the Closing, in the event and for so long as Purchaser actively is involved in, contesting or defending against any Legal Proceeding in connection with any fact, situation, circumstances, status, condition, activity, practice, plan, occurrence, event, incident, action, Tax matter, failure to act, or transaction involving any Company or the Purchased Assets, each Seller Party shall cooperate reasonably with Purchaser and Purchaser's counsel in such involvement, contest or defense, and provide such testimony and access to their books and records as shall be reasonably necessary in connection with such contest or defense.
- (c) Following the Closing, in the event and for so long as the Seller Parties are actively involved in, contesting or defending against any Legal Proceeding in connection with any fact, situation, circumstances, status, condition, activity, practice, plan, occurrence, event, incident, action, Tax matter, failure to act, or transaction involving any Company or the Purchased Assets, Purchaser shall, at no out of pocket expense to Purchaser or its Affiliates, cooperate reasonably with the Seller Parties' Representative and the Seller Parties' Representative's counsel in such involvement, contest or defense, and provide such access to the books and records of Purchaser as are solely related to the Business and as shall be reasonably necessary in connection with such contest or defense.

Section 4.5 Names and Logos. From and after the Closing, the Seller Parties will not, and will cause their respective Affiliates not to (i) use any names or logos incorporating or similar to "LCS," "Louisiana Corrections Services," "Perry Detention Services" or any derivatives thereof or any other trade name used in the Business (the "<u>Prohibited Names</u>"), or (ii) grant or otherwise provide any consent, approval or authorization for any Person to use the Prohibited Names. The Seller Parties shall have a period of thirty (30) days following the Closing to effect any name changes or other actions which will allow them to comply with the requirements of clause (i) of this <u>Section 4.5</u>.

Section 4.6 Mail; Payments; Receivables; Bank Accounts.

- (a) From and after the Closing, the Active Equityholders shall, and agree to cause the Companies to, refer to Purchaser all customer, supplier, employee or other inquiries or correspondence relating to the Purchased Assets or the conduct of the Business after the Closing Date. From and after the Closing, the Active Equityholders further agree to, and further agree to cause the Companies, subject to Section 4.6(b) and (c), to remit to Purchaser all payments and invoices received by them or their Affiliates that relate to the Purchased Assets (including accounts receivable), the Assumed Liabilities or the conduct of the Business after the Closing Date within ten (10) Business Days after their receipt thereof. If Purchaser or its Affiliates receives or collects any funds relating to any Excluded Asset, Purchaser or its Affiliates shall remit any such funds to the Companies within ten (10) Business Days after their receipt thereof.
- (b) The Active Equityholders shall cause the Companies, on or prior to the Closing, to deliver to each financial institution set forth on Section 1.1(a)(xvi) of the Disclosure Schedule and Section 2.27 of the Disclosure Schedule irrevocable direction letters in form satisfactory to Purchaser (i) instructing each such financial institution to deliver, by wire transfer immediately upon receipt and in no event later than one (1) Business Day after receipt, the contents of all accounts set forth on Section 1.1(a)(xvi) of the Disclosure Schedule and Section 2.27 of the Disclosure Schedule (the "Old Accounts") to the bank accounts designated by Purchaser in writing (the "New Accounts"), and (ii) instructing such financial institutions that all assets deposited in the Old Accounts after the Closing Date, if any, shall be remitted to Purchaser by wire transfer to the New Accounts immediately upon deposit, and in no event later than one (1) Business Day of the deposit, of any asset in the Old Accounts (the "Irrevocable Direction Letters").
- (c) The Active Equityholders shall cause the Companies, on or prior to the Closing, to deliver written notice, in form satisfactory to Purchaser, to (i) each of the Governmental Bodies set forth on Section 4.6(c) of the Disclosure Schedule, and (ii) any other Person who has deposited any assets in the Old Accounts since December 31, 2013, instructing such Governmental Bodies and other Persons that any amounts owed to the Companies with respect to operation of the Companies prior to the Closing, and any amounts owed with respect to the operation of the Business after the Closing, must be deposited in the New Accounts (the "New Account Notices").

Section 4.7 Public Announcements; Confidentiality.

- (a) Unless otherwise required by applicable Law or rule of any applicable securities exchange, no Seller Party shall (and, prior to the Closing, Purchaser shall not), and each Seller Party shall cause its Affiliates, agents, representatives and professionals not to (and, prior to the Closing, Purchaser shall cause its Affiliates, agents, representatives and professionals not to), and, prior to the Closing, each Company shall not, make any disclosure or public announcements in respect of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby (including price and terms) or otherwise communicate with any news media without the prior written consent of the other Parties.
- (b) From and after the Closing, each Seller Party shall, and shall cause its respective Affiliates to, hold, and shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to cause its or their respective representatives to hold, in confidence (and not disclose or provide access to any other Person) any and all information, whether written or oral, concerning any Company or the Business, except to the extent that such Seller Party can show that such information (i) was required to be disclosed pursuant to judicial or administrative process or by other requirements of Law; (ii) is generally available to and known by the public through no fault of any Seller Party or any of their respective Affiliates or representatives from and after the Closing from sources unrelated to Purchaser or any Seller Party which is not known to such Seller Party, or could reasonably expected to be, prohibited from disclosing such information by a legal, contractual or fiduciary party obligation. If any Seller Party or any of its respective Affiliates or representatives are compelled to disclose any information by judicial or administrative process or by other requirements of Law, such Seller Party shall promptly notify Purchaser in writing and shall disclose only that portion of such information which such Seller Party is advised by their counsel in writing is legally required to be disclosed; provided, however, that such Seller Party shall cooperate reasonably with the Purchaser, at the Purchaser's expense, to the extent that the Purchaser desires to attempt to obtain from any court of competent jurisdiction an appropriate protective order or other reasonable assurance that confidential treatment will be accorded such information.

Section 4.8 Tax Covenants.

- (a) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, any Tax (including sales Tax, use Tax, income Tax, or documentary stamp Tax) attributable to the sale or transfer of the Assets or any other transaction contemplated in the Transaction Documents shall be paid by the Companies.
- (b) The Parties agree, for all Tax purposes, to report the transactions effected pursuant to the Transaction Documents in a manner consistent with the terms of this Agreement and no Party shall take a position on any Tax return, before any Tax authority or in any judicial proceeding that is, in any manner, inconsistent with such treatment without the consent of the other Parties or unless specifically required pursuant to a determination by an applicable Tax authority. The Parties shall promptly advise one another of the existence of any Tax audit, controversy or litigation related to the Tax treatment of the transactions effected pursuant to the Transaction Documents.

- Section 4.9 <u>Exclusive Dealing</u>. During the period from the date hereof through the Closing Date or the earlier termination of this Agreement, the Seller Parties shall not, directly or indirectly, and shall cause their respective officers, directors, managers, members, trustees, employees, agents, consultants, representatives, advisors and Affiliates to not, directly or indirectly:
- (a) solicit, facilitate or encourage the initiation of any inquiry, proposal or offer from any Person (other than Purchaser or its Affiliates) relating to a possible Acquisition Transaction;
- (b) participate in any discussions or negotiations or enter into any agreement with, or provide any non-public information to, any Person (other than Purchaser or its Affiliates) relating to or in connection with a possible Acquisition Transaction; or
 - (c) accept any proposal or offer from any Person (other than Purchaser or its Affiliates) relating to a possible Acquisition Transaction.

The Seller Parties further agree that they shall, prior to the earlier of the Closing or the termination of this Agreement in accordance with its terms, promptly (and in no event later than 24 hours after receipt thereof) notify Purchaser orally and in writing of any inquiry, proposal or offer relating to a possible Acquisition Transaction, including the identity of the Person making or submitting such inquiry, proposal or offer, and the terms thereof (including a copy of any written inquiry, proposal or offer) that is received by any Seller Party or any representative thereof from the date of this Agreement through the Closing Date.

Section 4.10 Non-Competition; Non-Solicitation.

- (a) Each Seller Party acknowledges that it is familiar with certain trade secrets and other confidential information of the Companies. Therefore, each Seller Party agrees to the covenants set forth in this Section 4.10 and acknowledges that Purchaser would not have entered into this Agreement but for Seller Parties' agreement to the restrictions set forth in this Section 4.10.
- (b) Except as set forth in Section 4.10(c) and Section 4.10(d), for a period of five (5) years from and after the Closing Date (the "General Restricted Period"), no Seller Party shall, directly or indirectly, own, operate, lease, manage, control, engage in, invest in, lend to, own any debt or equity security of, permit its name to be used by, act as consultant or advisor to, render services for (alone or in association with any person, firm, corporate or other business organization) or otherwise assist in any manner any Person in any business that is engaged in developing, building, managing, operating or consulting for correctional and/or detention facilities or halfway-house and/or reporting centers, or is otherwise competitive with the Business anywhere in the United States of America, other than the State of Louisiana and the State of Alabama; provided, however, that nothing herein shall prohibit a Seller Party from being a beneficial owner of less than two percent (2%) of the outstanding stock of any publicly-traded corporation.
- (c) For a period of two (2) years from and after the Closing Date (the "Louisiana Restricted Period"), no Seller Party shall, directly or indirectly, own, operate, lease,

manage, control, engage in, invest in, lend to, own any debt or equity security of, permit its name to be used by, act as consultant or advisor to, render services for (alone or in association with any person, firm, corporate or other business organization) or otherwise assist in any manner any Person in any business that is engaged in developing, building, managing, operating or consulting for correctional and/or detention facilities or halfway-house and/or reporting centers, or is otherwise competitive with the Business in any Parish located in the State of Louisiana, including Acadia Parish, Allen Parish, Ascension Parish, Assumption Parish, Avoyelles Parish, Beauregard Parish, Bienville Parish, Bossier Parish, Caddo Parish, Calcasieu Parish, Caldwell Parish, Cameron Parish, Catahoula Parish, Claiborne Parish, Concordia Parish, DeSoto Parish, East Baton Rouge Parish, East Carroll Parish, East Feliciana Parish, Evangeline Parish, Franklin Parish, Grant Parish, Iberia Parish, Iberville Parish, Jackson Parish, Jefferson Parish, Jefferson-Davis Parish, Lafayette Parish, Lafourche Parish, LaSalle Parish, Lincoln Parish, Livingston Parish, Madison Parish, Morehouse Parish, Natchitoches Parish, Ouachita Parish, Plaquemines Parish, Pointe Coupee Parish, Rapides Parish, Red River Parish, Richland Parish, Sabine Parish, St. Bernard Parish, St. Charles Parish, St. Helena Parish, St. James Parish, St. John the Baptist Parish, St. Landry Parish, St. Martin Parish, St. Mary Parish, St. Tammany Parish, Tangipahoa Parish, Tensas Parish, Terrebonne Parish, Union Parish, Vermilion Parish, Vernon Parish, Washington Parish, Webster Parish, West Baton Rouge Parish, West Carroll Parish, West Feliciana Parish and Winn Parish; provided, however, that nothing herein shall prohibit a Seller Party from being a beneficial owner of less than two percent (2%) of the outstanding stock of any publicly-traded corporation.

(d) For a period of five (5) years from and after the Closing Date (the "Alabama Restricted Period"), no Seller Party shall, directly or indirectly, own, operate, lease, manage, control, engage in, invest in, lend to, own any debt or equity security of, permit its name to be used by, act as consultant or advisor to, render services for (alone or in association with any person, firm, corporate or other business organization) or otherwise assist in any manner any Person in any business that is engaged in developing, building, managing, operating or consulting for correctional and/or detention facilities or halfway-house and/or reporting centers, or is otherwise competitive with the Business anywhere in any County located in the State of Alabama, including Autauga County, Baldwin County, Barbour County, Bibb County, Bullock County, Butler County, Calhoun County, Chambers County, Cherokee County, Chilton County, Choctaw County, Clarke County, Cleburne County, Coffee County, Colbert County, Conecuh County, Coosa County, Covington County, Crenshaw County, Cullman County, Dalle County, Dallas County, DeKalb County, Elmore County, Escambia County, Etowah County, Fayette County, Franklin County, Geneva County, Greene County, Henry County, Houston County, Jackson County, Jefferson County, Lamar County, Lawrence County, Lee County, Limestone County, Lowndes County, Macon County, Madison County, Marengo County, Marion County, Marshall County, Mobile County, Monroe County, Montgomery County, Morgan County, Perry County, Pickens County, Pike County, Randolph County, Russell County, St. Clair County, Shelby County, Sumter County, Talladega County, Tallapoosa County, Tuscaloosa County, Walker County, Washington County, Wilcox County and Winston County; provided, however, that nothing herein shall prohibit a Seller Party from being a beneficial owner of less than two percent (2%) of the outstanding stock of any publicly-traded corporation.

(e) In the State of Louisiana during the Louisiana Restricted Period, in the State of Alabama during the Alabama Restricted Period, and in all other States in the United States of America during the General Restricted Period, the Seller Parties shall not, and shall cause their Affiliates not to, (i) directly or indirectly, hire or solicit any person who is offered employment by Purchaser pursuant to Section 4.11 or is or was employed (or engaged as a consultant) in the Business as of the Closing Date or during the respective Restricted Period, or encourage any such employee or consultant to leave such employment or engagement or hire or engage any such employee or consultant who has left such employment or engagement; provided, that nothing in this Section 4.10(e) shall prevent the Seller Parties or any of their Affiliates from hiring or engaging any employee or consultant whose employment or engagement in the Business has been terminated for more than two (2) years and (ii) induce or attempt to induce any Person who is or was within two (2) years a customer, supplier, licensee, licensor, franchisee or other business relation of any of the Companies, the Purchaser or Purchaser's Affiliates (collectively, the "Company Parties") to cease doing business with the Purchaser or its Affiliates, or in any way interfere with the relationship between any such customer, supplier, licensee, licensor, franchisee or business relation and the Purchaser or its Affiliates. Any provision of this Agreement to the contrary notwithstanding, nothing shall prevent any Seller Party from soliciting or hiring any of the employees of the Companies set forth in Section 4.10(e) of the Disclosure Schedule at any time after the Closing. No Active Equityholder shall ever make or publish any statement or communication which is disparaging, negative or unflattering with respect to any of the Company Parties, or any of their respective shareholders, officers, directors, managers, employees or agents.

(f) The Parties hereto acknowledge and agree that Purchaser and each of its Affiliates, successors and assigns would suffer irreparable harm from a breach of this Section 4.10 by any Seller Party and that money damages would not be an adequate remedy for any such breach. Therefore, in the event a breach or threatened breach of this Section 4.10. Purchaser and each of its Affiliates or their respective successors and assigns, in addition to other rights and remedies existing in their favor, shall be entitled to specific performance, injunctive and other equitable relief from a court of competent jurisdiction in order to enforce, or prevent any violations of, the provisions hereof (without posting a bond or other security and at the expense of the breaching Seller Party, including reasonable attorneys' fees and expenses). The restrictive covenants set forth in this Section 4.10 shall be construed as agreements independent of any other provision in this Agreement, and the existence of any claim or cause of action of any Seller Party against Purchaser, whether predicated upon this Agreement or otherwise, shall not constitute a defense to the enforcement by Purchaser of any restrictive covenant contained in this Section 4.10. At Closing, Purchaser will have fully performed all obligations entitling it to the restrictive covenants set forth in this Section 4.10, and such restrictive covenants therefore are not executory or otherwise subject to rejection under chapter 11 of title 11 of the United States Code.

(g) If the final judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction declares any term or provision of this Section 4.10 to be invalid or unenforceable, the Parties agree that the court making the determination of invalidity or unenforceability shall have the power to reduce the scope, duration, or area of the term or provision, to delete specific words or phrases, or to replace any invalid or unenforceable term or provision with a term or provision that is valid and enforceable and that comes closest to expressing the intention of the invalid or unenforceable

term or provision, and this Agreement shall be enforceable as so modified to cover the maximum duration, scope or area permitted by Law. In addition, in the event of an alleged breach or violation by any Seller Party of this <u>Section 4.10</u>, the respective Restricted Period shall be tolled with respect to such Seller Party until such breach or violation has been duly cured. Each Seller Party agrees that the restrictions contained in this <u>Section 4.10</u> are reasonable.

(h) Anything contained in this Section 4.10 to the contrary notwithstanding, the provisions of Sections 4.10(a), (b), (c) and (d) shall not apply to the Leblanc Family Business Activities.

Section 4.11 Employees and Employee Benefits.

- (a) The Seller Parties shall bear any and all obligations and liability under WARN resulting from the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, with respect to the employment relationship of any employees of Perry or any employees of the Perry County Capital Improvement District who perform services at or related to any Perry facility.
- (b) Commencing on the Closing Date, the Active Equityholders shall cause each of the Facility Entities (other than Perry) to terminate its employment relationship with all employees of the Business set forth on Section 4.11(b) of the Disclosure Schedule (which, for the avoidance of doubt, shall include all persons classified as employees in Section 2.15(a) of the Disclosure Schedule (other than with respect to Perry)). As of the Closing Date, Purchaser shall offer employment to the employees set forth on Section 4.11(b) of the Disclosure Schedule who are employed by the Facility Entities (other than Perry) as of the Closing Date and who meet Purchaser's standard hiring qualifications. Purchaser shall be responsible for all WARN liability arising with respect to any employees set forth on Section 4.11(b) of the Disclosure Schedule who are employed by the Facility Entities (other than Perry) as of the Closing Date, and who meet Purchaser's standard hiring qualifications, but are not offered employment by Purchaser. The employees set forth on Section 4.11(b) of the Disclosure Schedule who accept employment with Purchaser shall be referred to herein as "Transferred Employees." The Seller Parties represent that Section 4.11(b) of the Disclosure Schedule identifies all employees of the Business actively employed by the Companies as of the Closing Date. Subject to the obligations set forth in this Section 4.11, nothing in this Agreement shall require Purchaser to hire any particular employee or limit Purchaser's ability to modify the salary or wage level or terminate the employment of any Transferred Employee at any time and for any reason, including without cause.
- (c) The Companies shall be solely responsible, and Purchaser shall have no obligations whatsoever for, any compensation or other amounts payable to any current or former employee, officer, director, independent contractor or consultant of the Business (including all employees of Perry County Capital Improvement District who perform services at or related to any Perry facility), including hourly pay, commission, bonus, salary, accrued vacation, fringe, pension or profit sharing benefits or severance pay for any period relating to the service with the Companies, or, with respect to employees who performed services at or related to any Perry facility, for any period relating to the service with Perry County Capital Improvement District, at any time on or prior to the Closing Date and the Active Equityholders shall cause the Companies to pay all such amounts to all entitled persons on or prior to the Closing Date and, with respect to

any such employees of Perry County Capital Improvement District, shall either cause Perry County Capital Improvement District to pay all such amounts to all entitled persons on or prior to the Closing Date or shall cause the Companies to pay all such amounts to all such entitled persons on or prior to the Closing Date.

- (d) The Companies shall remain solely responsible for the satisfaction of all claims for medical, dental, life insurance, health accident or disability benefits brought by or in respect of current or former employees, officers, directors, independent contractors or consultants of the Business or the spouses, dependents or beneficiaries thereof, which claims relate to events occurring on or prior to the Closing Date. The Companies also shall remain solely responsible for all worker's compensation claims of any current or former employees, officers, directors, independent contractors or consultants of the Business which relate to events occurring on or prior to the Closing Date. The Company Equityholders shall cause the Companies to pay, or cause to be paid, all such amounts to the appropriate persons as and when due.
- (e) Purchaser shall be responsible for "continuation coverage" (within the meaning of COBRA) to the extent it is so required as the "successor employer to the selling group" under the COBRA regulations.

Section 4.12 <u>Tangible Property; Payment of Excluded Liabilities</u>. The Active Equityholders shall cause the Companies to pay and discharge all of the Excluded Liabilities promptly as they become due. In connection with the foregoing, the Companies may retain copies of certain financial records as identified in <u>Schedule 4.12</u> in order to promptly and properly discharge such Liabilities, to comply with the terms of this Agreement, and to otherwise dissolve the Companies after the Closing and after all obligations of the Companies under this Agreement have been performed in full. To the extent that the Companies so fail to pay and discharge all such Excluded Liabilities on a timely basis as they come due, unless such Excluded Liabilities are being contested in good faith, Purchaser shall, in its reasonable discretion, have the right (but not any obligation) to pay and discharge such Liabilities if reasonably necessary to the maintenance of the Business or its reputation and/or relationships, as reasonably determined by Purchaser, and the Active Equityholders shall cause the Purchaser to be reimbursed and indemnified for all such payments by the Companies (without regard to the Basket or any other limitations on indemnity set forth herein).

Section 4.13 Employee Restrictive Covenant Agreements. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, to the extent (and only to the extent) of benefit and not of burden to Purchaser, and to the extent assignable, all non-competition, non-solicitation and restrictive covenant agreements and arrangements, and all invention assignments and work made for hire provisions regarding the Companies arising by operation of Law or contract with respect to the relationship between the Companies and any of their current or former employees or independent contractors are hereby assigned by the Companies to Purchaser, in accordance with ARTICLE I. To the extent that any such non-competition, non-solicitation or restrictive covenant agreements and arrangements and any such invention assignments and work made for hire provisions are not assignable, the Active Equityholders shall, at the sole cost and expense of Purchaser (which cost and expense, if any, shall be advanced to the Companies) cause the Companies to (i) use commercially reasonable efforts to enforce such agreements or provisions on behalf of Purchaser

or otherwise assign to Purchaser their "chose in action" related to such agreements or provisions, and (ii) not enforce any of same without the prior written consent of Purchaser. To the extent that the Companies take action to enforce any such agreements or provisions on behalf of the Purchaser (and at Purchaser's written request) or otherwise assign their "chose in action" to Purchaser (at Purchaser's written request) to enforce such agreements or provisions, Purchaser shall fully indemnify and hold harmless the Companies (and the other Seller Parties) from and against any costs and expenses incurred by such Companies (including reasonable attorneys fees) and any claims or damages against any of the Companies obtained by any employee or independent contractor against whom any such demand is made or enforcement action is taken.

Section 4.14 Novation. Following the date hereof and prior to the Closing, the Seller Parties' Representative shall promptly deliver to Purchaser such information as shall be required from the Seller Parties pursuant to FAR 42.1204(e)-(f) or otherwise reasonably requested by the "Responsible Contracting Officer" (as such term is defined in FAR 42.1202(a)) for the purpose of enabling GEO or its designated Affiliate to submit a written request (the "Request") for the United States of America to recognize GEO or its designated Affiliate as the Companies' successor in interest to the Novated Contracts (such recognition, the "Novation"). As soon as practicable after the Closing, LCS and GEO or GEO's designated Affiliate shall, in accordance with FAR Subpart 42.12, and with the cooperation of the Companies and the Active Equityholders, submit the Request along with the Novation Agreements to the Responsible Contracting Officer to effectuate the Novation. The Parties hereby agree that, until the Novation is approved, GEO or its designated Affiliate, as applicable, shall be entitled to all proceeds under the Novated Contracts from and after the Closing Date, and the Companies and the Active Equityholders shall cooperate with GEO and its designated Affiliate, as applicable, following the Closing to effectuate the Novation and to provide GEO and its designated Affiliate, as applicable, with the rights and benefits under the Novated Contracts, including the execution of any documentation or agreements reasonably requested by GEO or its designated Affiliate in furtherance of providing such rights and benefits, and such contract shall be treated as a Delayed Asset.

Section 4.15 Title: Survey.

(a) Within fifteen (15) Business Days after the date of this Agreement (the "<u>Title Review Period</u>"), Purchaser, at Purchaser's expense, may obtain (i) one or more irrevocable title commitments for title insurance (collectively, the "<u>Title Commitment</u>") covering the Owned Real Properties, including all beneficial easements, issued by the Title Company, for the issuance of an owner's policy of title insurance for each Owned Real Property, which policy shall be in the customary form prescribed by the applicable State Board of Insurance, in an amount and with any endorsements, modifications or additional title insurance coverage reasonably requested by Purchaser, and (ii) one or more boundary or "as built" ALTA/ACSM surveys of the Owned Real Properties prepared by a licensed land surveyor chosen by Purchaser (collectively, the "<u>Survey</u>"; and, together with the Title Commitment, the "<u>Title Evidence</u>"), and deliver the Title Evidence and copies of all documents referenced in the Title Commitment to Purchaser and Seller Parties. Purchaser shall have until the expiration of the Title Review Period to examine such Title Evidence as it deems necessary or convenient and notify Seller Parties of any matters disclosed in the Title Evidence which are not acceptable to Purchaser (each a "<u>Defect</u>" and collectively, the "<u>Defects</u>"). In the event Purchaser fails to give Seller Parties

timely written notice of the Defects, Purchaser shall be deemed to have waived any right to object to the Title Evidence and to have accepted title "as is", and all matters appearing in the Title Evidence (or that would have appeared in the Title Evidence had Purchaser obtained same) shall be deemed to be a part of the Permitted Liens, except as provided herein. Seller shall have no obligation to cure any Defects; provided, however, regardless of whether written notice is given to Seller Parties by Purchaser, Seller Parties shall be obligated to (i) satisfy any and all customary Title Commitments requirements relating to such Seller Parties' existence, authority and good standing, (ii) to pay the real estate taxes subject to pro-ration for the year of Closing; (iii) discharge any liens or judgments or other matters which are curable by the payment of a liquidated monetary sum of money (without resort to litigation) (including any and all Liens securing the Indebtedness) (collectively, the "Mandatory Exceptions") prior to or at the Closing in a manner acceptable to the title company and the Purchaser. As to any Defects (except the Mandatory Exceptions which Seller Parties shall cure as set forth herein), Seller Parties shall have five (5) Business Days from receipt of Purchaser's timely notice of Defects in which to elect either to (A) notify Purchaser that it intends to cure the identified Defects, in which event Seller Parties shall have sixty (60) days to accomplish such cure (the "Cure Period") and Closing may be postponed during such period; or (B) notify Purchaser that Seller Parties elect not to cure the identified Defects. In the event Seller Parties fail to deliver a response within five (5) Business Days after receipt from Purchaser of notice of a Defect, Seller Parties shall be deemed to have elected not to cure said Defect. Purchaser shall have five (5) Business Days from receipt of Seller Parties' notice of its election not to cure Defects or from the date that Seller Parties are deemed to have elected not to cure Defects in the event of Seller Parties non-response, in which to elect either (X) to terminate this Agreement, or (Y) to require Seller Parties to deliver title in its then existing condition (with no reduction in the Transaction Consideration) and to proceed to Closing notwithstanding the Defects raised by Purchaser (which Defects shall be deemed to be Permitted Liens), yet still subject to Seller's obligation to cure the Mandatory Exceptions. If Purchaser fails to make an election within such five-day period, Purchaser shall be deemed to have elected to proceed pursuant to clause (Y) of the foregoing sentence.

(b) If, within the Cure Period, Seller Parties cure or eliminate the Defects in such manner as to permit Title Company and/or surveyor(s) to delete the Defects, then the Closing shall take place on the later of the scheduled Closing Date or within five (5) Business Days following the date that Title Company delivers to Purchaser and Seller Parties' Representative a revised Title Commitment deleting any Defects or that the surveyors deliver revised survey(s). If Seller Parties are unsuccessful in curing or eliminating the Defects within the Cure Period after using good faith and diligent efforts, Purchaser shall have until five (5) days after the expiration of the Cure Period in which to elect either (X) to terminate this Agreement, or (Y) to require Seller Parties to deliver title in its then existing condition (with no reduction in the Transaction Consideration) and to proceed to Closing notwithstanding the presence of the Defects (which Defects shall be deemed to be Permitted Liens), yet still subject to Seller's obligation to cure the Mandatory Exceptions. If Purchaser fails to make an election within such five-day period, Purchaser shall be deemed to have elected to proceed pursuant to clause (Y) of the foregoing sentence.

(c) If prior to Closing any update to any Title Evidence discloses any new matter which is not acceptable to Purchaser (each, an "<u>Unpermitted Exception</u>") then the Seller Parties, prior to the Closing, shall have the Unpermitted Exception removed from such Title Evidence corrected or insured over by an appropriate title insurance endorsement, all in a manner reasonably satisfactory to the Title Company and the Purchaser.

ARTICLE V CLOSING CONDITIONS

- Section 5.1 <u>Conditions to Obligation of Purchaser</u>. The obligation of Purchaser to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement is subject to the fulfillment on or prior to the Closing Date of each of the following conditions, any one or more of which (to the extent permitted by applicable Law) may be waived by Purchaser (provided that no such waiver shall be deemed to have cured any breach of any representation, warranty or covenant made in this Agreement):
- (a) The representations and warranties of Seller Parties contained in this Agreement shall be true and correct in all material respects (other than those representations and warranties that are qualified by materiality or Material Adverse Effect or similar qualification, which shall be true and correct in all respects) both as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing, other than such representations and warranties that are made as of a specified date, which representations and warranties shall be true and correct in all material respects (other than those representations and warranties that are qualified by materiality or Material Adverse Effect or similar qualification, which shall be true and correct in all respects) as of such date. The covenants and agreements contained in this Agreement to be complied with by the Seller Parties at or before the Closing shall have been complied with in all material respects.
 - (b) There shall not have occurred a Company Material Adverse Effect.
- (c) No temporary restraining order, preliminary or permanent injunction, cease and desist Order or other Order issued by any Governmental Body, shall be in effect prohibiting or preventing the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
- (d) Purchaser shall have agreed to the Companies' determination and calculation of the Estimated Net Working Capital and the Closing Date Indebtedness Schedule pursuant to Section 1.4(a).
- (e) The Companies shall have delivered to Purchaser (i) a payoff letter, satisfactory to Purchaser, executed by the 2014 Bond Trustee (the "2014 Bond Payoff Letter"), (ii) payoff letters, each in the form attached as Exhibit C hereto, executed by each Person that is a party to a Loan Agreement (the "Loan Payoff Letters"), and (iii) payoff letters, satisfactory to Purchaser, executed by Gottlieb & Gottlieb, P.A. with respect to (A) that certain Promissory Note dated April 1, 2008, made by Tensas in favor of Gottlieb & Gottlieb, P.A., in the principal amount of \$** and (B) that certain Promissory Note dated December 1, 2006, made by Perry in favor of Gottlieb & Gottlieb, P.A., in the principal amount of \$**.
- (f) The Company Equityholders shall have caused Gottlieb & Gottlieb, P.A. to satisfy all outstanding obligations pursuant to, and terminate, each Loan Agreement.

^{**} Confidential terms omitted and provided separately to the Securities and Exchange Commission.

- (g) The Companies shall have delivered the following to Purchaser:
- (i) a certificate, dated as of the Closing Date, executed by the Companies to the effect that the conditions set forth in <u>Section 5.1(a)</u>, <u>Section 5.1(b)</u> and <u>Section 5.1(c)</u> have been satisfied;
 - (ii) the Bills of Sale and Warranty Deeds, duly executed and delivered by each Company;
- (iii) a certificate of the secretary, trustee or manager, as applicable, of each Company and each Seller Party which is an entity certifying to (A) the certificate of incorporation, as amended (or similar incorporation or formation documents), of such entity, certified by the Secretary of State of the jurisdiction in which each such entity is incorporated, formed or organized, as of a recent date, and stating that no amendments have been made to such certificate of incorporation (or similar incorporation or formation documents) since such date, (B) all other Governing Documents of such entity, (C) the adoption of resolutions by such entity approving the transactions contemplated by the Transaction Documents, and (D) the incumbency of the officers, trustees or managers, as applicable, signing the Transaction Documents on behalf of such entity (together with their specimen signatures);
- (iv) a non-foreign affidavit described in Section 1445(b)(2) of the Code from each Company in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to Purchaser accurately stating that such Company is not a "foreign person";
- (v) a good standing certificate, as of a recent date, for each Company certified by the Secretary of State of (A) the state of organization of such entity, and (B) each other jurisdiction in which such entity is qualified to do business as a foreign entity;
 - (vi) all Consents set forth in Section 2.5 of the Disclosure Schedule;
- (vii) evidence satisfactory to Purchaser and the Title Company of the release and satisfaction of all Liens (except for Permitted Liens) on any assets of any Company (including the Owned Real Properties) or the equity securities of any Company;
- (viii) the Notice of Redemption, the Defeasance Certificate and satisfactions of all Deeds of Trust and/or mortgages encumbering the Owned Real Property or the Purchased Assets, and releases of any other collateral securing the 2014 Bonds, each in form and substance satisfactory to Purchaser in its sole discretion;
- (ix) in addition to the items set forth in <u>Section 5.1(g)(viii)</u>, evidence satisfactory to Purchaser of satisfaction or cancellation of any Indebtedness, notes or other obligations of any Company to any Seller Party or any of their respective Affiliates effective upon consummation of the Closing;
- (x) a title insurance policy, or an irrevocable commitment to issue a title insurance policy, upon satisfaction of all scheduled requirements set forth therein, for each parcel of Owned Real Property, in form in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement and otherwise satisfactory to Purchaser;

- (xi) tax clearance certificates from each jurisdiction that imposes Taxes on any Company or where any Company has a duty to file Tax Returns;
- (xii) Consulting Agreements each in the form attached hereto as <u>Exhibit D</u>, duly executed by each of Jerry Gottlieb, Richard Gottlieb and Michael LeBlanc;
 - (xiii) a warranty deed conveying to Purchaser the Owned Real Property, together with all Improvements, subject only to Permitted Liens,
- (xiv) a title affidavit of each applicable Seller Party attesting to Liens, judgments, residence or jurisdiction of formation, bankruptcies, parties in possession, survey, gap, and other matters affecting the Owned Real Property, and any matters as may be reasonably requested by the Title Company (which shall include among other things, language sufficient to delete the "standard exceptions" from the title insurance policy), in form satisfactory to Purchaser;
- (xv) a duly executed estoppel certificate with respect to any Permitted Lien affecting the Owned Real Property or any portion thereof as reasonably requested by Purchaser;
- (xvi) a Survey for each parcel of Owned Real Property in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement and otherwise satisfactory to Purchaser;
- (xvii) a general assignment of all developer or declarant or other rights of any Seller Party with respect to any Owned Real Property or portion thereof, if any, as requested by Purchaser (and assignments of any Permitted Liens as are requested by Purchaser);
- (xviii) Evidence satisfactory to Purchaser of termination of all Contracts set forth on <u>Section 2.22 of the Disclosure Schedule</u>, other than the Specified Affiliated Contracts;
- (xix) Amendments to the Specified Affiliated Contracts, each (A) duly executed by all applicable parties thereto, (B) amending the expiration date of each Specified Affiliated Contract to December 31, 2015, (C) providing that each Specified Affiliated Contract may be terminated at any time prior to December 31, 2015 in the event of a material breach of such Specified Affiliated Contract by any party thereto other than Purchaser, and (D) otherwise on the same terms and conditions as the original Specified Affiliated Contracts.
- (xx) the Novation Agreements, each in the form attached hereto as <u>Exhibit E</u> (the "<u>Novation Agreements</u>"), duly executed and delivered by each applicable Company;
- (xxi) the Management Agreement, in the form attached hereto as <u>Exhibit F</u> (the "<u>Management Agreement</u>"), duly executed and delivered by each applicable Company;

(xxii) evidence reasonably satisfactory to Purchaser of delivery of the Irrevocable Direction Letters in accordance with <u>Section 4.6(b)</u>; (xxiii) evidence reasonably satisfactory to Purchaser of delivery of the New Account Notices in accordance with <u>Section 4.6(c)</u>; and (xxiv) such other documents, instruments or certificates as shall be reasonably requested by Purchaser or its counsel.

Section 5.2 <u>Conditions to Obligation of Seller Parties</u>. The obligation of Seller Parties to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement is subject to the fulfillment on or prior to the Closing Date of each of the following conditions, any one or more of which (to the extent permitted by applicable Law) may be waived by, or by the Seller Parties' Representative on behalf of, the Companies (provided that no such waiver shall be deemed to have cured any breach of any representation, warranty or covenant made in this Agreement):

- (a) The representations and warranties of Purchaser contained in this Agreement shall be true and correct in all material respects (other than those representations and warranties that are qualified by materiality or Material Adverse Effect or similar qualification, which shall be true and correct in all respects) both as of the date of this Agreement and as of the Closing, other than such representations and warranties that are made as of a specified date, which representations and warranties shall be true and correct in all material respects (other than those representations and warranties that are qualified by materiality or Material Adverse Effect or similar qualification, which shall be true and correct in all respects) as of such date. The covenants and agreements contained in this Agreement to be complied with by Purchaser at or before the Closing shall have been complied with in all material respects.
- (b) No temporary restraining order, preliminary or permanent injunction, cease and desist Order or other Order issued by any Governmental Body shall be in effect prohibiting or preventing the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.
 - (c) Purchaser shall have delivered to the Trustee the Redemption Amount.
 - (d) Purchaser shall have delivered the Closing Cash Consideration to the Companies.
 - (e) Purchaser shall have delivered the following to the Seller Parties' Representative:
 - (i) a certificate, dated as of the Closing Date, executed by a duly authorized officer of Purchaser to the effect that the conditions set forth in Section 5.2(a) and Section 5.2(b) have been satisfied;
 - (ii) a certificate of the secretary of Purchaser certifying to (A) Purchaser's Governing Documents, (B) the adoption of resolutions of Purchaser approving the transactions contemplated by the Transaction Documents, and (C) the incumbency of the officers signing the Transaction Documents on behalf of Purchaser (together with their specimen signatures);

- (iii) a good standing certificate, as of a recent date, for Purchaser certified by the Secretary of State of the state of its organization;
- (iv) the Bills of Sale and Warranty Deeds, duly executed and delivered by Purchaser or an Affiliate thereof;
- (v) the Novation Agreements, duly executed and delivered by Purchaser or an Affiliate thereof;
- (vi) the Management Agreement, duly executed and delivered by Purchaser or an Affiliate thereof; and
- (vii) such other documents, instruments or certificates as shall be reasonably requested by the Seller Parties or their counsel.

ARTICLE VI INDEMNIFICATION

Section 6.1 Indemnity Obligations of Seller Parties.

Subject to the limitations set forth herein, each Seller Party, jointly and severally (except with respect to <u>Section 4.10</u> hereof, which shall be severally, but not jointly), covenants and agrees to defend, indemnify and hold harmless Purchaser, and its Affiliates and the respective officers, directors, managers, employees, agents, advisers and representatives of the foregoing (collectively, the "<u>Purchaser Indemnitees</u>"), from and against, and to pay or reimburse Purchaser Indemnitees for, any and all claims, Liabilities, obligations, losses, fines, costs, diminution in value, proceedings or actual damages, including all reasonable fees and disbursements of counsel incurred in the investigation or defense of any of the same or in asserting any of their respective rights hereunder (collectively, "<u>Losses</u>"), to the extent caused by, relating or attributable to:

- (a) any misrepresentation or breach of any warranty of any Seller Party contained in this Agreement or in any certificate or agreement delivered in connection herewith, it being understood that, in determining the existence of, and amount of any Losses in connection with, a claim under this Section 6.1(a), all representations and warranties shall be read without regard and without giving effect to any materiality or Material Adverse Effect or similar qualification contained therein (as if such qualification were deleted from such representation or warranty);
- (b) any failure of any Seller Party or the Seller Parties' Representative to perform any covenant or agreement made or contained in this Agreement, or fulfill any obligation in respect thereof;
 - (c) any Taxes of any Company for any period;
- (d) any Legal Proceeding brought by a third party based upon, arising out of or relating to the issuance of any note, bond, debenture or similar instrument or debt securities, including the 2014 Bonds and the Loan Agreements, prior to the Closing Date;

- (e) any Indebtedness for Borrowed Money;
- (f) any Excluded Asset or Excluded Liability;
- (g) any Seller Transaction Expenses or Change of Control Payments;
- (h) any item set forth on Section 6.1(h) of the Disclosure Schedule; and
- (i) any Taxes attributable to the Business or the Purchased Assets for all periods ending on or before the Closing Date and the portion of any Straddle Period through and including the Closing Date, except to the extent that such Taxes are included as liabilities in the Final Closing Statement.
- Section 6.2 <u>Indemnity Obligations of Purchaser</u>. Purchaser covenants and agrees to defend, indemnify and hold harmless Seller Parties from and against any and all Losses to the extent caused by, relating or attributable to:
- (a) any misrepresentation or breach of any warranty of Purchaser contained in this Agreement or in any certificate or agreement delivered in connection herewith, it being understood that, in determining the existence of, and amount of any Losses in connection with a claim under this <u>Section 6.2(a)</u>, all representations and warranties shall be read without regard and without giving effect to any materiality or Material Adverse Effect or similar qualification contained therein (as if such qualification were deleted from such representation or warranty);
- (b) any failure of Purchaser to perform any covenant or agreement made or contained in this Agreement, or fulfill any other obligation in respect thereof; and/or
 - (c) the Assumed Liabilities.

Section 6.3 Indemnification Procedures.

(a) Third Party Claims. In the case of any claim asserted by a third party (a "Third Party Claim") against a party entitled to indemnification under this Agreement (the "Indemnified Party"), notice shall be given by the Indemnified Party to the party required to provide indemnification (the "Indemnifying Party") promptly after such Indemnified Party has actual knowledge of any claim as to which indemnity may be sought. If the Indemnifying Party provides a written notice to the Indemnified Party within twenty (20) days after its receipt of notice of such claim that it will indemnify and hold the Indemnified Parties harmless from all Losses related to such Third Party Claim and acknowledging that any Losses that may be assessed against the Indemnified Party in connection with such Third Party Claim constitute Losses for which the Indemnified Party shall be indemnified pursuant to this ARTICLE VI, the Indemnified Party shall permit the Indemnifying Party (at the expense of such Indemnifying Party) to assume the defense of such Third Party Claim or any litigation with a third party resulting therefrom; provided, however, that (i) the counsel for the Indemnifying Party who shall conduct the defense of such claim or litigation shall be subject to the reasonable approval of the Indemnified Party, (ii) the Indemnified Party may participate in such defense at such Indemnified Party's expense, (iii) the failure by any Indemnified Party to give notice of a Third Party Claim to the Indemnifying Party as provided herein shall not relieve the Indemnifying Party of its

indemnification obligation under this Agreement except and only to the extent that, as a result of such failure to give notice, the defense against such claim is materially impaired, and (iv) the fees and expenses incurred by the Indemnified Party prior to the assumption of a Third Party Claim hereunder by the Indemnifying Party shall be borne by the Indemnifying Party. Except with the prior written consent of the Indemnified Party, no Indemnifying Party, in the defense of any Third Party Claim, shall consent to entry of any judgment or enter into any settlement that provides for injunctive or other nonmonetary relief affecting the Indemnified Party or that does not include as an unconditional term thereof the giving by each claimant or plaintiff to such Indemnified Party of a general release from any and all liability with respect to such Third Party Claim. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Indemnifying Party shall not be entitled to assume control of the defense against a Third Party Claim if (1) the claim for indemnification relates to or arises in connection with any criminal or quasi criminal proceeding, action, indictment, allegation or investigation; (2) the claim seeks an injunction, specific performance or any other equitable or non-monetary relief against the Indemnified Party; (3) the Indemnified Party reasonably believes an adverse determination with respect to the Third Party Claim would be materially detrimental to or materially injure the Indemnified Party's reputation or future business prospects; (4) the Indemnified Party has been advised by counsel that a reasonable likelihood exists of a conflict of interest between the Indemnifying Party and the Indemnified Party; or (5) the Indemnifying Party fails to professionally prosecute or defend such claim. If the Indemnifying Party does not accept the defense of a Third Party Claim within twenty (20) days after receipt of the written notice thereof from the Indemnified Party described above, the Indemnified Party shall have the fu

(b) Non-Third Party Claims. With respect to any claim for indemnification hereunder which does not involve a Third Party Claim, the Indemnified Party will give the Indemnifying Party written notice of such claim. The Indemnifying Party may acknowledge and agree by notice to the Indemnified Party in writing to satisfy such claim within twenty (20) days of receipt of notice of such claim from the Indemnified Party. If the Indemnifying Party shall dispute such claim, the Indemnifying Party shall provide written notice of such dispute to the Indemnified Party within such twenty (20) day period. If the Indemnifying Party shall fail to provide written notice to the Indemnified Party within twenty (20) days of receipt of notice from the Indemnified Party that the Indemnifying Party either acknowledges and agrees to pay such claim or disputes such claim, the Indemnifying Party shall be deemed to have acknowledged and agreed to pay such claim in full and to have waived any right to dispute such claim.

Section 6.4 Expiration of Representations and Warranties. All representations and warranties contained in this Agreement shall survive the Closing until the date which is the later of eighteen (18) months after the Closing Date or the final determination of the Earnout Amount in accordance with Section 1.5; provided, however, that (a) the representations and warranties stated in Section 2.9 (Taxes), Section 2.14 (Employee Benefits) and Section 2.18 (Environmental Matters) shall survive the Closing until the date that is sixty (60) days after the expiration of the applicable statute of limitations period for any Third Party Claims upon which a breach of the applicable representation or warranty could be asserted and (b) the representations and warranties stated in Section 2.1 (Organization and Related Matters), Section 2.2 (Authorization

and Enforceability), Section 2.4 (Capitalization), Section 2.11(c) (Title), Section 2.22 (Related Party Transactions), Section 2.23 (Brokers Fees and Similar Arrangements), Section 2.26 (Bulk Sales; Solvency), Section 3.1 (Organization), Section 3.2 (Authorization and Enforceability) and Section 3.4 (Brokers Fees) shall survive indefinitely (each of the sections referred to in (b), a "Transactional Rep"). All indemnification obligations under Section 6.1 and Section 6.2 (other than Section 6.1(a) and Section 6.2(a) which shall survive as set forth in the previous sentence) shall survive the Closing indefinitely. Notwithstanding the foregoing, all claims (and matters relating thereto) made prior to the expiration of the applicable survival period shall not thereafter be barred by the expiration of such survival period and shall survive until finally resolved.

Section 6.5 Certain Limitations. The indemnification provided for in Section 6.1 and Section 6.2 shall be subject to the following limitations:

- (a) The Seller Parties shall not be liable to Purchaser Indemnitees for indemnification under Section 6.1(a) until the aggregate amount of all Losses in respect of indemnification under Section 6.1(a) exceeds Two Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$250,000) (the "Basket"), and then only for the amount by which such Losses exceed Two Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$250,000), subject to the other limitations set forth herein. The Purchaser Indemnitees shall not be indemnified pursuant to Section 6.1(a) with respect to any Loss if the aggregate amount of all Losses for which the Purchaser Indemnitees have received indemnification pursuant to Section 6.1(a) has exceeded an amount equal to (x) the Additional Consideration Amount, plus (y) the Earnout Amount, if any, plus (z) the Debt Reduction Amount, if any, (the "Cap").
- (b) Purchaser shall not be liable to the Seller Parties for indemnification under <u>Section 6.2(a)</u> until the aggregate amount of all Losses in respect of indemnification under <u>Section 6.2(a)</u> exceeds the Basket, and then only for the amount by which such Losses exceed the Basket, subject to the other limitations set forth herein. The Seller Parties shall not be indemnified pursuant to <u>Section 6.2(a)</u> with respect to any Loss if the aggregate amount of all Losses for which the Seller Parties have received indemnification pursuant to <u>Section 6.2(a)</u> has exceeded the Cap.
- (c) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, the limitations set forth in <u>Section 6.5(a)</u> and <u>Section 6.5(b)</u> shall not limit Liability of any Indemnifying Party for breaches of Transactional Reps, intentional breach, intentional misrepresentation or fraud.

Section 6.6 <u>Indemnification Payments to Purchaser Indemnitees; Right of Set-Off.</u>

- (a) Any indemnification to which Purchaser Indemnitees are entitled under this <u>ARTICLE VI</u> as a consequence of any Losses they may suffer shall be made in immediately available funds by wire transfer to a bank account to be designated by Purchaser, but, in the event of indemnification under <u>Section 6.1(a)</u>, in no event in an amount greater than the Cap.
- (b) In the event that any Purchaser Indemnitee seeks to recover against any Seller Party for any Loss, liability or other obligation pursuant to this <u>ARTICLE VI</u> or otherwise in connection with this Agreement, Purchaser or such Purchaser Indemnitee shall have the right to recover such amount by set-off or cancellation against any amount payable by Purchaser to such Seller Party under <u>Section 1.5</u> or <u>Section 1.6</u>.

Section 6.7 <u>Treatment of Indemnification Payments</u>. All indemnification payments made under this Agreement shall be treated by the Parties as an adjustment to the Transaction Consideration to the extent permitted by applicable Law.

Section 6.8 <u>Right to Indemnification Not Affected by Knowledge or Waiver</u>. The right to indemnification, payment of Losses or other remedy based upon breach of representations, warranties, covenants, agreements or obligations will not be affected by any investigation conducted with respect to, or knowledge acquired (or capable of being acquired) at any time, whether before or after the Closing Date, with respect to the accuracy or inaccuracy of or compliance with any such representation, warranty, covenant, agreement or obligation. The waiver of any condition based on the accuracy of any representation or warranty, or on the performance of or compliance with any covenant, agreement or obligation, will not affect the right to indemnification, payment of Losses or other remedy based on such representations, warranties, covenants, agreements and obligations.

Section 6.9 Exclusive Remedies. The Purchaser and the Seller Parties acknowledge and agree that except as set forth in Section 4.10 and Section 8.15, except with respect to any amounts owed pursuant to Section 1.5 and Section 1.6, and except in the event of fraud, intentional breach or intentional misrepresentation, (i) following the Closing, the indemnification provisions of Sections 6.1 and 6.2 shall be the sole and exclusive remedies of the Purchaser Indemnitees and the Seller Parties, as applicable, for any breach by the other party of the representations and warranties in this Agreement and for any failure by the other party to perform and comply with any covenants and agreements in this Agreement and (ii) no breach of any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement contained herein shall give rise to any right on the part of the Purchaser or the Seller Parties, after the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, to rescind this Agreement or any of the transactions contemplated hereby. Each Party shall take reasonable steps to mitigate its Losses upon and after becoming aware of any indemnifiable Loss; provided, however, that the failure to so mitigate (a) shall reduce the amount of Losses for which such indemnified Person would otherwise be entitled to receive hereunder had it acted reasonably to mitigate such Losses, and (b) shall not bar or preclude any party hereto from indemnification pursuant to this Article VI.

Section 6.10 <u>Insurance</u>. With respect to any events occurring on or before the Closing Date that are insured under any Insurance Policy, or any other insurance policy covering the Seller Parties, the Purchaser shall be entitled to, and the Seller Parties shall cooperate in obtaining for the Purchaser, the benefits thereof notwithstanding any rights to indemnification hereunder. Any proceeds actually obtained by the Purchaser therefrom (net of Purchaser's and its Affiliates' attorneys' fees and other expenses incurred in connection with such recovery) shall be credited against the corresponding indemnification obligation, if any, with respect to such claim or Loss provided for in <u>Section 6.1</u> or <u>6.2</u>, as the case may be.

Section 6.11 <u>Title Policies and Other Insurance</u>. An Indemnifying Party shall not be obligated to pay any amounts for indemnification hereunder relating to any Losses to the extent of any net proceeds actually received by the Indemnified Party under any title policies insuring

title to the Owned Real Properties or any other insurance net proceeds actually received by the Indemnified Party received from Seller Parties' insurance and any indemnity, contribution or similar payment paid to the Indemnified Party or any Affiliate thereof from any third party (other than an insurer or other Affiliate of Purchaser) with respect thereto, in each case net of any costs to Purchaser.

Section 6.12 <u>Damages Limitation</u>. Anything herein to the contrary notwithstanding, no Party shall be liable or be responsible for any Losses under this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby for any punitive damages (other than with respect to Legal Proceedings by third parties) or exemplary damages (other than with respect to Legal Proceedings by third parties), in each case relating to the breach or alleged breach of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby.

ARTICLE VII TERMINATION

Section 7.1 Termination of Agreement. Certain of the Parties may terminate this Agreement as provided below:

- (a) Purchaser and the Seller Parties' Representative, on behalf of the Seller Parties, may terminate this Agreement by mutual written consent at any time prior to the Closing;
- (b) Purchaser may terminate this Agreement (so long as Purchaser is not in material breach of any of its representations, warranties, covenants or agreements contained in this Agreement) by giving written notice to the Seller Parties' Representative at any time prior to the Closing (i) in accordance with Section 4.15, (ii) in the event that any Seller Party has breached any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement, which breach would cause the failure of any condition set forth in Section 5.1 and Purchaser has notified in writing the Seller Parties' Representative of the breach, and such breach has continued without cure for a period of ten (10) days after the notice of breach, (iii) in the event that any Seller Party has breached any covenant contained in this Agreement and Purchaser has notified in writing the Seller Parties' Representative of the breach, and such breach has continued without cure for a period of ten (10) days after the notice of breach or (iv) if the Closing shall not have occurred on or before February 27, 2015 (the "Termination Date"), by reason of the failure of any condition precedent to have occurred; and
- (c) the Companies may terminate this Agreement (so long as none of the Seller Parties is in material breach of any of its representations, warranties, covenants or agreements contained in this Agreement) by giving written notice to Purchaser at any time prior to the Closing (i) in the event Purchaser has breached any representation, warranty, covenant or agreement contained in this Agreement which breach would cause the failure of any condition set forth in Section 5.2 and the Companies have notified Purchaser in writing of the breach, and the breach has continued without cure for a period of ten (10) days after the notice of breach; or (ii) if the Closing shall not have occurred on or before the Termination Date, by reason of the failure of any condition precedent to have occurred.

Section 7.2 <u>Effect of Termination</u>. If any Party terminates this Agreement pursuant to <u>Section 7.1</u>, all rights and obligations of the Parties hereunder shall terminate without any liability of any Party to the other Party except for the liabilities of any Party then in breach. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this <u>Section 7.2</u> and <u>Section 4.7(a)</u>, and <u>Sections 8.2</u> to <u>8.17</u> shall survive any termination of this Agreement.

ARTICLE VIII MISCELLANEOUS

Section 8.1 Certain Definitions.

(a) For purposes of this Agreement, the following terms shall have the meanings specified in this Section 8.1(a):

"Acquisition Transaction" means any transaction involving: (i) the sale, license, disposition or acquisition of all or a substantial portion of the assets of any Company; (ii) the issuance, disposition or acquisition of (A) any stock, limited liability company membership interest or other equity security of any Company, (B) any option, call, warrant or right (whether or not immediately exercisable) to acquire any stock, limited liability company membership interest or other equity security of any Company; or (D) any security, instrument or obligation that is or may become convertible into or exchangeable for any stock, limited liability company membership interest or other equity security of any Company; or (iii) any merger, consolidation, share exchange, business combination, reorganization, recapitalization or similar transaction involving any Company.

"Affiliate" means, with respect to any Person, any other Person directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by or under common control with such Person, and in the case of any natural Person shall include all relatives and family members of such Person.

"Books and Records" means all books and records of the Companies, including files, manuals, price lists, mailing lists, distributor lists, customer lists, sales and promotional materials, purchasing materials, documents evidencing intangible rights or obligations, personnel records, accounting records and litigation files (regardless of the media in which stored). Books and Records shall further include, all of the Companies' rights to architectural and engineering plans, surveys, water and sewer, electrical and building plans, and all other plans and specifications, drawings and other similar documents, and all property records, environmental, soil, species, geological, studies and certificates, surveys, and other books, reports, technical descriptions, databases, information, and records related to the Purchased Assets.

"Business" means the business of the Companies as conducted or proposed to be conducted as of the date hereof, including all activities involving developing, building, managing, operating or consulting for correctional and/or detention facilities or halfway-house and/or reporting centers.

"Cash" means all cash and cash equivalents, and deposits in transit, minus outstanding checks, as determined in accordance with GAAP.

"Business Day" means any day of the year on which national banking institutions in the City of New York are open to the public for conducting business and are not required or authorized to close.

"Change of Control Payments" means any and all (i) bonuses or similar payments payable as a result of the transactions contemplated hereby, (ii) investment banking, agent, brokers' and finders' and other similar fees payable as a result of the transactions contemplated hereby (iii) amounts payable to obtain any Consents required to be listed in Section 2.5 of the Disclosure Schedule, and (iv) any amounts payable to Alabama Gas Corporation or its Affiliates as a result of the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby.

"Code" shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

"Company Material Adverse Change" or "Company Material Adverse Effect" means a Material Adverse Change or a Material Adverse Effect with respect to a Company.

"Consent" means any consent, approval, authorization, waiver, permit, grant, franchise, concession, agreement, license, exemption or order of, registration, certificate, declaration or filing with, or report or notice to, any Person, including any Governmental Body.

"Contract" means any contract, agreement, indenture, note, bond, loan, mortgage, license, instrument, lease, understanding, commitment or other arrangement or agreement, whether written or oral.

"Debt Reduction Amount" means an amount equal to **.

"DOL" means the United States Department of Labor.

"Earnout Amount" means an amount equal to **.

"<u>Earnout Cap</u>" means an amount equal to the difference of (i) \$350,000,000, <u>minus</u> (ii) an amount equal to the Base Transaction Consideration, <u>plus</u> the Additional Consideration Amount, <u>plus</u> the Debt Reduction Amount, if any.

"Earnout EBITDA" means the aggregate facility-level EBITDA of the eight facilities of the Business for the Earnout Period, calculated (i) in accordance with GAAP and (ii) in a manner consistent with the sample calculation of Earnout EBITDA (using the aggregate facility-level EBITDA for the twelve months ending December 31, 2014 attached as Schedule 8.1(a).

"<u>Earnout Period</u>" means the twelve month period beginning on the date that is six (6) months after the beginning of the first full calendar month after the Closing Date (the "<u>Earnout Period Commencement Date</u>"), and ending on the first anniversary of the Earnout Period Commencement Date.

^{**} Confidential terms omitted and provided separately to the Securities and Exchange Commission.

"EBITDA" means the aggregate facility-level earnings of the eight facilities of the Business that are attributable to the conduct of the Business by Purchaser during the Earnout Period before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization for such period, excluding (i) any non-recurring expenses or income, restructuring expenses or income or expenses or income associated with the sale of assets during such period not in the ordinary course of business, (ii) any other extraordinary income, expense, gains or losses recognized during such period.

"Environmental Law(s)" means any federal, state or local statute, regulation, ordinance, or rule of common law as now or hereafter in effect in any way or any other legally binding requirement relating to the environment, natural resources, spills or pollution, or protection of human health and safety, including all those relating to the presence, use, production, generation, handling, transportation, treatment, storage, disposal, distribution, labeling, testing, processing, discharge, release, threatened release, control, exposure to, or cleanup of any Hazardous Materials. For the avoidance of doubt, Environmental Laws shall include the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act (42 U.S.C. § 9601 et seq.), the Emergency Planning and Right-To-Know Act (42 U.S.C. § 11101 et seq.), the Hazardous Materials Transportation Act (49 U.S.C. App. § 1801 et seq.), the Solid Waste Disposal Act (42 U.S.C. § 6901 et seq.) (including the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act), the Clean Water Act (33 U.S.C. § 1251 et seq.), the Clean Air Act (42 U.S.C. § 7401 et seq.), the Toxic Substances Control Act (15 U.S.C. § 2601 et seq.), the Federal Insecticide, Fungicide, and Rodenticide Act (7 U.S.C. § 136 et seq.), the Endangered Species Act (16 U.S.C. § 1531 et seq.), the Safe Drinking Water Act (42 U.S.C. § 300(f) et seq.), the Lead-Based Paint Exposure Reduction Act (42 U.S.C. § 2681 et seq.), the National Environmental Policy Act (42 U.S.C. § 4321 et seq.), and the Occupational Safety and Health Act (29 U.S.C. § 651 et seq.), and all Laws of a similar nature, and the rules and regulations promulgated pursuant thereto, each as amended.

"GAAP" means United States generally accepted accounting principles as in effect from time to time.

"Governing Documents" means, with respect to any particular entity: (i) if a corporation, the articles or certificate of incorporation and the bylaws; (ii) if a general partnership, the partnership agreement and any statement of partnership; (iii) if a limited partnership, the limited partnership agreement and the certificate of limited partnership; (iv) if a limited liability company, the articles of organization and operating agreement; (v) if another type of Person, any other charter or similar document adopted or filed in connection with the creation, formation or organization of the Person; (vi) all equityholders' agreements, voting agreements, voting trust agreements, joint venture agreements, registration rights agreements or other agreements or documents relating to the organization, management or operation of any Person or relating to the rights, duties and obligations of the equityholders of any Person; and (vii) any amendment or supplement to any of the foregoing.

"Governmental Body" means any government or governmental or regulatory authority or body thereof, or political subdivision thereof, whether federal, state or local, or any agency, instrumentality or authority thereof, or any court or arbitrator (public or private) or tribunal of competent jurisdiction.

"Hazardous Material(s)" means any substance, material or waste which is regulated by the United States, the foreign jurisdictions in which any Company conducts business, or any state, local or foreign Governmental Body including petroleum and its by-products, asbestos or asbestos-containing material, polychlorinated biphenyls, lead-based paint, and any material or substance which is defined as a "hazardous waste," "hazardous substance," "hazardous material," "restricted hazardous waste," "industrial waste," "solid waste," "contaminant," "pollutant," "special waste," "toxic material," "toxic waste" or "toxic substance", or any substance the presence, use, handling, storage or disposal is prohibited under any provision of Environmental Law.

"HIPAA" means the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 and its implementing regulations, including the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act, and state laws concerning the privacy and/or security of patient or health information.

"Indebtedness" means, with respect to the Companies at any applicable time of determination, without duplication: (i) all obligations for borrowed money; (ii) all obligations evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes or other similar instruments or debt securities, including the 2014 Bonds; (iii) all obligations under swaps, hedges or similar instruments; (iv) all obligations in respect of letters of credit or bankers' acceptances; (v) all obligations, contingent or otherwise, arising from deferred compensation arrangements, severance or bonus plans or arrangements, Employee Benefit Plans, employment agreements or similar arrangements payable as a result of the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby (regardless of whether any additional event, in addition to the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, is required to give rise to such obligations); (vi) all obligations secured by a Lien; (vii) all guaranties in connection with any of the foregoing; (viii) all obligations recorded or required to be recorded as capital leases in accordance with GAAP as of the date of determination of such Indebtedness; (ix) all obligations for the deferred purchase price of property or services or the acquisition of a business or portion thereof, whether contingent or otherwise, as obligor or otherwise, at the maximum amount payable in respect thereof, regardless of whether such amount is contingent on future performance; (x) all obligations created or arising under any conditional sale or other title retention agreement with respect to acquired property; (xi) all deferred rent obligations; (xiii) all obligations arising from cash or book overdrafts; (xiii) all liabilities classified as non-current liabilities in accordance with GAAP as of the date of determination of such Indebtedness (other than any "deferred revenue" incurred in the ordinary course of business consistent with past practice); (xiv) all checks in transit; and (xv) all accrued interest, prepayment premiums, fees, penalties, expenses or othe

"Indebtedness for Borrowed Money" means, with respect to the Companies: (i) all obligations for borrowed money; (ii) all obligations evidenced by notes, bonds, debentures or other similar instruments or debt securities, including the 2014 Bonds; (iii) all obligations as lessee under leases required to be capitalized pursuant to GAAP; (iv) all obligations for amounts drawn under acceptance, letters of credit or similar facilities; (v) all guarantees and similar commitments relating to any of the foregoing items, and (vi) all prepayment penalties, fees and similar amounts payable in connection with the repayment of any of the foregoing items, in each case, outstanding immediately prior to the Closing. The term "Indebtedness for Borrowed Money" shall include amounts outstanding under or pursuant to the Loan Agreements.

"Intellectual Property" means: (i) all inventions (whether patentable or unpatentable and whether or not reduced to practice), all improvements thereto, and all patents, patent applications, and patent disclosures, together with all reissuances, continuations, continuations-in-part, revisions, extensions, and reexaminations thereof; (ii) all trademarks, service marks, trade dress, logos, trade names, and corporate names, together with all translations, adaptations, derivations, and combinations thereof and including all goodwill associated therewith, and all applications, registrations and renewals in connection therewith; (iii) all copyrightable works, all copyrights, and all applications, registrations and renewals in connection therewith; (iv) all trade secrets and confidential information (including ideas, research and development, know-how, formulas, compositions, manufacturing and production processes and techniques, technical data, designs, drawings, specifications, customer and supplier lists, pricing and cost information, and business and marketing plans and proposals); (v) all computer software (including data and related documentation); (vi) all other proprietary rights; and (vii) all copies and tangible embodiments thereof (in whatever form or medium).

"IRS" means the United States Internal Revenue Service.

"Knowledge" or words of similar effect, regardless of case, means, with respect to the Companies, the knowledge of the Active Equityholders. Each of the foregoing Persons will be deemed to have knowledge of a particular fact or other matter if: (A) such Person is actually aware of such fact or matter; (B) a prudent individual could be expected to discover or otherwise become aware of such fact or matter after due inquiry, or (C) a similarly situated Person could reasonably be expected to have knowledge of such fact or matter.

"<u>Law</u>" means any federal, state or local law (including common law), statute, code, ordinance, rule, regulation or other requirement or rule of law of any Governmental Body.

"<u>LeBlanc Family Business Activities</u>" means any ongoing or future architectural, construction, commissary or telephone service activities of any LeBlanc family member or any Person wholly owned and controlled by LeBlanc family members.

"<u>Legal Proceeding</u>" means any judicial, administrative or arbitral actions, suits, proceedings (public or private), claims, hearings, investigations, charges, complaints, demands or governmental proceedings.

"<u>Liability</u>" means any liability, obligation or commitment of any nature whatsoever (whether known or unknown, asserted or unasserted, absolute or contingent, accrued or unaccrued, liquidated or unliquidated, matured or unmatured, or due or to become due, or otherwise), including any liability for Taxes.

"Lien" means any lien (including any Tax lien), pledge, mortgage, deed of trust, security interest, claim, demand, lease, charge, option, warrant, call, right of first refusal, easement, servitude, transfer restriction or any other encumbrance, restriction or limitation whatsoever.

"Loan Agreements" means (i) those certain Tensas Parish, Louisiana Correctional Facility Mortgage Loan Agreements, by and among LCS-Tensas, LLC, Gottlieb & Gottlieb, P.A., as trustee, and each other signatory party thereto or to any duplicate original thereof, each dated March 18, 2014, and (ii) those certain Perry County, Alabama Detention Facility Mortgage Loan Agreements, by and among Perry Detention Services, LLC, Gottlieb & Gottlieb, P.A., as trustee, and each other signatory party thereto or to any duplicate original thereof, each dated March 18, 2014.

"Material Adverse Effect" or "Material Adverse Change" with respect to a Person means any event, occurrence, fact, condition, change or effect that is, or could reasonably be expected to become, individually or in the aggregate, materially adverse to the business, properties, results of operations or condition (financial or otherwise) of such Person or to the ability of such Person to consummate timely the transactions contemplated hereby other than changes in the following: (i) general market, economic or political conditions; (ii) GAAP or statutory accounting principles; and (iii) acts of terrorism or war (whether or not declared), except, in each case, to the extent such changes cause a disproportionate and negative effect on or change to such Person as compared to the industry in which such Person operate as a whole.

"Net Working Capital" means the current assets of the Companies that are Purchased Assets, on a consolidated basis, of the type and nature set forth on the Balance Sheet and which have a balance thereon as of the Balance Sheet Date less the current liabilities of the Companies that are Assumed Liabilities, on a consolidated basis (excluding any Cash (including Inmate Cash and Petty Cash), property and equipment, employee benefit plan and tax assets, goodwill and other intangible assets) and shall be calculated in accordance with GAAP.

"Neutral Accountant" means Deloitte LLP or its Affiliate (or if such firm shall decline or is unable to act, or has a conflict of interest with Purchaser or any Seller Party, or any of their respective Affiliates, another nationally recognized accounting firm mutually acceptable to Purchaser and the Companies).

"Novated Contracts" means that certain Contract No. HSBP1012C00101 by and between LCS and the Department of Homeland Security – Customs & Border Protection, dated September 14, 2012, and that certain Contract No. HSBP1014P00632 by and between LCS and the Department of Homeland Security – Customs & Border Protection, dated September 15, 2014.

"Order" means any order, injunction, judgment, decree, ruling, writ, assessment or arbitration award.

"<u>Permit</u>" means any approval, consent, license, certificate, accreditation, permit, waiver, or other authorization issued, granted, given, or otherwise made available by or under the authority of any Governmental Body or pursuant to Law.

"<u>Permitted Liens</u>" means (i) liens for real estate Taxes not yet due and payable or being contested in good faith by appropriate procedures as disclosed herein and for which there are adequate accruals or reserves on the Balance Sheet, (ii) liens arising under equipment leases with third parties set forth in <u>Section 2.11(a)</u> of the Disclosure Schedule, (iii) such Liens, covenants, conditions, easements and exceptions to title as Purchaser may expressly agree to in writing, and (iv) such other Liens as may be deemed to be Permitted Liens pursuant to <u>Section 4.15</u>.

"PBGC" means the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation or any successor agency.

"Person" means any individual, corporation, partnership, firm, joint venture, association, joint-stock company, trust, unincorporated organization, Governmental Body or other entity.

"Release" means any actual or threatened release, spill, emission, leaking, pumping, injection, deposit, disposal, discharge, dispersal, migration or leaching into the indoor or outdoor environment, or into or out of any property.

"Redemption Amount" means, with respect to the 2014 Bonds, the amount necessary to provide for payment of the 2014 Bonds and all other amounts payable with respect to the 2014 Bonds so as to satisfy the requirements to discharge the Indenture.

"Securities Act" means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

"Seller Transaction Expenses" means any and all (i) legal, accounting, consulting, investment advisory, brokers and other fees, (ii) fees or other amounts payable to any Venture Party, or any former employee, director or officer of any Company, and (iii) costs and expenses of any Company, in each case relating to the transaction contemplated hereby.

"Specified Affiliated Contracts" means the following Contracts: (A) that certain Commissary Service Agreement by and between LCS Corrections Services, Inc. and Premier Management Enterprises, L.L.C., dated April 1, 2007, (B) that certain Commissary Service Agreement by and between LCS Corrections Services, Inc. and Brothers Commissary Services, L.L.C., dated April 1, 2008, and (C) that certain Inmate Pay Telephone Service Agreement by and between LCS Corrections Services, Inc. and American Phone Systems, LLC, dated September 1, 2010.

"Target Net Working Capital" means \$**.

"Tax" or "Taxes" shall mean means any federal, state, provincial, local or foreign income, alternative minimum, accumulated earnings, personal holding company, franchise, capital stock, net worth, capital, profits, windfall profits, gross receipts, value added, sales, use, goods and services, excise, customs duties, transfer, conveyance, mortgage, registration, stamp, documentary, recording, premium, severance, environmental (including taxes under Section 59A of the Code or any analogous or similar provision of any state, local or foreign Law or regulation), real property, personal property, ad valorem, intangibles, unclaimed property, rent, occupancy, license, occupational, employment, unemployment insurance, social security, disability, workers' compensation, payroll, health care, withholding, estimated or other similar tax, duty or other governmental charge or assessment or deficiencies thereof, and including any interest, penalties or additions to tax attributable to the foregoing.

"<u>Tax Return</u>" means any return, report, declaration, form, claim for refund or information return or statement relating to Taxes, including any schedule or attachment thereto, and including any amendment thereof.

^{**} Confidential terms omitted and provided separately to the Securities and Exchange Commission.

"Title Company" means First American Title Insurance Company.

"<u>Transaction Documents</u>" means, with respect to any Person, this Agreement and the Exhibits hereto, together with any other agreements, instruments, certificates and documents executed by such Person in connection herewith or therewith or in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby.

"Treasury Regulations" means the regulations promulgated under the Code, including temporary and proposed regulations.

"WARN" means the Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act, as amended.

Section 8.2 Expenses. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, each of the Parties shall bear its own fees, costs and expenses (including legal, accounting, consulting and investment advisory fees and expenses) incurred in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any and all (i) costs, fees, charges and Taxes incurred in connection with any item set forth in Section 5.1(g), other than any endorsements requested by Purchaser pursuant to Section 5.1(g)(xiv), shall be paid by the Companies, and (ii) transfer, documentary, sales, use, stamp, registration and other such Taxes, and all conveyance fees, recording charges and other fees and charges (including any penalties and interest) otherwise incurred in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the Transaction Documents shall be paid by the Companies. Notwithstanding the foregoing, all costs, fees and expenses incurred by the Companies in connection with the defeasance and redemption of the 2014 Bonds described in Section 4.1(b) shall be borne by the Purchaser, including, but not limited to, all fees and expenses of the 2014 Bond Trustee (including, the fees of the accountant selected by the trustee), Bond Counsel, and the Issuer, including (as part of the payment of the Indebtedness for Borrowed Money) all fees payable to the Issuer on defeasance as a result thereof, as set forth in the Indenture.

Section 8.3 Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Venue. This Agreement, including its formation, performance or enforcement, and the Parties' relationship in connection therewith, together with any related claims whether sounding in contract, tort or otherwise, shall be governed by, construed and enforced in all respects in accordance with the Laws of the State of Delaware, without regard to the conflict of Laws rules thereof. Any United States District Court within the Southern District of Florida or any state courts located within the State of Florida, County of Palm Beach, shall have exclusive jurisdiction over any and all disputes between the parties hereto (and the parties agree not to commence any action, suit or proceeding relating thereto except in such courts), whether in Law or equity, arising out of or relating to this Agreement and the agreements, instruments and documents contemplated hereby and the Parties consent to and agree to submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of such courts. Each of the Parties hereby waives and agrees not to assert in any such dispute, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable Law, any claim that (i) such Party is not personally subject to the jurisdiction of such courts, (ii) such Party and such Party's property are immune from any legal process issued by such courts or (iii) any litigation or other proceeding commenced in such courts is brought in an inconvenient forum. The Parties hereby agree that mailing of process or other papers in connection with any such action or proceeding in the manner provided in Section 8.6, or in such other manner as may be permitted by Law, shall be valid and sufficient service thereof and hereby waive any objections to service accomplished in the manner herein provided.

Section 8.4 Entire Agreement; Amendments and Waivers. This Agreement (including the schedules and exhibits hereto) represents the entire understanding and agreement between the Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior agreements and understandings, both oral and written, between the Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof, including that certain Non-Binding Indication of Interest, executed by GEO, dated April 15, 2014, that certain Non-Binding Indication of Interest, executed by GEO, dated July 25, 2014, and that certain Non-Binding Indication of Interest, executed by GEO, dated January 8, 2015. This Agreement can be amended, supplemented or changed, and any provision hereof can be waived, only by written instrument making specific reference to this Agreement signed by Purchaser, in the case of an amendment, supplement, modification or waiver sought to be enforced against Purchaser, or the Companies, in the case of an amendment, supplement, modification or waiver sought to be enforced against the Seller Parties. The waiver by any Party of a breach of any provision of this Agreement shall not operate or be construed as a further or continuing waiver of such breach or as a waiver of any other or subsequent breach. No failure on the part of any Party to exercise, and no delay in exercising, any right, power or remedy hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of such right, power or remedy by such Party preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power or remedy. All remedies hereunder are cumulative and are not exclusive of any other remedies provided by Law.

Section 8.5 Section Headings, The section headings of this Agreement are for reference purposes only and are to be given no effect in the construction or interpretation of this Agreement.

Section 8.6 Notices. All notices and other communications given or made pursuant to this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed effectively given upon the earlier of actual receipt, or (a) personal delivery to the party to be notified, (b) when sent, if sent by electronic mail or facsimile during normal business hours of the recipient, and if not sent during normal business hours, then on the recipient's next Business Day, (c) five (5) days after having been sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, or (d) one (1) Business Day after deposit with a nationally recognized overnight courier, freight prepaid, specifying next business day delivery, with written verification of receipt. All communications shall be sent to the respective Parties at their address as set forth below (or to such e-mail address, facsimile number or address as a Party may have specified by notice given to the other Party pursuant to this provision):

If to a Seller Party (or all or any of the Seller Parties) or to Seller Parties' Representative, to:

Jerry Gottlieb and Richard Gottlieb c/o Gottlieb & Gottlieb, P.A. 2475 Enterprise Road Clearwater, Florida 33763 Attention:

Mr. Jerry Gottlieb

Mr. Richard Gottlieb

Facsimile: (727) 791–8090 Email: jerry@gottlaw.com richard@gottlaw.com With a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Shutts & Bowen LLP 4301 W. Boy Scout Boulevard, Suite 300 Tampa, Florida 33607 Attention: R. Alan Higbee Faccimile: (813) 229–8001

Facsimile: (813) 229–8901 Email: AHigbee@shutts.com

If to Purchaser, to:

Brian Evans One Park Place, Suite 700 621 Northwest 53rd Street Boca Raton, Florida 33487 Cc: Legal Department Facsimile: (561) 999-7647

Email: bevans@geogroup.com

With a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Akerman LLP One Southeast Third Avenue Miami, Florida 33131 Attention: Scott A. Wasserman

Facsimile: (305) 374-5095

Email: scott.wasserman@akerman.com

Section 8.7 <u>Severability</u>. If any provision of this Agreement is invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the balance of this Agreement shall remain in effect. Upon such determination that any term or other provision is invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the Parties shall negotiate in good faith to modify this Agreement so as to effect the original intent of the Parties as closely as possible in a mutually acceptable manner in order that the transactions contemplated hereby be consummated as originally contemplated to the greatest extent possible.

Section 8.8 <u>Binding Effect; Assignment; Third-Party Beneficiaries</u>. This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the Parties and their respective successors and permitted assigns; provided, however, that no Party may assign its rights and/or obligations hereunder without the consent of the other Parties. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Purchaser may assign its rights and obligations pursuant to this Agreement, in whole or in part, to any

Affiliate of Purchaser, or in connection with any disposition or transfer of all or any portion of Purchaser or any Company or their respective businesses in any form of transaction without the consent of any of the other Parties. In addition, Purchaser may assign any or all of its rights pursuant to this Agreement to any lender to Purchaser or any Company as collateral security without the consent of any of the other Parties. Except as provided in <u>ARTICLE VI</u> with respect to Persons entitled to indemnification thereunder, nothing in this Agreement shall create or be deemed to create any third party beneficiary rights in any Person.

Section 8.9 <u>Counterparts</u>. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original but all of which together will constitute one and the same instrument. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page to this Agreement by facsimile, portable document format or other electronic means shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart to this Agreement.

Section 8.10 <u>Remedies Cumulative</u>. Except as otherwise provided herein, no remedy herein conferred upon a Party hereto is intended to be exclusive of any other remedy. No single or partial exercise by a Party hereto of any right, power or remedy hereunder shall preclude any other or further exercise thereof. Purchaser or any Affiliate of Purchaser may, at Purchaser's election, set-off against any amounts due to any Seller Party or any of their respective Affiliates, any Losses or other amounts for which such Seller Party (or any Affiliate thereof) may be responsible to pay to Purchaser or any of its Affiliates.

Section 8.11 Exhibits and Schedules. The exhibits and schedules referred to herein are attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference. The disclosure schedule delivered by the Companies to Purchaser in connection with the execution of this Agreement (the "Disclosure Schedule") shall be arranged to correspond to the specific sections and subsections of this Agreement. Any information disclosed in one Section of the Disclosure Schedule shall be deemed to be disclosed in all other Sections of the Disclosure Schedule where (i) an express reference thereto is made or (ii) the information on such disclosure is reasonably apparent on its face, except that no such disclosure or deemed cross reference under this clause (ii) shall be sufficient for purposes of disclosing any Material Adverse Effect. Nothing in the Disclosure Schedule will be deemed adequate to disclose an exception to a representation or warranty made herein, unless the Disclosure Schedule identifies the exception with particularity and describes the relevant facts in detail. The Parties hereto intend that each representation, warranty and covenant contained herein will have independent significance. If any Party hereto has breached any representation, warranty, or covenant contained herein in any respect, the fact that there exists another representation, warranty, or covenant relating to the same subject matter (regardless of the relative levels of specificity) which the Party has not breached will not detract from or mitigate the fact that the Party is in breach of the first representation, warranty or covenant.

Section 8.12 <u>Interpretation</u>. When a reference is made in this Agreement to an article, section, paragraph, clause, schedule or exhibit, such reference shall be deemed to be to this Agreement unless otherwise indicated. The text of all schedules is incorporated herein by reference. Whenever the words "include," "includes" or "including" are used in this Agreement, they shall be deemed to be followed by the words "without limitation." As used herein, words in the singular will be held to include the plural and vice versa (unless the context otherwise

requires), words of one gender shall be held to include the other gender (or the neuter) as the context requires, and the terms "hereof", "herein", and "herewith" and words of similar import will, unless otherwise stated, be construed to refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision of this Agreement.

Section 8.13 <u>Arm's Length Negotiations</u>. Each Party herein expressly represents and warrants to all other Parties hereto that (a) said Party has had the opportunity to seek and has obtained the advice of its own legal, tax and business advisors before executing this Agreement; and (b) this Agreement is the result of arm's length negotiations conducted by and among the Parties and their respective counsel.

Section 8.14 <u>Construction</u>. The Parties agree and acknowledge that they have jointly participated in the negotiation and drafting of this Agreement. In the event of an ambiguity or question of intent or interpretation arises, this Agreement shall be construed as if drafted jointly by the Parties and no presumptions or burdens of proof shall arise favoring any Party by virtue of the authorship of any of the provisions of this Agreement. Any reference to any federal, state or local statute or Law shall be deemed also to refer to all rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, unless the context requires otherwise.

Section 8.15 <u>Specific Performance</u>. The Parties agree that irreparable damage would occur if any provision of this Agreement were not performed by the Parties in accordance with the specific terms hereof or were otherwise breached by either Party. It is accordingly agreed that each Party shall be entitled, without posting a bond or similar indemnity, to an injunction or other equitable relief to prevent breaches of this Agreement or to enforce specifically the performance of the terms. Each Party agrees that it will not oppose the granting of an injunction, specific performance and other equitable relief when expressly available pursuant to the terms of this Agreement on the basis that a Party has an adequate remedy at law or an award of specific performance is not an appropriate remedy for any reason at law or equity.

Section 8.16 <u>Waiver of Jury Trial</u>. EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ANY AND ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT, ANY OTHER TRANSACTION DOCUMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY OR THEREBY.

Section 8.17 <u>Time of Essence</u>. Except as otherwise expressly set forth herein, with regard to all dates and time periods set forth or referred to in this Agreement, time is of the essence.

Section 8.18 Appointment of the Representative.

(a) <u>Irrevocable Power of Attorney</u>. Each Seller Party irrevocably constitutes and appoints Jerry Gottlieb and Richard Gottlieb, or either of them, as the Seller Parties' Representative, with full and unqualified power to delegate to one or more Persons the authority granted to it hereunder, to act as such Person's true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, with full power of substitution, and authorizes the Seller Parties' Representative acting for such Person and in such Person's name, place and stead, in any and all capacities to do and perform

every act and thing required or permitted to be done in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents, as fully to all intents and purposes as such Person might or could do in person, including:

- (i) to determine the time and place of Closing, to determine whether the conditions to effect the Closing set forth in <u>Section 5.2</u> have been satisfied (or to waive such conditions), and to terminate (or not to exercise the right to terminate) this Agreement as provided in <u>Section 7.1</u>;
- (ii) to take any and all action on behalf of such Seller Parties from time to time as the Seller Parties' Representative may deem necessary or desirable to fulfill the interests and purposes of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents and to engage agents and representatives (including accountants and legal counsel) to assist in connection therewith;
 - (iii) to deliver all notices required to be delivered by such Seller Parties or any of them;
 - (iv) to receive all notices required to be delivered to such Seller Parties or any of them;
- (v) to negotiate, execute and deliver any amendments to and terminations of this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents and to prepare any modification to the Disclosure Schedule;
- (vi) to give such orders and instructions as the Seller Parties' Representative in its sole discretion shall determine with respect to this Agreement and the other Transaction Documents and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby;
- (vii) to take all actions necessary to handle and resolve claims by or against Purchaser for indemnification by such Seller Parties under this Agreement;
- (viii) to take all actions necessary to handle and resolve any adjustment to the Transaction Consideration pursuant to Sections 1.4(a) and 1.5;
- (ix) to retain and to pay legal counsel and other professionals in connection with any and all matters referred to herein or relating hereto or any other Transaction Documents (which counsel or other professionals may, but need not, be counsel or other professionals engaged by any Company);
- (x) to make, acknowledge, verify and file on behalf of any such Seller Parties applications, consents to service of process and such other documents, undertakings or reports as may be required by Law as determined by the Seller Parties' Representative in its sole discretion after consultation with counsel; and
- (xi) to make, exchange, acknowledge, deliver, amend and terminate all such other Contracts, powers of attorney, orders, receipts, notices, requests, instructions, certificates, letters and other writings, and in general to do all things and to take all

actions, that the Seller Parties' Representative in its sole discretion may consider necessary or proper in connection with or to carry out the aforesaid, as fully as could such Seller Parties if personally present and acting.

Each of such Seller Parties hereby irrevocably grants unto said attorney-in-fact and agent full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing necessary or desirable to be done in connection with the matters described above, as fully to all intents and purposes as the undersigned might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that the Seller Parties' Representative may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof. Each of such Seller Parties further agrees not to take any action inconsistent with the terms of this Section 8.18 or with the actions (or decisions not to act) of the Seller Parties' Representative hereunder, and in any case shall not take any action or other position under this Agreement without the consent of the Seller Parties' Representative. To the extent of any inconsistency between the actions (or decisions not to act) of the Seller Parties' Representative and of any such Seller Party hereunder, the actions (or decisions not to act) of the Seller Parties' Representative shall control. EACH SUCH SELLER PARTY ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT IS HIS, HER, OR ITS EXPRESS INTENTION TO HEREBY GRANT A DURABLE POWER OF ATTORNEY UNTO THE SELLER PARTIES' REPRESENTATIVE AND THAT THIS DURABLE POWER OF ATTORNEY IS NOT AFFECTED BY SUBSEQUENT INCAPACITY OF SUCH SELLER PARTY. Each of such Seller Parties further acknowledges and agrees that upon execution of this Agreement, any delivery by the Seller Parties' Representative of any waiver, amendment, agreement, opinion, certificate or other documents executed by the Seller Parties' Representative under this Agreement shall be binding upon all of the Seller Parties.

(b) <u>Actions of the Representative</u>. Each Seller Party agrees that Purchaser shall be entitled to rely on any action taken by the Seller Parties' Representative, on behalf of any Seller Party pursuant to <u>Section 8.18(a)</u> (each, an "<u>Authorized Action</u>"), and that each Authorized Action shall be binding on each such Seller Party as fully as if such Person had taken such Authorized Action. No Seller Party shall bring, and each Seller Party hereby waives any right to bring, any Legal Proceeding against Purchaser as a result of any actions or inactions of the Seller Parties' Representative.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Asset Purchase Agreement has been executed by or on behalf of each of the Parties as of the day first written above. **PURCHASER:** THE GEO GROUP, INC. By: /s/ George Zoley Name: George C. Zoley Title: Chairman & CEO CORRECTIONAL PROPERTIES, LLC /s/ George Zoley Name: George C. Zoley Title: C.E.O. Signed, Sealed and Delivered in the Presence of: **COMPANIES:** Francine Leier LCS CORRECTIONS SERVICES, INC., Print Name of Witness a Louisiana corporation Karen Goode Print Name of Witness By: /s/ Jerry Gottlieb Jerry Gottlieb Chairman Francine Leirer LCS - HIDALGO, LLC, Print Name of Witness a Nevada limited liability company Karen Goode By: LCS Corrections Services, Inc., Manager Print Name of Witness By: /s/ Jerry Gottlieb

[Signature Page to Asset Purchase Agreement]

Jerry Gottlieb Chairman

Francine Leirer	LCS – CALDWELL, LLC,
Print Name of Witness	a Nevada limited liability company
Karen Goode	By: LCS Corrections Services, Inc., Manager
Print Name of Witness	
	By: /s/ Jerry Gottlieb
	Jerry Gottlieb Chairman
Francine Leirer	LCS – BASILE, LLC,
Print Name of Witness	a Nevada limited liability company
Karen Goode	By: LCS Corrections Services, Inc., Manager
Print Name of Witness	
	By: /s/ Jerry Gottlieb
	Jerry Gottlieb Chairman
Francine Leirer	LCS – PINE PRAIRIE, LLC,
Print Name of Witness	a Nevada limited liability company
Karen Goode	By: LCS Corrections Services, Inc., Manager
Print Name of Witness	
	By: /s/ Jerry Gottlieb
	Jerry Gottlieb Chairman
Francine Leirer	LCS – BROOKS, LLC,
Print Name of Witness	a Nevada limited liability company
Karen Goode	By: LCS Corrections Services, Inc., Manager
Print Name of Witness	To the control of the
	By: /s/ Jerry Gottlieb
	Jerry Gottlieb Chairman
	- Charles

Francine Leirer	LCS – NUECES, LLC,
Print Name of Witness	a Nevada limited liability company
Karen Goode	By: LCS Corrections Services, Inc., Manager
Print Name of Witness	
	By: /s/ Jerry Gottlieb
	Jerry Gottlieb
	Chairman
Francine Leirer	LCS – TENSAS, LLC,
Print Name of Witness	a Nevada limited liability company
Karen Goode	By: LCS Corrections Services, Inc., Manager
Print Name of Witness	
	By: /s/ Jerry Gottlieb
	Jerry Gottlieb
	Chairman
Francine Leirer	PERRY DETENTION SERVICES, LLC,
Print Name of Witness	a Nevada limited liability company
Karen Goode	By: LCS Corrections Services, Inc., Manager
Print Name of Witness	
	By: /s/ Jerry Gottlieb
	Jerry Gottlieb
	Chairman

Signed, Sealed and Delivered in the Presence of:	
Francine Leirer	/s/ Jerry Gottlieb
Print Name of Witness	Jerry Gottlieb
Karen Goode	
Print Name of Witness	
Francine Leirer	/s/ Richard Gottlieb
Print Name of Witness	Richard Gottlieb
Karen Goode	
Print Name of Witness	
Francine Leirer	/s/ Deborah Gottlieb
Print Name of Witness	Deborah Gottlieb
Karen Goode	<u>_</u>
Print Name of Witness	
Francine Leirer	/s/ Wanda Gottlieb
Print Name of Witness	Wanda Gottlieb
Karen Goode	_
Print Name of Witness	
Francine Leirer	/s/ Michael W. LeBlanc
Print Name of Witness	Michael W. LeBlanc
Karen Goode	<u>_</u>
Print Name of Witness	

COMPANY EQUITYHOLDERS

Dianne Roger	/s/ Jacqueline F. LeBlanc
Print Name of Witness	Jacqueline LeBlanc
	(successor to Jaco LeBlanc)
Theresa M. LeBlanc	
Print Name of Witness	
Francine Leirer	JACQUELINE E. EVANS TRUST
Print Name of Witness	
	By: /s/ Jacqueline E. Evans
	Jacqueline E. Evans, Trustee
Karen Goode	<u>_</u>
Print Name of Witness	
Francine Leirer	ALBERT ROHRBAUGH TRUST
Print Name of Witness	_
	By: /s/ Robert Rohrbaugh
Karen Goode	Robert Rohrbaugh, Trustee
Print Name of Witness	
Francine Leirer	
Print Name of Witness	PATRICK LEBLANC TRUST FOR PAT LEBLANC JR.
Karen Goode	
Print Name of Witness	By: /s/ Michael W. LeBlanc
	Michael W. LeBlanc, Trustee
Francine Leirer	
Print Name of Witness	PATRICK LEBLANC TRUST FOR LIEE' LEBLANC
Karen Goode	
Print Name of Witness	By: /s/ Michael W. LeBlanc
	Michael W. LeBlanc, Trustee

REPRESENTATIVE

By: /s/ Jerry Gottlieb

Jerry Gottlieb, as Seller Parties' Representative

By: /s/ Richard Gottlieb

Richard Gottlieb, as Seller Parties' Representative

THE GEO GROUP, INC.

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

I, George C. Zoley, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of The GEO Group, Inc.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 - (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 - (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 - (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 - (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 - (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 - (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 6, 2015 /s/ George C. Zoley

George C. Zoley Chief Executive Officer

THE GEO GROUP, INC.

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

I, Brian R. Evans, certify that:

- 1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of The GEO Group, Inc.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 - (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 - (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 - (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 - (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 - (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 - (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 6, 2015 /s/ Brian R. Evans

Brian R. Evans Chief Financial Officer

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the quarterly report on Form 10-Q of The GEO Group, Inc. (the "Company") for the period ended March 31, 2015 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, George C. Zoley, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that:

- (1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
- (2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ George C. Zoley

George C. Zoley Chief Executive Officer

Date: May 6, 2015

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the quarterly report on Form 10-Q of The GEO Group, Inc. (the "Company") for the period ended March 31, 2015 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Brian R. Evans, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 that:

- (1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
- (2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Brian R. Evans

Brian R. Evans Chief Financial Officer

Date: May 6, 2015